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harnessing energy



At TrustPower, the 2010/11 year has again seen us 
harnessing the power of nature to create relationships  

across the communities and businesses of New Zealand. 
These relationships help to strengthen lifestyles, open up opportunity,  

and drive productivity. In so doing, they support our business success and  
reinforce our commitment to shareholders. In this year’s annual report,  

we are delighted to share, and applaud, some of the relationships  
that make everything possible — year after year.
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  RETAIL CUSTOMERS  TRUSTPOWER GENERATION ASSETS

HIGHLIGHTS

2011
STRATEGIC FOCUS

2012
Earnings before interest,  

tax, depreciation, amortisation  
and fair value movements of  

financial instruments was  
$274.4 million.

Underlying
earnings after tax of  

$116.5 million.

Completion of 36MW Stage 1 
Mahinerangi Wind Project ahead  

of schedule and under budget.

Completion of Highbank pumping 
project on schedule. Fifth pump  
added in response to increased 

demand from irrigators.

Awarded energy Retailer  
of the Year at the 2010 Deloitte  

Energy Excellence Awards.

Replacement of customer  
information system.

Protect and grow TrustPower’s 
premium retail brand.

Progress hydro scheme enhancement 
opportunities to provide additional 

peaking capacity for the Group’s 
generation portfolio.

Progress Canterbury  
hydro / irrigation opportunities.

Progress wind development 
opportunities in Australia including 

Stage II expansion of the  
snowtown Wind Farm.

Complete Bream Bay 9MW  
diesel plant to enhance north Island 

peaking generation capacity.
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  RETAIL CUSTOMERS  TRUSTPOWER GENERATION ASSETS

These assets produce an average of around 
2,750GWh per year including the recently 
completed 36MW first stage of the 
Mahinerangi Wind Farm in Otago. Our first 
irrigation asset, a pumping facility using 
water from our Highbank hydro generation 
scheme, was constructed during the year. 
We supply electricity to around 221,000 

customers and provide 35,000 
telecommunications services to 23,000 
customers throughout New Zealand.  
We have 424 full time equivalent employees 
working throughout New Zealand and three 
employees in Adelaide. Around 65% of  
New Zealand employees are based in our 
Tauranga head office.

We own 621MW of hydro and wind generation 
spread throughout New Zealand as well as the 
99MW Snowtown Wind Farm in South Australia. 

WHO WE ARE
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BRUCe HARKeR

CHAIRMAN
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Financial Performance
TrustPower’s consolidated profit after tax 
was $112.4 million for the year ended  
31 March 2011. This represents a decrease 
of 6 per cent compared with $119.4 million 
for the same period last year. Impacting on 
the prior year result was fair value gains 
on financial instruments of $12.5 million 
resulting from rising long term interest rates 
that favourably impacted the value of the 
Group’s interest rate hedging portfolio.

Underlying earnings after tax excluding 
fair value movements on financial 
instruments and impairment charges 
was $116.5 million compared with 
$116.8 million in the previous year. 

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, 
amortisation, fair value movements of 
financial instruments and asset impairments 
(EBITDAF) were $274.4 million, slightly 
above the $273.9 million achieved in the 
previous year. Taking into account the very 
competitive retail environment during the 
year, this is considered to be a solid result 
and in line with guidance provided to the 
market following the interim announcement.

Operating revenue increased 1 per cent 
from $759.3 million in the previous year 
to $766.2 million. Operating expenses 
including energy and line costs increased 
in line with revenues.

Total electricity volume sold by the 
Company in New Zealand was 4,033GWh, 
compared with 4,103GWh in the year  
to 31 March 2010. Customer numbers 
decreased by 4,000 from 225,000 as  
at 31 March 2010 to 221,000 as at  
31 March 2011. While sales volume to 
mass market customers fell by 180GWh 
(9 per cent) due to lower customer 
numbers and the impact of a mild winter 
in 2010, the Company was able to increase 
time of use sales volume by 110GWh  
(5 per cent). Total New Zealand electricity 
demand was slightly down over the 2011 
financial year following a mild winter in 
2010, as mentioned, and the impact of 
the Canterbury earthquakes.

For most of the financial year wholesale 
electricity prices remained subdued due 
to above average levels of South Island 

hydro storage. However, a number of 
short term wholesale price increases 
occurred during the last four months of 
the financial year when thermal generation 
was priced at very high levels following 
capacity constraints in the market. 
TrustPower’s sound risk management 
practices resulted in the Company not 
being materially impacted by these events.

The Group’s New Zealand generation 
production of 2,286GWh was up 269GWh 
(13 per cent) on the previous year and 
slightly above the expected long term 
average. Total hydro production was up 
301GWh (21 per cent) on the previous 
year and 6 per cent above the expected 
long term average due to above average 
inflows over the course of the year into both 
North and South Island catchments. Wind 
production was down 32GWh (5 per cent) 
on the previous year and down 11 per cent 
on the expected long term average.

Wind production from the Snowtown 
Wind Farm in South Australia was 328GWh 
which was 45GWh (12 per cent) lower 
than the previous year and 16 per cent 
lower than the expected long term average.

In both Australia and New Zealand 
review of available wind data does not 
indicate that the low wind conditions 
reflect a long term reduction in the 
resource. Underlying return on average 
equity, adjusted for fair value movements 
on financial instruments and impairment 
charges, was 8.2 per cent (compared to 
8.1 per cent in the previous year). 

Group operating cash flow was 
$224.0 million for the 2011 financial  
year versus $234.1 million in the 2010 
financial year.

Financial Position
TrustPower’s balance sheet as at  
31 March 2011 remains solid, with 
shareholders’ funds of $1,418 million. 

Debt (including subordinated bonds) 
to debt plus equity increased to 36.3 per 
cent from 33.9 per cent at prior year end, 
as a result of increased borrowing to fund 
the construction of the Mahinerangi Wind 
Farm and Highbank pumping projects. 

TrustPower continues to maintain 
conservative levels of committed credit 
facilities. Including subordinated bonds, the 
Company currently has NZD equivalent 
of 1.21 billion of committed debt funding 
in place. As at 31 March 2011 Group net 
debt was $797.0 million. TrustPower has 
recently accepted offers to refinance its 
$225 million of bank facilities due to mature 
in July 2011. These facilities will be increased 
to $250 million and extended to July 2014. 

Capital Structure
During the financial year TrustPower 
successfully raised $75 million of seven 
year senior bonds from retail investors and 
arranged a $50 million amortising export 
credit agency guaranteed debt facility for 
the Mahinerangi Wind Farm. These 
arrangements have improved the diversity 
of long term funding for the Group.

Purchases of TrustPower’s shares 
have continued under the Company’s 
Share Buyback Programme which was 
originally approved at the Annual 
Meeting in July 2008. The approval 
allows the Company to purchase up to  
5 million shares over a 3 year period.  
As at 2 May 2011, 1,103,417 shares 
have been purchased at an average cost 
of $7.12. This represents just under 5 per 
cent of total TrustPower shares traded 
over the period and the average 
purchase price compares to a volume 
weighted average price of $7.35 for total 
shares traded during the period. 

Generation Development and  
Capital Expenditure
The construction of the 36MW first stage 
of the Mahinerangi Wind Farm adjacent to 
the Waipori Hydro Generation Scheme 
was completed during the year ahead of 
schedule and under budget. The long 
term expected annual output from this 
initial stage of the Wind Farm is forecast 
to be 105GWh and has cost $70.4 million, 
including capitalised interest. 

Final commissioning and takeover of 
the Wind Farm is scheduled to be 
completed during May 2011.

DIRECTORS' REPORT
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The output from the Wind Farm is to 
be embedded in the local Aurora network 
and retailed locally. This will enable HVDC 
costs to be avoided and underpins the 
project’s expected return on investment.

TrustPower has recognised for some 
time the opportunity for the Coleridge 
Hydro Scheme to play an important part 
in delivering reliable irrigation capacity 
along the Rakaia River Plains in Canterbury. 
TrustPower is working with landowners, 
as well as central and local government, 
to develop solutions to increase irrigation 
reliability in the region.

As a first stage in a wider irrigation 
development strategy, TrustPower has 
completed the development of a pumping 
facility to supply water from the Rakaia 
River to a joint venture between Barhill 
Chertsey Irrigation Limited and Electricity 
Ashburton, via the Company’s Highbank 
hydro generation scheme. This first stage 
has cost around $15 million and will 
enable reliable irrigation of approximately 
8,000-10,000 hectares of land. Further 
stages of irrigation development will require 
changes to the way in which the Lake 
Coleridge storage and the existing hydro 
generation scheme is operated. To achieve 
this outcome the existing water conservation 
order for the Rakaia River will require some 
minor variations. Consultation on this 
process is currently underway.

TrustPower expects that electricity prices 
will become more volatile over time and 
consequently generation capacity which 
is able to meet peak demand will become 
more valuable. Many of TrustPower’s hydro 
generation assets have peaking capacity 
and a detailed review has been undertaken 
to identify potential enhancement 
opportunities that can increase peaking 
capacity in the short to medium term.

The Company has recently announced 
the development of a 9MW diesel 
generation facility near Marsden Point in 
Northland. This is one of a number of 
initiatives that the Company is looking to 
take to protect itself from high price spikes 
that are occurring more frequently in the 
Upper North Island. The facility will be 
embedded in the North Power distribution 
network and is expected to be operational 
by July 2011.

Good progress has been made on a 
range of growth options in New Zealand 
and Australia.

TrustPower currently has consents for 
around 400MW of Wind Farm development 
and 120MW of hydro development in the 
South Island.

The Company is advancing geotechnical 
and civil design studies for the Arnold 
hydro project on the West Coast with a view 
to completing these in 2011. In Australia, 
the TrustPower Group has planning 
consent for up to another 250MW of 
capacity at the Snowtown Wind Farm. 
TrustPower is progressing transmission 
studies, tendering for the supply and 
erection of turbines and exploring options 
for electricity off take agreements. 
Forecast capital expenditure, excluding 
major capital projects in the 2012 financial 
year is expected to be in the range of 
$60-75 million. This includes generation 
expenditure undertaken as part of the 
Company’s 10 year asset management 
plan, completion of pumping facilities 
adjacent to the Company’s Highbank 
hydro scheme in Canterbury, generation 
enhancement projects, the 9MW diesel 
peaker and the implementation of a new 
customer information system.

Generation feasibility investigation costs 
to be expensed in the 2012 financial year 
are projected to be around $7 million, 
demonstrating the continuing high level 
of commitment to expanding the Group’s 
portfolio of investment options. TrustPower 
is working to ensure that it is in a position 
to progress renewable projects should 
the Company conclude that shareholder 
value is likely to be created. 

Sustainability
TrustPower is firmly committed to 
sustainability principles and progress in 
relation to achieving its sustainability 
goals is provided in this annual report.

TrustPower takes its environmental 
obligations very seriously and has detailed 
systems and focussed resources in place 
to help manage compliance with its ever 
increasing level of consent conditions.

Pleasingly, TrustPower continues to 
report only a very small number of minor 
non-compliance events and none of these 
events have resulted in any significant 
adverse environmental consequences.

TrustPower continues to invest heavily 
in its Community Awards Programme 
which is now run in twenty five regions 
across the country with the aim of 
recognising the outstanding contribution 
volunteers make to their local communities. 

In addition to the Community Awards 
Programme, TrustPower has a portfolio 
of other sponsorship initiatives regionally 
targeted at assisting education, the arts 
and wider communities through support 
of the Elgregoe anti-bullying school show, 

school music festivals, youth 
orchestras, the Bay of Plenty rescue 
helicopter in association with the 
Tauranga Energy Consumer Trust, and 
significant regional events that are of 
benefit to the wider community.

TrustPower, in conjunction with local 
Rotary and Lions Clubs, has established 
the TrustPower Lend a Hand Foundation 
in Dunedin, the West Coast, Central Otago 
and Snowtown in South Australia. The 
Foundation aims to assist small charitable 
organisations and individuals in these 
communities through funding, mentoring 
or through the provision of goods and 
services. TrustPower is reviewing 
opportunities to extend this programme 
to other regions where appropriate, starting 
with Wairoa in the second quarter of 2011.

Regulatory Issues
Legislation to enact the recommendations 
of the Ministerial Review of the Electricity 
Industry was passed by Parliament in 
late 2010 and the Electricity Authority 
was established in October 2010 to 
oversee the governance and operation 
of the New Zealand electricity market.

Some of the recommendations of the 
Ministerial Review including SOE asset 
swaps, a mechanism to manage 
location price risk, expanding the hedge 
market and introducing scarcity pricing, 
deal with complex issues that will require 
time to work through. TrustPower is 
closely following the reform process and 
is ensuring that it is appropriately 
involved so that it is well positioned to 
deal with these changes.

The New Zealand Emissions Trading 
Scheme (“NZETS”) commenced for 
stationary energy from 1 July 2010 meaning 
that thermal generators now face a capped 
cost on carbon emissions through to the 
end of 2012. The NZETS is currently 
being reviewed by the Government.

In Australia the Government continues 
to grapple with the challenge of 
introducing a price on carbon. The 
current proposal is to introduce a carbon 
tax from July 2012 which will transition 
to a full emissions trading scheme over  
a 3-5 year period. 

Directors
In accordance with the Company’s 
constitution, Mr Marko Bogoievski,  
Mr Michael Cooney and Mr Geoff Swier 
will retire at the 2011 Annual Meeting 
and being eligible offer themselves for 
re-election.
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BOARD of DiRectORs

  BRUCe HARKeR    

CHAIRMAN

  sAM KnoWLes    MSC(HONS)

DIRECTOR

  GeoFF sWIeR    MCOM (ECON), MAICD

DIRECTOR

  MARKo BoGoIeVsKI    

DIRECTOR

  RICHARd AItKen    

DIRECTOR

  MICHAeL CooneY    LLB

DIRECTOR

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers has indicated 
its willingness to continue in office.

Dividend
The Directors are pleased to announce  
a final dividend of 20 cents per share, 
partially imputed to 16 cents per share, 
payable 10 June 2011 (record date of 
27 May 2011). This, together with an 
interim dividend of 19 cents per share, 
provides a total payout of 39 cents per 
share for the 2011 financial year 
compared with 38 cents per share for 
the 2010 financial year. 

Outlook
New Zealand hydro storage is currently 
at above average levels for this time of 
year and TrustPower’s hydro storage 
lakes are in a similar position. The current 
New Zealand hydro storage position 
should ensure a comfortable level of 
electricity supply to meet demand over 
the 2011 winter.

TrustPower believes that New Zealand’s 
significant wholesale and retail price rises, 
driven initially by the end of the era of cheap 
gas and more recently to cover costs of 
moving to a renewable generation future, 
will moderate somewhat but price rises 

above inflation are still likely for a period, 
as retail pricing aligns with the increasing 
long run marginal cost of new generation.

While it is too early to make predictions 
about the 2012 financial year, it is worth 
noting that the Company is well positioned 
to meet its customers’ needs and to pursue 
further development of electricity generation 
assets when it is economically justifiable.

BJ Harker - Chairman

BE(HONS), PHD 
(ELEC. ENG), MIPENZ

BCA, CA,  
MBA (HARVARD)

BE(HONS), 
M.ENG.SC. (SyD)
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Financial Performance
As described in the Directors' Report the 
Company delivered a creditable earnings 
performance in 2010/11, despite 
significant periods of low wholesale 
prices and intense retail competition.

The Company’s risk management 
approach and increased hydro inflows  
in the second half of the year allowed 
TrustPower to benefit from higher and 
more volatile prices. Our inherently 
conservative trading approach and 
attention to our risk exposure was 
demonstrated on March 26th 2011 
when prices in the Upper North Island 
spiked to $20,000/MWh.

Our Customers
TrustPower had sales of 4,033GWh to 
electricity customers during the 2011 
financial year, a fall of 70GWh from the 
previous year. TrustPower has also sold 
35,000 telecommunication services 
through the Kinect brand. These numbers 
are pleasing as TrustPower has faced 
significant competition for retail electricity 
customers and has not entered “market 
share” pricing wars.

In the face of significant industry 
churn, with 18.5 per cent of customers 
changing suppliers in the year to March 
2011, TrustPower has run a number of 
successful acquisition campaigns this 
year and trialled our first “bundled” 
product offering in Southland. This 
successful campaign resulted in a gain 
of almost 4,000 customers. 

We expect to launch a number of 
further product enhancements in the 
coming year.

Our customer service team also 
maintained a high level of performance 
with 79 per cent of calls answered 
within 20 seconds.

It is because of our sustained 
success that TrustPower was 
recognised as Energy Retailer of the 
Year at the inaugural Deloitte Energy 
Excellence Awards.

Customer Information  
System Replacement
This year has seen significant progress 
in the process to replace our existing 
Customer Information System.  
Following the decision to re-evaluate  
the system options available to us we 
decided to proceed with the Gentrack 
Velocity solution. We believe that the 
current version of this product can  
meet our original objectives of  
improving efficiency and enhancing 
customer service. 

In order to ensure successful 
implementation we have formed a project 
team consisting of our best internal staff, an 
experienced project delivery consultancy 
and key vendor staff.

We expect implementation of phase 
one to be completed in early 2012 and 
that this will provide a platform for 
further enhancements in subsequent 
phases to deliver on our multiproduct 
retail strategy.

Business Development and Growth
TrustPower recognises the importance 
of a pipeline of investment opportunities. 
Our pipeline was strengthened this year 
by the granting of resource consents for 
both the Arnold and Wairau Hydro 
schemes. Achieving the first new 
significant hydro power station consents 
since the introduction of the Resource 
Management Act is an important 
milestone. There is still considerable 
work to do before the company can 
commit to construction of these hydro 
projects and this work will progress in 
the 2011/12 year.

In Australia we have progressed the 
Snowtown Stage 2 Wind Farm project. 
There remains considerable uncertainty 
about the Australian Government’s policy 
response to climate change. Further 
resolution of the future carbon price and 
renewable energy certificate regime is 
required to complete off take agreements. 
Despite this we regard Snowtown Stage 2 
as one of the best sites in Australia and 
we are in an advanced state of readiness 
when the timing is right.

Last year we described how the TrustPower culture gives us 
the power to make things happen. This year we have been 
delivering on the opportunities we have created with projects 
like the wind farm at Mahinerangi and the irrigation pumping 
scheme at Highbank.

Our people have also been focused on the opportunities that 
changes in the market are bringing. We are excited by the 
momentum we are building in the business.

it is because of our  
sustained success that 

trustPower was recognised  
as energy Retailer of the Year  

at the inaugural Deloitte  
energy excellence Awards.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REPORT
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Moving to Execution
Creating a pipeline of opportunities 
demands an ability to execute when the 
time is right. TrustPower continues to 
invest in projects that add value to our 
portfolio. The 36MW Mahinerangi Wind 
Farm is an excellent example. This project 
was completed this year ahead of schedule 
and under budget. It is already making a 
valuable contribution to our portfolio 
alongside our Waipori and Deep Stream 
hydro power stations. This combination 
provides an excellent platform to generate 
locally and compete for local customers.

TrustPower recognises the potential 
for high priced peak events in the 
electricity market and the importance  
of prudent risk management responses. 
It is this deep understanding of market 
dynamics that led to the identification  
of the opportunity to develop a 9MW 
peaking diesel plant at Marsden Point 
near Whangarei.

The plant, which will consist of 5 x 1.8MW 
units, represents a low cost "cap option" 
when compared with other cap products 
available in the market. We expect the 
plant to be operational in July 2011.

In addition to our generation 
investments we have also progressed 
our multi-use irrigation and generation 
strategy. This year we completed the 
first phase with the installation of 5MW 
of pumping capacity at our Highbank 
power station that will enable water to 
be lifted from the Rakaia River into  
the Rangitata Diversion Race. This 
investment provides greater water 
reliability for the Barrhill Chertsey 
irrigators and is a clear demonstration  
of hydro generation and irrigation 
objectives being achieved through 
commercial solutions.

High Performing Generation Assets
In this increasingly volatile market  
much of TrustPower’s success is due  
to the consistent performance of our 
generation assets.

This year we have started our machines 
24,658 times, this compares with 26,539 

last year. Once again our generation 
team can be proud of their performance, 
with only 59 failed starts.

Last year we reported that despite ten 
years of below average rainfall resulting 
in lower hydro generation production we 
did not believe this indicated a change 
to the long run average.

This year we have seen inflows 
increase with total hydro production 
being 6 per cent above the long term 
average whilst wind production was  
11 per cent below the long term average.

In Australia our Snowtown 1 Wind 
Farm experienced reduced production 
as a result of a sustained period of low 
wind conditions. Review of the available 
wind data does not indicate any long 
term change in the wind resource.

Industry and Market Changes
Following the passage of the Electricity 
Industry Act 2010 the Electricity 
Authority was formed. The Electricity 
Authority replaces the Electricity 
Commission and has a more focused 
role with the statutory objective “to 
promote competition in, reliable supply 
by, and the efficient operation of the 
electricity industry for the long term 
benefit of consumers”.

TrustPower supports the overall objective 
and is an active participant in the working 
groups of the Electricity Authority.

We believe that the work on 
transmission pricing is correctly focusing 
on the charging regime for the HVDC 
(Cook Strait) cable. A charging regime 
that creates a level playing field for North 
and South Island projects will ensure 
that the most economically viable 
projects are developed in New Zealand.

TrustPower also supports the 
introduction of scarcity pricing to ensure 
appropriate price signals for efficient 
investments, however we remain 
concerned that prolonged periods of 
high price in the absence of a cumulative 
price threshold could result in 
unmanageable financial risks with little,  
if any, efficiency benefit.

The development of a liquid hedge 
market through the ASX has progressed 
and TrustPower has participated as both 
a buyer and seller.

The restructure by the Government  
of the SOE physical and virtual asset 
portfolios will be completed by mid year. 
As predicted the result of the changes  
to date is increased competition in the 
South Island. TrustPower has responded 
to this competition with targeted 
acquisition campaigns.

Community and the Environment
Being deeply involved in the communities 
where we have customers and power 
stations is part of the way we do 
business at TrustPower.

As in previous years a highlight  
of the year was the TrustPower 
Community Awards. The 25 regional 
awards winners were showcased at our 
National event and the overall winner 
was the Bay of Islands Vintage Railway 
Trust. This Kawakawa based trust has 
put in over 100,000 volunteer hours and 
$1.6 million of raised funds into restoring 
the vintage railway. This initiative has 
made a positive difference in the  
Far North community.

Another example of our relationships 
in the community was the blessing of the 
Mahinerangi Wind Farm site prior to the 
start of construction. At the blessing  
Te Runanga o Otakou named the Wind 
Farm Puke Kapo Hau, “the hill that 
catches the wind”.

Again it was pleasing to note  
that of the 3,000 resource consent 
conditions we monitor for compliance 
we had only a very small number of 
minor breaches.

creating a pipeline of 
opportunities demands an  

ability to execute when the  
time is right. trustPower 

continues to invest in projects 
that add value to our portfolio.
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Our People Our Future
TrustPower people are passionate about 
the Company and the role they play in 
our success. We are also responsive to 
the needs of our customers and 
communities. This was illustrated by the 
many kind acts and fundraising activities 
that our staff undertook in response to 
the tragedies at the Pike River Coal Mine 
and the Christchurch earthquakes.

TrustPower farewelled Mike Kedian 
this year from the role of Generation 
Division Manager. Mike joined 
TrustPower in 2003 and was a key part 
of the senior team. It was under Mike’s 
leadership that the company created a 
significant development pipeline. We 
wish Mike well in his retirement.

Just as successful organisations  
grow their business profitably, they also 
grow the capability in the business. 
TrustPower is committed to developing 
our people. We have reviewed our 
approach to development this year and 
will be introducing upgraded 
programmes in the coming months.  
This will ensure we continue to have  
the leading team in the industry.

Looking Ahead
TrustPower has demonstrated the 
resilience of our business and tenacity  
of our people over a number of years.  
It is these characteristics that mean we 
can feel confident in our ability to continue 
our success in the years ahead.

TrustPower is well positioned with 
options for growth. Our challenge is to 
execute so that we maximise value for 
shareholders, meet customer expectations 
and empower our staff to excel.

Vince Hawksworth - Chief Executive

trustPower is well positioned with options for growth.  
Our challenge is to execute so that we maximise value  

for shareholders, meet customer expectations  
and empower our staff to excel.

11

TRUSTPOWER 
ANNUAL REPORT 2011



"TrustPower has over 750MW of fully consented renewable 
generation projects in New Zealand and Australia. A key focus for 
myself and my team over the next twelve months will be ensuring 
that we have a very clear understanding of the investment 
potential of each project so that we can have a high level of 
confidence that shareholder value will be added if project 
investment cases are approved by the Board. We are also looking 
for the best ways to finance these investment opportunities."

"The replacement of TrustPower’s Customer Information System 
is a key focus for the Information Technology team. Amongst 
other things, this system supports our billing, call centre and 
electricity market interaction, so getting it right is essential. 
Alongside this, work on refreshing our technology platform will 
continue, ensuring that TrustPower has a reliable, secure IT 
environment for the future."

"Increasing staff engagement, retention and talent development 
continue to be the major focus for 2011/12. As TrustPower’s 
environments internally and externally continue to change, we 
will be focussing on reviewing our critical success factors for the 
future. As always, we remain focused on the health, safety and 
wellbeing of all our people."

“My focus is on the strategies to deliver value for TrustPower’s 
shareholders and customers, ensuring we are prepared for the 
opportunities that the changing electricity market offers for 
investment. This year we will progress our growth projects in 
New Zealand and Australia and invest in the capability of our 
people and systems to deliver future success.”

MANAGeMeNt teAM 
"What is your key focus for the next 12 months?"

  VInCe HAWKsWoRtH    C.ENG, MBA

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

  PAUL BACon    BCM, OCP

CHIEF INFORMATION OFFICER (ACTING)

  RoBeRt FARRon    BBS, CA, CFIPNZ, MInstD

CHIEF FINANCIAl OFFICER & COMPANy SECRETARy

  KARen BoYte    BBS, MBS(HONS), MHRINZ

GENERAl MANAGER HUMAN RESOURCES
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"This year my key focus is the impact of changes in the 
electricity market on Trustpower’s wholesale market trading 
activities. An additional focus will be the sustainable 
management of TrustPower's portfolio procurement and  
trading operation including – electricity, carbon and other 
tradable resources."

"We expect 2011 to be an extremely competitive year in 
electricity retailing so we will be very focused on adding value 
for our customers and providing amazing service. My other  
key focuses will be developing the tremendous irrigation 
opportunities TrustPower has in Canterbury, growing our 
successful telecommunications business, and ensuring the 
success of our business wide IT systems replacement project."

"Development of further options in the Australian market, 
including the Snowtown 2 Wind Farm project, is a key objective 
for the next year, so that TrustPower is ready to act when there 
is more certainty in the Australian government’s reaction to 
climate change. In New Zealand there are a number of market 
changes occurring. Co-ordination of TrustPower’s input from a 
strategic view point will be a key focus."

"My team is currently focused largely on successfully executing 
several generation development projects and ensuring the 
existing assets are operated safely and profitably. We are also 
researching ways to further improve the value derived from our 
existing assets and making sure our pipeline of new projects is 
aligned with the opportunities in the market."

  tHeRese tHoRn    BE(HONS)

GENERAl MANAGER TRADING

  CHRIs o’HARA    BAGRSC, DIP. BUS

GENERAl MANAGER COMMERCIAl OPERATIONS

  deIon CAMPBeLL    

GENERAl MANAGER GENERATION

  PeteR CALdeRWood    BE(HONS), ME, MIPENZ

GENERAl MANAGER STRATEGy & GROWTH

BE(ELECT, HONS), ME(MGMT), 
CPEng, MIPENZ, MInstD
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his was a fabulous 
opportunity for us to work 
with an iconic and trusted 
Southland business, and to 

use that relationship to build 
the Kinect and TrustPower 
brands in what is a relatively 
new market for us,” says Peter 
Gregory, TrustPower’s Business 
Manager Telecommunications.

In early 2011 TrustPower 
and the Southland Times 
released an exclusive power 
and telecommunications offer 
to Southland Times subscribers. 
Under the partnership 
subscribers were offered 
incentives to become TrustPower 
power customers, TrustPower 
Kinect customers for phone 
and internet, or both. One of 
the most popular incentives 
was Kinect’s Southland Toll 
Free Zone. “We went into the 
market with a product that was 
different. It was something that 
they couldn’t get anywhere else 
and that made us stand out.  

It was also the first time we 
have aggressively marketed  
a bundled power and phone 
product, and the response 
was fantastic,” says Peter.

Over 3,500 Southland 
households and businesses 
chose TrustPower as their power 
supplier and over 800 became 
Kinect telecommunications 
customers. The campaign also 
served to assist in customer 
retention, with existing 
customers in Southland and 
Central Otago given the chance 
to take up the new offer.

But TrustPower’s wasn’t 
the only success story that 
came out of the campaign. 
The Southland Times team 
was also delighted with the 
outcome. “Rewarding our 
customers’ loyalty is really 
important to us and teaming 
up with a like-minded 
organisation like TrustPower 
worked really well,” says 
Grace Turner-Geary, Southland 

Times Marketing Executive. 
“The Southland Times is read 
by more than 92% of all 
Southlanders and we really 
pride ourselves on rewarding 
and thanking our subscribers 
for their continued loyalty to 
the paper. Working with the 
team at TrustPower to offer 
our readers a great discount 
and another way to save money 
was a perfect match for us 
and our subscribers, and the 
response was tremendous.” 

The Southland region is an 
important area for TrustPower. 
It’s close to TrustPower’s South 
Island generation assets and 
with additional generation 
planned in Southland and 
around the South Island it makes 
sense to grow TrustPower’s 
customer base in the region. 

TrustPower’s General 
Manager Commercial 
Operations Chris O’Hara says 
Southland is also a perfect fit 
with the rural/provincial profile 

In any competitive market you have to stand out from the 
crowd. You need to offer something that the others don’t. 
So when the opportunity came for TrustPower to partner with 
the Southland Times to run a customer campaign, the answer 
was a resounding yes. 

that is TrustPower’s niche  
in the electricity and 
telecommunications markets. 
“The way our organisation 
works is very much around 
community and real people 
and those demographic traits 
are demonstrated strongly in 
provincial New Zealand.”

Another South Island  
region where TrustPower is 
experiencing strong growth is 
in North Canterbury. Over the 
last twelve months TrustPower 
has run two power and Kinect 
campaigns in the MainPower 
catchment area and as a result 
has picked up around 4,500 
customers. “As well as being 
attracted by our great prices 
and incentives, customers 
appreciate our genuine service 
and the fact that we are  
New Zealand owned – and 
people want to support  
New Zealand businesses now 
more than ever,” says Chris.

Looking to the future, Chris 
says TrustPower is exploring 
opportunities to partner with 
other organisations to repeat 
the Southland success story. 
“We’re here for the long haul 
and we plan to keep growing 
and bringing real kiwi service 
to real kiwi communities.”

FOR MORE ABOUT 
TRUSTPOWER’S 

RElATIONSHIPS WITH 
ITS CUSTOMERS 

tURn to PAGe 26
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  GRACe tURneR-GeARY   

Southland Times Marketing Executive
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ospice Marlborough 
provides support to  
around 350 people per year. 
To bridge the gap between 

what the Government funds 
and what the community needs, 
their fundraiser has to find half 
a million dollars every year. 
This is where Kate comes in. 
“We apply for grants, we have 
a hospice shop and great 
community support, but that’s 
not enough. We have to be 
good at identifying and 
accessing low cost ways of 
promoting ourselves.”

One of the tools Kate relies 
on is TrustPower Community 
Connect, a website that provides 
support, advice and resources 
to the voluntary sector. Kate 
has always been an avid user 
of the TrustPower Community 
Connect website, but in 
February 2011 her eyes lit up 
when the newly re-launched 
site went live. “It looks great. I 
love the fact we can now load 
up pictures of our events and 
activities and I love that we 
can look at upcoming events 
really easily. There are times 
when you want your message 
out there in cyberspace and you 
need something that is easy 
to use and is easily accessible. 
That’s what TrustPower 
Community Connect provides.”

The Community Connect 
website is one of the tools 
TrustPower uses to connect with 
its communities. An extension 
of the TrustPower Community 
Awards programme, the website 
has more than 2,000 member 
organisations. As well as offering 
organisations their own webpage 
with logos and photos, the site 
also has a Resources section 
with information and links 
vital to the community sector 
- making it a real online hub 
for the country’s voluntary 
organisations. “You can google 
for information but you get 
inundated with junk that’s  
not appropriate for the  
New Zealand situation or  
your organisation. Having 
Community Connect there to 
sift out the junk and give you 
the relevant information is 
just invaluable,” says Kate.

The new Community 
Connect website is also  
the online home to the 
TrustPower Community 
Awards, a programme now  
in its 18th year which is 
recognised as one of the most 
prestigious in the volunteer 
sector. TrustPower runs the 
Community Awards in 25 
regions in conjunction with 
city and district councils and 
the Awards are actively 

promoted on the ground by 
TrustPower’s Community 
Relations team. The 
TrustPower Community 
Awards provide TrustPower 
with a way of developing 
positive relationships with  
its communities from the 
grassroots up, cementing the 
Company as a very real and 
meaningful member of the 
provincial communities in 
which it operates.

A tool being used to 
communicate those positive 
relationships is the TrustPower 
Facebook page, which is 
gathering an increasing number 
of followers who have taken 
an active step to be involved 
in TrustPower’s community 
relations activities. “In the world 
of communication, if you stand 
still you go backwards. If you 
want to connect with your 
communities, you have to 
keep moving forward. And 
keeping moving forward is 
exactly what we have been 
doing with initiatives such as 
TrustPower Community Connect 
and Facebook,” says TrustPower 
Community Relations Manager 
Graeme Purches.

As Kate moves forward the 
constant battle for funding 
continues, but support is at 
hand. “I’ve just seen an article 
on the TrustPower Community 
Connect Resources page 
which is a funder’s perspective 
on funding applications.  
Now that’s just gold!”

FOR MORE ABOUT 
TRUSTPOWER’S 
RElATIONSHIPS 

WITH COMMUNITIES 

tURn to PAGe 28

Kate Horrey has a tough task. She has to raise hundreds 
of thousands of dollars every year just to keep the doors 
open at what is a vital community service.

Connecting with 
our Communities
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FOR MORE ABOUT 
TRUSTPOWER’S 
RElATIONSHIPS 

WITH ITS PEOPlE 

tURn to PAGe 30

hil owns the Video Ezy  
in Greerton, Tauranga. He 
bought the business five 
years ago and immediately 

switched to TrustPower, as he’d 
been a residential TrustPower 
customer for 15 years.

When TrustPower launched 
Kinect, the phone, tolls and 
broadband service, Charlene 
Wallace from TrustPower’s 
sales team contacted Phil. 
“We were under contract 
with another telco supplier 
but they were never very 
helpful. So when our contract 
came up I rang Charlene. She 
remembered who I was and 
arranged for us to switch to 
Kinect within a couple of 
days,” says Phil. 

Charlene says building good 
customer relationships is about 
being honest and upfront.  
“I remember working with 
Phil. I explained to him 
exactly where he would save 
money with Kinect and  
where he might not. When 
Phil switched, I made sure I 
followed his case and I always 
phoned him back when I said 
I would. TrustPower allows 
me to spend quality time on 

the phone with my customers, 
rather than focusing on 
quantity. They provide me 
with product knowledge, 
training and great support 
while allowing me to be me.”

Meanwhile, Phil is delighted 
he made the move. “I reckon 
our phone bills are actually 
less than what they were 
under the previous supplier 
and it was so easy to make 
the change.”

For Dee Dawson, who 
works in the Kinect team, 
this is the best feedback she 
can get. “We have a good 
relationship with the sales 
staff so that we can feedback 
to each other to ensure a 
smooth process for our 
customer. I take pride in 
providing exceptional service, 
working with our customers 
and TrustPower staff until the 
customer is fully connected 
and satisfied,” says Dee.

Back at Video Ezy Phil is 
about to put a deal up on 
OfferZone, a new website 
where TrustPower business 
customers can promote 

special offers to other 
TrustPower customers. 

Katie Clark joined 
TrustPower six months ago  
as TrustPower’s Online 
Marketing Advisor, and is one 
of the key staff involved in the 
development of OfferZone. 
“TrustPower is dynamic and  
if something needs to happen 
it will happen, which is really 
refreshing. I’ve had huge 
support and great opportunities 
for training. Even though 
TrustPower is a corporate – it 
doesn’t feel like that. I can talk 
to anybody in the business, it 
really is a community.” 

TrustPower’s community 
values also mean a lot to Phil. 
“Both TrustPower and the 
Tauranga Electricity Consumer 
Trust give a lot back to the 
community. I like seeing big 
business supporting the 
region we live in.”

As well as supporting  
the community TrustPower 
provides huge support to 
staff. Danie Christiansen has 

moved from sales to being a 
customer service representative 
and now she’s a lead customer 
service representative. “There 
are so many opportunities 
here and there is awesome 
training and support.  
The Company also has a  
great culture; everyone is 
approachable from the Chief 
Executive right through. Staff 
are incredibly well taken care 
of in terms of job flexibility.  
I feel really appreciated,”  
says Danie. Having staff that 
feel appreciated and are 
passionate about the Company 
and the part they play in its 
success, is key to providing the 
excellent products and service 
TrustPower is renowned for.

“With other companies you 
get the same questions time 
after time and have to press 
lots of buttons to speak to 
someone. It makes dealing 
with them a struggle. Dealing 
with TrustPower’s people is 
just so much easier. They 
know what they’re talking 
about, are helpful and they 
talk to you in a way you can 
understand. They make it 
easy to do business with them, 
so we’re definitely sticking 
with it,” says Phil.

Phil Gaudin has been working with small businesses all  
his life and has always followed a key business philosophy.

“I believe in supporting those that support you. That’s why 
we went with TrustPower and we’ve stuck with them.”

TRUSTPOWER 
ANNUAl REPORT 2011
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JoHn WRIGHt   Barrhill Chertsey Irrigation limited - Chairman
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uring December 2010  
the pumps were turned  
on at the new Highbank 
pumping station and water 

started flowing up the Highbank 
penstocks, to satisfy the  
Mid Canterbury farmland’s 
growing appetite for water.

The development at 
Highbank is a result of a 
collaborative partnership 
between TrustPower, Barrhill 
Chertsey Irrigation Limited 
(BCIL) and Electricity Ashburton 
Limited. The partnership has 
seen the installation of an 
intake, fish screening and 
pumping facilities at the 
Highbank power station to 
allow for the delivery of water 
from the Rakaia River to the 
Rangitata Diversion Race (RDR), 
which is on the southern side 
of the Rakaia River.  From the 
RDR water is then distributed 
to farmers for irrigation.

Innovative design allowed 
TrustPower to utilise the 
existing Highbank penstocks to 
convey water up to the RDR. 
This means the penstocks are 
now used in both directions 
– to deliver water downhill to 
the power station for electricity 

generation and then, in the 
summer months, to pump 
water uphill for irrigation.

BCIL chairman John Wright 
says their shareholders are now 
reaping the rewards of the 
infrastructure that has been 
developed. “TrustPower is an 
integral part of our success to 
date and has contributed not 
only capital but substantial 
expertise. We simply wouldn’t 
be where we are today 
without that.”

This year TrustPower will 
expand the Highbank pumping 
station from its current 
capacity of 4 cubic meters per 
second (cumecs) to 5 cumecs, 
and ultimately to 8 cumecs. 
That will allow the irrigation  
of 17,800 hectares across  
5 linked irrigation schemes, 
utilising 60km of piped 
distribution. “There is huge 
potential to increase the 
productivity of Mid Canterbury 
agriculture through irrigation. 
We expect to continue to 
work with TrustPower to grow 
the capacity of our scheme 
and to improve the reliability 
of irrigation for our 
shareholders” says John.

So far TrustPower’s 
investment has focused on 
providing the infrastructure to 
extract Rakaia River water for 
BCIL. However TrustPower’s 
ownership of the Lake Coleridge 
power station provides even 
more possibilities for innovative 
development. “Lake Coleridge 
has a storage capacity of  
100 million cubic metres of 
water. If this storage capacity 
can be utilised for multi-purpose 
power generation and irrigation, 
a further 40 megawatts of 
generation can be added and 
up to 80,000 hectares could 
be provided with reliable 
irrigation,” says TrustPower's 
General Manager Commercial 
Operations Chris O’Hara.

TrustPower has developed a 
concept which would see a 
siphon built across the Rakaia 
River to allow stored water to 
be released to the river. The 
water would then be pumped 
to farmland on both sides of 
the Rakaia River. 

To facilitate the use of  
the Lake Coleridge storage a 
modification is required to the 
Rakaia River Water Conservation 
Order. TrustPower is currently 

consulting with key 
stakeholders under the 
umbrella of the Canterbury 
Water Management Strategy 
with a view to applying for 
this modification in 2011, 
while also working closely 
with Central Plains Water 
Limited, the primary irrigation 
body on the northern side of 
the Rakaia River.

Ultimately the Lake Coleridge 
concept would also see further 
electricity generation 
developed via a canal that 
would pass through one or 
more additional power stations 
and then feed irrigation 
distribution infrastructure.

Chris says TrustPower’s 
investment in the project 
could be around $400 million 
and benefits to the Canterbury 
economy are expected to be in 
the order of $200-$300 million 
per annum. “It’s a big project 
that could have widespread 
benefits for TrustPower, the 
irrigators and the wider 
community. But it’s a project 
that will require innovative 
designs and clever thinking to 
make it work. Luckily we’ve 
got that in bucketloads.”
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e see the environment 
as a key stakeholder 
with which we have  
to have a positive 

relationship,” says Kerry 
Watson, TrustPower’s 
Environment Manager.

Developing positive 
relationships has been key  
to the success in which 
TrustPower recently re-
consented its Patea Hydro 
Electric Power Scheme.  
The 30MW Taranaki scheme 
consists of an 86 metre high 
dam on the Patea River with 
the 46 kilometre long Lake 
Rotorangi behind it.

TrustPower received a 
renewed consent for the 
scheme from the Taranaki 
Regional Council in 2008.  
But that consent was appealed 
both by TrustPower and a 
number of other parties.  
“We were staring down the 
barrel of an Environment Court 
hearing, a process which we 
just knew would be both costly 
and time consuming for all 
parties,” says Kerry.

Instead of taking a legalistic 
approach, TrustPower started 

talking. “Fish & Game considers 
that the process has been a 
good one, with negotiation in 
good faith by all parties 
resulting in agreement on 
consent conditions and 
substantial agreement on 
monitoring provisions being 
achieved through mediation and 
without the costs associated 
with a full Environment Court 
Hearing. Fish & Game has 
appreciated the positive 
approach by TrustPower staff 
and their commitment to 
resolving any issues that have 
arisen,” says Fish and Game 
spokesperson Allen Stancliff.

One of the key issues was 
the restricted passage of fish 
due to the size of the dam. 
Under existing consent 
conditions TrustPower was 
trapping and transferring elver 
(baby eels) from the dam into 
the lake and holding controlled 
spill releases to allow tuna 
(adult eels) back into the sea. 
But Kerry says once they 
started talking with the other 
parties they saw an opportunity 
to transfer a wider variety of 
native species and improve 

down stream migration.  
“We wanted to ensure our 
electricity generation didn’t 
have an unacceptable effect 
on biodiversity, and together 
we came up with a plan to 
achieve that,” says Kerry.

The plan includes extending 
the trap and transfer 
programme from four months 
a year to ten months a year to 
cover the migration seasons 
for all native freshwater fish. 
Modifications will be made to 
the trap so that those fish 
known to be ‘poorer climbers’ 
can get into it and TrustPower 
purchased a fish transport 
trailer so some of the fish can 
be transferred to the upper 
catchment by road to avoid 
predation in the lake. Prior  
to the release programme 
beginning TrustPower will also 
fund surveys of the upper 
catchment so that the 
effectiveness of the programme 
can be measured.

With the plan in place, and 
all parties agreed, the new 
resource consent was issued 
in December 2010 without 
anyone having to step inside 

the Environment Court. It was 
a result the local Iwi were 
delighted with. “This has  
been a complex and at times 
challenging task, but through 
it we have developed a great 
partnership with TrustPower,” 
says Te Runanga o Ngaati 
Ruanui Trust Chairman Ngapari 
Nui. “Developing fish protocols 
with TrustPower to ensure 
native fish are present 
throughout the river’s 
catchments and the re-stocking 
of fish goes to the heart of 
maintaining the life force of the 
Patea River and asserting our 
kaitiakitanga – or guardianship.”

Kerry Watson says TrustPower, 
stakeholders and iwi all wanted 
the same outcome, they just 
had to work together to get 
there. “We have taken a process 
which was heading down a 
confrontational track and 
turned it into a positive journey, 
full of great working relationships 
which I know we can build on 
in the future. By doing that we 
have not only protected our 
environment, we have also 
protected the future of our 
generation assets.”

When our customers flick the switch they want to know 
the light is going to go on. For that to happen their power 
supply has to be secure and sustainable. Sustainable not 

only economically, but also environmentally.

A Focus on Fish
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ALLen stAnCLIFF   Fish and Game Officer, Fish and Game NZ, Taranaki Region

CHRIs enGLAnd   Production Coordinator, TrustPower Generation Taranaki

RYAn PARK   Environmental Advisor, TrustPower Generation Division

dARRYn RAtAnA   Tumu Whakarae - Chairperson, Te Kaahui o Rauru
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ABOUT OUR 
SUSTAINABILITY 
REPORT

  tHe ReAson FoR tHIs RePoRt

At TrustPower we believe that producing an 

annual sustainability report is an essential part 

of being a good corporate citizen. This report 

provides a means of communicating with a range 

of stakeholders on the full range of our activities. 

Consistent with previous years we report on 

sustainability in conjunction with our annual report.

  MAteRIALItY

To determine which issues are of material 

importance, we considered issues that might 

impact our operations, the environment, the 

communities in which we operate, or 

substantially impact our individual customers 

and stakeholders.

Material measures are those identified from 

stakeholder interaction (page 38) and key risks 

(page 25). By choosing these measures we have 

produced a report aimed at all stakeholders.

  sUstAInABILItY RePoRtInG GUIdeLInes

This Annual Report is available on our website, 

www.trustpower.co.nz and is compiled with 

reference to the Global Reporting Initiative 

(“GRI”) Sustainability Reporting Guidelines 

Version 3.0 (“G3”). We have assessed our 

compliance with the reporting guidelines at 

the Application Level (B).

The GRI guidelines provide a voluntary 

reporting framework used by organisations 

around the world as the basis for sustainability 

reporting. The GRI is the generally accepted 

framework for ‘measuring, disclosing, and 

being held accountable to internal and external 

stakeholders for organisation performance 

toward the goal of sustainable development’.

The GRI consists of a framework and guiding 

principles as well as a range of ‘indicators’ that 

reporting organisations can report against. 

Indicators are chosen on the basis of materiality 

or significance to the business and / or 
stakeholders. Not all indicators are reported 
against in this report.

The full list of G3 indicators, where they are 
reported on in the report and to what extent 
they are reported, can be found on our website 
or by inquiry to the address listed in the directory.

  RePoRtInG PRInCIPLes

We have reviewed GRI’s G3 Reporting Principles 
in an effort to provide a balanced and reasonable 
representation of our sustainability performance.

We have applied the key principles of 
materiality, completeness, context, comparability, 
accuracy, timeliness, clarity, reliability and 
boundary setting.

  RePoRtInG PeRIod, ACCURACY 

  And CoMPLeteness

This report is based on the performance and 
information for the financial year to the end of 
March 2011. We use in-house reporting systems 
to collect data for the GRI process.

  BoUndARY oF tHe RePoRt

This report covers the operations of TrustPower 
and all of its subsidiaries. Outside the scope of 
this report are outsourced customer services 
and a variety of field services contractors.

  exteRnAL AssURAnCe

The financial statements have been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Independent review 
of the Company’s impact on greenhouse gases 
‘carbon footprint’ has also been completed by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

The remainder of the report has not been 
subjected to independent review.
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CAteGoRY KeY RIsKs / CHALLenGes APPRoACH tARGets PRoGRess

economic  Unable to meet future 
demand for electricity

 Shareholder value growth

 Develop a pipeline of 
opportunities for new 
investment

 Maintain strong focus on 
efficiency of operation

 Invest in economic growth 
projects

 Focus on long term 
sustainable pricing

 Costs benchmarked at 
below industry average

 New projects all 
economically viable

 New projects completed 
on time and to budget

 Prices set at levels so 
customer base maintained 
with minimal churn

  

  

  

 

environmental  Need to minimise 
environmental impact of 
generation schemes

 Overall impact on carbon 
emissions

 Work closely with special 
interest groups and the 
local community to 
minimise impact of  
new generation

 Comply with resource 
consents

 Reduce carbon footprint

 Zero significant resource 
consent breaches

 year on year reduction in 
carbon emissions per 
customer

  

 

our people  Need to retain and develop  
a team to deliver ongoing 
performance

 Extensive training and 
development programme

 Succession planning and 
internal promotion

 75% of management roles 
filled by internal promotion

 Continuous improvement 
in staff survey results

 Staff survey exceeds 
international benchmark

  

 N/A1 

 

Community  Relationships with and an 
understanding of local 
communities is required to 
operate effectively

 Community engagement 
including sponsorship and 
community awards

 Consultation around 
resource issues

 Maintain a strong 
corporate profile in all 
areas in which we operate 
and build relationships 
within those communities

 No resource consents 
turned down due to lack of 
consultation

  
 
 
 

 

Customer  Dissatisfied customers 
prevent sustainable  
economic performance

 Competitive pricing
 Excellent customer service
 Information and advice

 Net customer churn <2% 
 >90% satisfaction in survey

 
 

SUSTAINABILITY OUTLOOK

All businesses face risks and challenges. Our key risks and challenges are summarised in the table below.

 Achieved    Partially achieved    not achieved
1A new provider was used to carry out the staff engagement survey this year and, as a consequence of that, 
the results are not directly comparable.

1Customers rating very good or excellent
A more detailed analysis can be found in pages 26-37

AReA MeAsURe 2010 ACtUAL 2011 ACtUAL 2011 tARGet 2012 tARGet

economic EBITDAF Growth 5% 0% 8-12% 6-10%

staff Staff Survey - 74.9 - 76.0

environmental Resource Consent 
Breaches

5 9 0 0

Customer1 Customer 
Satisfaction

94% 94% >90% >95%

Community Stakeholder 
Consultation

Completed Completed Complete detailed 
stakeholder 
consultation

Complete detailed 
stakeholder 
consultation

At TrustPower we believe that sustainability means building a long term business through relationships with all who we 
interact with. In order to report on our progress in this regard we report economic, staff, environmental, customer and 
community related measures.

Our performance this year was comparable with previous years across the five areas we report on although not all 
targets were achieved.
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“IT’S JUST SO EASY” As a busy 
working mum Sandra Millane has no 
time for hassles in her life. “I don’t need 
any hold ups or troubles, and that’s why 
I love being with TrustPower,” says Sandra.

Sandra is a TrustPower and Kinect 
customer. She is also a Southland Times 
subscriber so reaps the benefits of 
TrustPower’s recent Southland promotion, 
such as the Southland Toll Free Zone.  
“I get my phone, power and internet all 
together in one bill sent to me by email 
– it’s just so easy. And it’s nice to know 
that if I have to ring anyone in Southland 
it’s free with Kinect.”

Sandra’s been a TrustPower customer 
for the last four years and has spoken so 
highly of TrustPower that now her friends 
and neighbours are making the switch. 
“We get a lot of people ask what power 
company we’re with and I’m proud to say 
I’m with TrustPower. I was actually talking 
about TrustPower at work the other day 
and one of the girls was saying that she’s 
having trouble with her power supplier.  
I said that she should just change. I just 
can’t recommend TrustPower enough.”

Dealing with a New Zealand owned 
company is also a big plus for Sandra. 
“It’s so nice knowing I’m talking to people 
right here in New Zealand – not overseas. 
Everyone is just so friendly and helpful and 
nothing’s a problem. Even the lady who 
comes to read my meter is lovely – she 
even likes the dog.”

OUR CUSTOMERS

Sandra’s been a TrustPower customer for the last four years and 
has spoken so highly of TrustPower that now her friends and 
neighbours are making the switch.
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LENDING A HAND TO OUR 
COMMUNITIES. Being a good citizen 
is all about being an active part of the 
communities in which you operate.  
For TrustPower that means lending  
a hand to those who need it most.

One organisation that has received  
a hand up from TrustPower is the 
Greymouth SPCA, a voluntary run 
organisation that cares for sick, injured 
and mistreated animals. 

The TrustPower West Coast Lend A 
Hand Foundation, a TrustPower initiated 
partnership supported by many West 
Coast businesses, has recently granted 
the SPCA $983 to run its animal ambulance. 
The grant means the SPCA can keep the 
ambulance registered and warranted, as 
well as getting some new tyres and a service. 

OUR COMMUNITY

The grant also stretched to buying some 
good polish and wax for the ambulance, 
which SPCA Chairperson Margaret Sadler 
says will keep help the infamous West Coast 
rust at bay. “The animal ambulance goes 
to a lot of call outs all hours of the day and 
night. If we didn’t have the ambulance we 
would definitely be cast, and would struggle 
to provide our vital service,” says Margaret.

The TrustPower West Coast Lend  
A Hand Foundation, run in conjunction 

with the Rotary Clubs of Greymouth, 
Hokitika and Westport, gives individuals 
and small organisations a hand up. 
TrustPower Lend A Hand Foundations 
are also operating in Central Otago and 
Dunedin with Rotary Clubs there, and in 
Snowtown, Australia, in conjunction with 
the local Lions Club. “The TrustPower 
Lend A Hand Foundation is of huge 
value to our community and without the 
Foundation’s support we would be lost,” 
says Margaret.

Thanks to that support the Greymouth 
SPCA can focus on what they do best 
- looking after the animals in their care. 
“We have a roster of fabulous volunteers 
who dote on our animals. But there is no 
cuddling until the cleaning and feeding 
have been done!”

“The TrustPower Lend A Hand 
Foundation is of huge value to 
our community and without  
the Foundation’s support we 
would be lost.”

MARGARet sAdLeR   Greymouth SPCA Chairperson
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JESSE LIDDLE, SALES 
REPRESEnTATIvE. Graeme Thomas 
from Invercargill describes himself as the 
worst of the worst when it comes to 
making changes. Little surprise then that 

BARBARA LYE, CUSTOMER 
SERvICE REPRESEnTATIvE.  
“The empowering thing was to talk to 
someone that could understand my 
needs, and wasn’t out to prove the 
company right but instinctively knew 
what the customer needed without 
being made to feel unimportant.”

This was what Annette Exon wrote in an 
email to TrustPower after speaking with 
Barbara Lye, a TrustPower customer service 
representative based in Oamaru. Annette 
had just received her first combined phone, 
internet and power bill and was confused 
at what she was paying. “I remember talking 
to Annette...she was lovely,” says Barbara. 

Barbara says she listened to Annette, 
heard what her issues were, and then 
simply explained how the bill works. 
“Barbara just made it feel so common 

OUR PEOPLE

"When you solve someone’s 
problems you can really make 
their day and, to be honest, 
that’s a great feeling.”

sense without making me feel ridiculous. 
She was so easy to talk to and was 
such a positive person,” says Annette.

Barbara says providing great service 
is all about listening and realising each 
customer is a real person. “It’s just the 
way you talk to people. It’s just your 
attitude, your voice and I think if you let 
people realise that you’re genuinely 
interested it makes a huge difference. 
When you solve someone’s problems 
you can really make their day and, to be 
honest, that’s a great feeling.”

“I love building a rapport  
with people and selling them  
a product I really believe in."

he had been with his former power 
company for 40 years. “Usually I have  
no time for these people who ring up to 
sell you something, but there was just 
something about that young fella that  
I could connect with,” says Graeme.

That young fella is Jesse Liddle, a 
member of TrustPower’s telesales team. 
Jesse says he loves the thrill of telesales 
and working with customers to ensure 
they are getting what they really need.  
“I love building a rapport with people and 
selling them a product I really believe in.  
I remember chatting to Mr Thomas and  
I am stoked that he’s happy that he’s 
now a TrustPower customer,” says Jesse.

Graeme says being with a New Zealand 
owned power company makes a big 
difference to him and he was so 
impressed with Jesse’s ability to explain 
who TrustPower was and what the 
company was offering that he rang 
back to compliment Jesse on a job  
well done. “I don’t ring up companies 
very often but I got great service and  
I thought they should give that guy a  
pat on the back.”
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LOIS COPELAnD, METER READER. 
“I saw a slogan the other day that said 
the best reward for a job well done is 
having done it. That’s kind of my motto.” 
Lois Copeland has been described as the 
best meter reader in the country, although 
it’s a compliment she quickly brushes aside. 
“I enjoy providing good service. That’s 
what makes the job enjoyable. That’s 
what keeps me in the job,” says Lois.

Lois said she was just doing her job 
when in January 2011 she rang customer 

“I enjoy providing good service. 
That’s what makes the job 
enjoyable. That’s what keeps  
me in the job.”

Cheryl Butler to confirm the best time to 
come and read her meter. “I told Lois not 
to come because my son and I had 
chicken pox – we were really ill and I didn’t 
want her catching it,” says Cheryl. The last 

thing Cheryl expected was for Lois to pop 
around later that day with some energy 
drinks and six lemonade ice blocks.

“I was overwhelmed. She did this just 
out of the kindness of her heart and I was 
just speechless. I already thought she 
provided awesome service but that day 
Lois really went above and beyond what 
her position required. From feeling so ill 
she made me feel so blessed. She really 
is the best meter reader in the country,” 
says Cheryl.
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STROnG AnD COnSISTEnT vALUES 
BUILD TRUST. For some organisations 
their values are something that are 
framed on a wall and that’s how they are 
communicated to employees and other 
stakeholders. At TrustPower you won’t 
see our values framed anywhere. Instead 
you will see them demonstrated every 
day, by every employee. TrustPower’s 
values underpin every our action, decision 
and behaviour. We call it PRIIDE in action. 

Our values permeate through all our 
people related strategies, systems  
and processes. We measure our 
performance against our PRIIDE values 
in terms of customer feedback, the 
achievement of business outcomes,  
and behaviour and related remuneration 
decisions. Our values underpin our 
leadership development and training, 
and regular reward and recognition 

events recognise those employees who 
have demonstrated our PRIIDE values 
at an outstanding level. 

 Alongside the feedback we get from 
our customers, suppliers and other 
external stakeholders, we seek feedback 
every year from our staff. This annual 
staff engagement survey ensures that 
we continue to nurture and build upon 
what employees acknowledge is a great 
workplace environment, and continually 
reinforce the opportunities that enable 
PRIIDE to thrive. 

In 2010 we participated in the  
JRA Best NZ Work Places Survey.  
The overall engagement results from  
this survey are shown on page 33. 
Engaged employees are vital to 
TrustPower because they seek to solve 
problems, take the initiative, and help 
colleagues and customers when and 
where needed. 

We continue to see a consistent return 
on our investment in employee development 
initiatives, in particular the development 
of our leaders and managers, through 
achievements such as increased employee 
commitment and reduced staff turnover. 

Health and safety remains a strong 
focus and year on year we continue to 
reduce the number of injury incidents 
through greater focus on investigation 
and preventative actions. This will be a 
continuing focus for TrustPower.

We continue to see a consistent 
return on our investment in 
employee development initiatives, 
in particular the development  
of our leaders and managers.

PASSION

RESPECT

INTEGRITY

INNOVATION

dELIVERY

eMPOWERMENT We take responsibility and play our part 

in making TrustPower more successful, 

enjoyable and rewarding for everyone.

We deliver with attitude. We be ourselves and we always 

look to create positive and lasting relationships

We find smarter ways to do things to produce 

improved and sustainable results

We say it as it is and 

do what we say

For each other, our shareholders 

and all other stakeholders

For superb 

customer service

OUR PEOPLE
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SUSTAINABLE ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE

FIVe YeAR eConoMIC sUMMARY MAR 07 MAR 08 MAR 09 MAR 10 MAR 11

Electricity customer numbers 000's 219 222 227 225 221 

Telecommunication customer numbers 000's 15 26 30 33 35 

Customer sales (GWh) 4,575 4,540 4,032 4,103 4,033 

Average spot price of electricity purchased ($/MWh) 63 73 120 56 59 

NZ Hydro generation production (GWh) 1,667 1,472 1,568 1,435 1,737 

NZ Wind generation production (GWh) 274 546 558 582 550 

Average spot price of electricity generated ($/MWh) 62 68 114 50 51 

$M $M $M $M $M

Operating Revenue 626 681 785 759 766 

EBITDAF 196 208 262 274 274 

Fair Value Movements of Financial Instruments 2 1 (20) 13 0 

Asset Impairment 0 0 (1) (6) 0 

Amortisation and Depreciation (28) (32) (44) (55) (55)

Net Interest Paid (27) (40) (52) (59) (62)

Tax Expense (41) (39) (40) (48) (45)

OPERATING SURPLUS 102 98 105 119 112 

Underlying Earnings After Tax 101 93 119 117 116 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITy 1,217 1,257 1,430 1,437 1,418 

Current and Other Assets 117 254 114 157 135 

Fixed Assets 1,905 2,057 2,373 2,366 2,436 

Intangible Assets 43 40 40 36 34 

TOTAL ASSETS 2,065 2,351 2,527 2,559 2,605 

Current and Other Liabilities 132 231 114 313 120 

Deferred Tax Liability 207 207 251 267 257 

Term Debt 509 656 732 542 810 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 848 1,094 1,097 1,122 1,187 

NET ASSETS 1,217 1,257 1,430 1,437 1,418 

Earnings Per Share (cents) 31 31 33 38 36

Dividends Per Share (cents) 27 30 33 38 39

Return on Average Shareholders' Funds 8.6% 7.5% 7.8% 8.3% 7.9%
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ENHANCING OUR ENVIRONMENT. 
The Rangitaiki River in the eastern Bay 
of Plenty is an important place. It’s an 
environment with historical and cultural 
significance. It is also home to 
TrustPower’s Matahina Hydro Electric 
Power Scheme. “The River is many things 
to many people. What we endeavour to 
do is ensure that our activities maintain 
the important qualities of the River and 
its environment and support the 
traditional activities the River is known 
for,” says Kerry Watson, TrustPower’s 
Environment Manager.

TrustPower enjoys a valued 
relationship with the Rangitaiki Hapu 
Coalition who affiliates to the Ngati Awa 
iwi and who are hapu that have 
historically occupied, and continue to 
occupy, lands along the Rangitaiki River. 
One of the important cultural values 

OUR ENVIRONMENT

associated with the Rangitaiki River is its 
ability to provide for the cleansing and 
healing of the body, mind and spirit. 
Kaumatua and tohunga regularly use 
particular places along the Rangitaiki 
River for karakia ceremonies.

“The Rangitaiki Hapu Coalition identified 
one such place alongside Te Mapou Marae 
which needed some work to improve  
the safety for kaumatua and tohunga 
accessing the River and also to enhance 
the mauri of this site of significance.  

So we partnered with the Rangitaiki Hapu 
Coalition to enable that work to occur,” 
says Kerry. TrustPower provided funding 
for the project, which saw the construction 
of a track and ramp down to the River’s 
edge below Te Mapou Marae and the 
planting of 5,000 native plants, to restore 
the native vegetation and original character 
of the Rangitaiki River.

Rangitaiki Hapu Coalition representative 
Miro Araroa says they are proud of their 
partnership with TrustPower. “Mauri 
enhancement projects such as the  
Te Mapou Marae restoration project 
reconnect members of our hapu and 
whanau with their ancestors. Our iwi 
sincerely acknowledge TrustPower’s 
contribution to the preservation and 
restoration of the natural and cultural 
values that make the taonga Rangitaiki 
awa significant to us.”

"Our iwi sincerely acknowledge 
TrustPower’s contribution to the 
preservation and restoration of 
the natural and cultural values 
that make the taonga Rangitaiki 
awa significant to us.”

KIRstY JoYnt   Senior Environmental Officer, TrustPower

MIRo ARARoA   Rangitaiki Hapu Coalition Representative

Partners in Mauri enhancement
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stAKeHoLdeR InteRACtIon KeY InteRests And ConCeRns HoW We ResPond

Generation Communities  As required community/stakeholder meetings on key  
topics of interest

 Regular community group meetings
 Stakeholder surveys
 Charitable donations and community projects
 Community Awards Programme

 Impact of electricity generation on communities including 
transport of goods and staff

 Impact on recreational areas around generation sites
 Impact on local employment
 Contribution to economic and sustainable development  
of affected communities

 Targeting 100 per cent compliance with consent conditions
 Mitigation projects
 Environmental management systems
 Policy of hiring locally where local skills and expertise  
are available

 Sponsorship and management of local community awards

tangata Whenua  Regular formal and informal meetings with iwi at  
generation sites

 Minimisation of any ongoing impact and degradation  
on tangata whenua cultural and spiritual values

 Minimisation of, or where appropriate mitigation for,  ongoing 
environmental footprint 

 Seek to understand and acknowledge tangata whenua 
regarding electricity schemes

 Seek to understand and acknowledge the impact of activities 
on the values held by tangata whenua

 Where possible and appropriate, reach mitigation agreements 
with iwi impacted by operations

Customers  Customer interaction through customer service staff, meter 
readers, account managers and community relation activities

 Customer surveys
 Customer newsletters
 Website

 Cost, reliability of and access to electricity supply
 Customer service and satisfaction
 Energy efficiency and renewable generation
 Company reputation

 Treat all customers fairly and with respect
 Be aware of and seek to minimise risk for vulnerable customers
 Provide energy efficiency advice to customers
 Aim to provide the highest level of service
 Deliver open and transparent pricing / billing

employees  Staff surveys
 Staff newsletter
 Intranet
 Direct engagement on key topics of interest
 Staff committee
 Senior Management Team’s staff updates
 Inter-team challenges, sports and fun evenings
 Employee involvement in community activity

 Work/life balance
 Achieving and maintaining zero health and safety incidents
 Competitive rates of pay
 Being a socially and environmentally responsible employer
 Training and development
 Being regarded and respected as a responsible employer and 
an employer of choice

 Monitor staff work levels, performance and feedback
 Market based remuneration
 Provide leadership development programme
 Promote wellness programme
 Keep employees well informed about our business
 Promote internally for 75% of positions
 Subsidise life, trauma and income protection insurance

special Interest Groups  Meetings to discuss key topics of interest
 Partnerships and funding to deliver, where appropriate, 
community projects

 Respond to information requests
 Membership of relevant organisations
 Community Connect website

 Contribution to climate change
 Impact on local communities – positive and negative
 Show an interest in and ability to support community 
development

 Promotion of and support for community voluntary sector

 Contribution to climate change strategy
 Develop renewable electricity generation 

Government  Briefings with Ministers and officials
 Submissions on policy
 Contribution to development of policy
 Participation in working groups, conferences and meetings

 Security of supply
 Ensuring company corporate social responsibility

 Assist with development of climate change strategy
 Engage with the Government and other stakeholders  
and submit on key energy policy documents

 Develop renewable generation

electricity sector  Submissions on electricity sector policy
 Participation in utility forums

 Working with other industry stakeholders on mutual interests 
related to planning and regulation

 Security of supply

 Submit on the Ministerial Review of Electricity  
Market Performance

 Participate in working groups, conferences and other  
key forums on key topics of mutual interest

suppliers and Contractors  Contractual arrangements
 Procurement policy

 Policies, procedures and requirements are clearly understood  Development and implementation of a sustainable 
procurement policy

General Community  Media liaison
 Public meetings
 Direct mail communications
 Advertising
 Website
 Direct community involvement

 Keeping the lights on uninterrupted
 Contribution to climate change
 Cost and access to energy
 Impact on local communities positive and negative

 Climate change strategy
 Direct community involvement, interaction, sponsorship  
and support

shareholders  Annual meeting
 Board representatives
 Reports and publications

 Sustainable earnings
 Growth
 Shareholder value

 Considered economic investment
 Deliver sustainable shareholder returns

STAKEHOLDER INTERACTION

Our relationships with various stakeholders have been highlighted throughout this report. 
The following table summarises the interaction we have had and will continue to have with our stakeholders.

38



stAKeHoLdeR InteRACtIon KeY InteRests And ConCeRns HoW We ResPond

Generation Communities  As required community/stakeholder meetings on key  
topics of interest

 Regular community group meetings
 Stakeholder surveys
 Charitable donations and community projects
 Community Awards Programme

 Impact of electricity generation on communities including 
transport of goods and staff

 Impact on recreational areas around generation sites
 Impact on local employment
 Contribution to economic and sustainable development  
of affected communities

 Targeting 100 per cent compliance with consent conditions
 Mitigation projects
 Environmental management systems
 Policy of hiring locally where local skills and expertise  
are available

 Sponsorship and management of local community awards

tangata Whenua  Regular formal and informal meetings with iwi at  
generation sites

 Minimisation of any ongoing impact and degradation  
on tangata whenua cultural and spiritual values

 Minimisation of, or where appropriate mitigation for,  ongoing 
environmental footprint 

 Seek to understand and acknowledge tangata whenua 
regarding electricity schemes

 Seek to understand and acknowledge the impact of activities 
on the values held by tangata whenua

 Where possible and appropriate, reach mitigation agreements 
with iwi impacted by operations

Customers  Customer interaction through customer service staff, meter 
readers, account managers and community relation activities

 Customer surveys
 Customer newsletters
 Website

 Cost, reliability of and access to electricity supply
 Customer service and satisfaction
 Energy efficiency and renewable generation
 Company reputation

 Treat all customers fairly and with respect
 Be aware of and seek to minimise risk for vulnerable customers
 Provide energy efficiency advice to customers
 Aim to provide the highest level of service
 Deliver open and transparent pricing / billing

employees  Staff surveys
 Staff newsletter
 Intranet
 Direct engagement on key topics of interest
 Staff committee
 Senior Management Team’s staff updates
 Inter-team challenges, sports and fun evenings
 Employee involvement in community activity

 Work/life balance
 Achieving and maintaining zero health and safety incidents
 Competitive rates of pay
 Being a socially and environmentally responsible employer
 Training and development
 Being regarded and respected as a responsible employer and 
an employer of choice

 Monitor staff work levels, performance and feedback
 Market based remuneration
 Provide leadership development programme
 Promote wellness programme
 Keep employees well informed about our business
 Promote internally for 75% of positions
 Subsidise life, trauma and income protection insurance

special Interest Groups  Meetings to discuss key topics of interest
 Partnerships and funding to deliver, where appropriate, 
community projects

 Respond to information requests
 Membership of relevant organisations
 Community Connect website

 Contribution to climate change
 Impact on local communities – positive and negative
 Show an interest in and ability to support community 
development

 Promotion of and support for community voluntary sector

 Contribution to climate change strategy
 Develop renewable electricity generation 

Government  Briefings with Ministers and officials
 Submissions on policy
 Contribution to development of policy
 Participation in working groups, conferences and meetings

 Security of supply
 Ensuring company corporate social responsibility

 Assist with development of climate change strategy
 Engage with the Government and other stakeholders  
and submit on key energy policy documents

 Develop renewable generation

electricity sector  Submissions on electricity sector policy
 Participation in utility forums

 Working with other industry stakeholders on mutual interests 
related to planning and regulation

 Security of supply

 Submit on the Ministerial Review of Electricity  
Market Performance

 Participate in working groups, conferences and other  
key forums on key topics of mutual interest

suppliers and Contractors  Contractual arrangements
 Procurement policy

 Policies, procedures and requirements are clearly understood  Development and implementation of a sustainable 
procurement policy

General Community  Media liaison
 Public meetings
 Direct mail communications
 Advertising
 Website
 Direct community involvement

 Keeping the lights on uninterrupted
 Contribution to climate change
 Cost and access to energy
 Impact on local communities positive and negative

 Climate change strategy
 Direct community involvement, interaction, sponsorship  
and support

shareholders  Annual meeting
 Board representatives
 Reports and publications

 Sustainable earnings
 Growth
 Shareholder value

 Considered economic investment
 Deliver sustainable shareholder returns
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Role of the Board of Directors
The Directors are elected by the 
shareholders and are responsible to the 
shareholders for the performance of the 
Group. Their focus is to enhance the 
interests of shareholders and other key 
stakeholders and to ensure the Group is 
properly managed. The Board draws on 
relevant corporate governance best 
practice principles to assist and contribute 
to the performance of the Group.

The Board has developed a charter 
that outlines responsibilities that 
encompass the following:
 Setting the strategic direction of 

TrustPower and monitoring 
management’s implementation of  
that strategy.

 Selecting and appointing (and, if 
appropriate, removing from office) the 
Chief Executive, determining his/her 
conditions of service and monitoring 
his/her performance against 
established objectives.

 Ratifying the appointment (and, if 
appropriate, removing from office)  
the Chief Financial Officer and 
Company Secretary.

 Ratifying the remuneration of senior 
management consistent with their 
employment agreements;

 Monitoring financial outcomes and  
the integrity of reporting, and, in 
particular, approving annual budgets 
and longer-term strategic and 
business plans.

 Setting specific limits of authority  
for management to commit to new 
expenditure, enter contracts or 
acquire businesses without prior 
Board approval.

 Ensuring that effective audit, risk 
management and compliance 
systems are in place to protect the 
Company’s assets and to minimise 
the possibility of the Group operating 
beyond legal requirements or beyond 
acceptable risk parameters.

 Monitoring compliance with regulatory 
requirements (including continuous 
disclosure) and setting ethical 
standards and then monitoring 

compliance with those standards.
 Reviewing, on a regular basis, senior 

management succession planning  
and development.

 Ensuring effective and timely reporting 
to shareholders. 

The Board has nine scheduled one day 
meetings, an extended strategic 
planning meeting at least once a year, at 
least four Audit Committee meetings and 
several unscheduled meetings to consider 
and/or review substantial projects and 
any other special circumstances that 
may arise from time to time.

The full Board determines the board 
size and composition, subject to limits 
imposed by the Company’s Constitution 
which is required to comply with the NZX 
Listing Rules. The Constitution provides 
for a minimum of three Directors and a 
maximum of seven. 

The Constitution and NZX Listing Rules 
also require that while there are a total  
of six or seven Directors, two must be 
independent Directors. As at 31 March 
2011, the Board has determined that the 
independent Directors of TrustPower are 
RH Aitken, GJC Swier, and IS Knowles 
and the non-independent Directors of 
TrustPower are MJ Cooney, BJ Harker, 
and M Bogoievski.

The Board has established two 
standing Subcommittees being; the 
Audit Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee. 

Audit Committee
The Board has established a standing 
Audit Committee consisting of three 
Board members. The Committee meets 
at least four times a year. Members of the 
Committee are: GJC Swier (Chairman), 
BJ Harker, and IS Knowles.

The role of the Audit Committee is 
formally recorded in a charter document 
approved by the Board of Directors.  
The primary objective of the Committee, 
as set out in the charter, is to assist the 
Board in fulfilling its responsibilities 
relating to accounting and reporting 
practices of the Group. In particular, the 
Committee’s main responsibilities are to:

 Review and report to the Board on  
the annual report, the interim financial 
report and all other financial information 
published by the Group or released to 
the market.

 Assist the Board in reviewing the 
effectiveness of the organisation’s 
internal control environment. 

 Determine the scope of the internal 
audit function and ensure that its 
resources are adequate and used 
effectively, including co-ordination  
with external auditors.

 Oversee the effective operation of  
the risk management framework.

 Recommend to the Board the 
appointment, removal and 
remuneration of the external auditors, 
and review the terms of their 
engagement, and the scope and 
quality of the audit.

 Review and approve, within 
established procedures, and before 
commencement, the nature and 
scope of non-audit services being 
provided by the external auditors. 
These procedures include quantitative 
and qualitative thresholds for the 
review, and include all relatively 
significant projects.

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit 
Committee receives regular reports from 
management and the internal and 
external auditors. It also meets with the 
internal and external auditors at least 
three times a year – more frequently if 
necessary. The internal and external 
auditors have a clear line of direct 
communication at any time to either the 
Chairperson of the Audit Committee or 
the Chairperson of the Board.

The Remuneration Committee
The Board has established a 
Remuneration Committee which has  
two Directors as members, BJ Harker 
and GJC Swier. The role of the 
Remuneration Committee is formally 
recorded in a charter document 
approved by the Board of Directors.

The primary objectives of the 
Remuneration Committee are to: 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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 Help enable the Company to attract, 
retain and motivate executives and 
Directors who will create value for 
shareholders.

 Fairly and reasonably reward 
executives having regard to the 
performance of the Company, the 
performance of the executives and the 
general pay environment.

 Help the Company comply with the 
provisions of the Employment 
Relations Act 2000, the Companies 
Act 1993, the NZX Listing Rules and 
any other relevant legal requirements.

The responsibilities of the Committee 
include:
 Reviewing and recommending to the 

Board for approval the remuneration 
policy for Directors and senior 
executives and ensuring that the 
structure of the policy allows the 
Company to attract and retain 
Directors and senior executives of 
sufficient calibre to facilitate the 
efficient and effective management of 
the Company’s operations.

 Annual review and recommendation  
to the Board for approval of the 
remuneration packages of all Directors 
and senior executives of the Company.

 With reference to the Board, managing 
the employment or removal of the 
Chief Executive and negotiation of 
employment terms.

 Participation in the process of 
employment of the Chief Financial 
Officer and recommendation to the 
Board of its confidence in any 
appointment.

 Establishment of appropriate 
performance criteria, from time to 
time, for short and long term employee 
incentive schemes and to make 
recommendations to the Board. 

Other Sub Committees
The Board has established a sub 
committee including BJ Harker,  
MJ Cooney and IS Knowles to oversee 
any transaction to be undertaken by  
the Company in relation to on-market 
share buybacks.

Review of Board Performance
An annual review of the performance  
of the Board and individual Directors is 
undertaken by the Chairman. This review 
is facilitated by an independent 
consultant and incorporates the 
feedback of all Directors.

Compliance with nZX Corporate 
Governance Best Practice Code  
and Other Guidelines
As a listed issuer TrustPower is required 
to disclose in its Annual Report whether, 
and to what extent, its corporate 
governance principles materially differ 
from the NZX Corporate Governance 
Best Practice Code.

TrustPower believes that it complies  
in all material respects with the Code. 
However, it should be noted that the 
TrustPower Board has chosen not to 
constitute a Nominations Committee as 
recommended by the Code. The Board 
has decided that Director nominations 
are able to be handled more effectively 
by the full Board.

Code of Ethics
A Code of Ethics has been developed 
and approved by the Board. TrustPower 
is committed to maintaining the highest 
standards of honesty, integrity and ethical 
conduct and has adopted a Code of Ethics 
to deter wrongdoing and to promote:
 Honest and ethical conduct, including 

the ethical handling of actual or 
apparent conflicts of interest between 
personal and professional relationships.

 Full, fair, accurate, timely and 
understandable disclosure in reports 
and documents filed by the Company 
and in other public communications 
made by the Company.

 Compliance with applicable laws, 
rules and regulations.

 Internal reporting to the Board of 
Directors of violations of this Code  
of Ethics.

 Accountability for adherence to the 
Code of Ethics.

The Code of Ethics is not an exhaustive 
list of acceptable or non-acceptable 

behaviour, rather it is intended to guide 
decisions so they are consistent with 
TrustPower’s values, business goals and 
legal and policy obligations.

Failure to follow the Code of Ethics 
may lead to disciplinary action being 
taken, which may include dismissal.  
The Code of Ethics applies to the Board of 
Directors and the Company’s employees.

Internal Control
The Group has adopted a system of 
internal control. The system is based upon 
written procedures, policies, guidelines 
and organisational structures that provide 
an appropriate division of responsibility, 
sound risk management, a programme 
of internal audit, and the careful selection 
and training of qualified personnel.

While the Board acknowledges that  
it is responsible for the overall control 
framework of the Group, it recognises that 
no cost effective internal control system 
will preclude all errors and irregularities.

Risk Management
The Group has developed a 
comprehensive, enterprise-wide risk 
management framework. Management 
actively participate in the identification, 
assessment, and monitoring of new and 
existing risks. Particular attention is given 
to market risks that could impact on the 
Group. Management undertake regular 
reporting to appraise the Audit Committee 
and the Board of the Company’s risks 
and the treatment of those risks.

The Audit Committee reviews and if 
considered satisfactory, recommends for 
approval by the Board annually, the 
Company’s insurance programme.

Wholesale Electricity Trading Policy
The Group has adopted a Wholesale 
Electricity Trading Policy to manage the 
risk relating to the purchasing of electricity 
from the wholesale electricity market. 
Derivative instruments can be used to set 
the price of electricity at a future nominated 
time. The Wholesale Electricity Trading 
Policy allows wholesale electricity trading 
to occur within risk limits set by the Board.
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Treasury Policy
The Group has a Board approved 
Treasury Policy to manage finance, 
interest rate, foreign exchange and 
foreign investment risks. The Policy 
approves the use of certain instruments 
for risk management purposes, and it 
prohibits any activity that is purely 
speculative in nature. It also sets out 
exposure limits, delegated authorities 
and internal controls. The Policy is 
reviewed by management annually and 
independently every three years.

Delegated Authorities Policy
The Group has a Delegated Authorities 
Policy in place that has been approved 
by the Board. The Policy provides limited 
authority to certain Group executives to 
purchase goods and services, enter into 
sales contracts and approve credit, sign 
deeds, indemnities and guarantees, and 
sign other contracts and documents. 
The Policy is reviewed annually.

Environmental Policy
The Group recognises the importance of 
environmental issues and is committed 
to the highest levels of performance.  
To help meet this objective the Group 
has developed and is proactively 
implementing both environmental policies 
and a comprehensive environmental 
management system. These have been 
established to facilitate the systematic 
identification of environmental issues 
and to ensure that they are managed in 
a structured manner. These measures 
allow the Group to:
 Monitor its compliance with all 

relevant legislation.
 Continually assess and improve  

the impact of its operations on the 
environment.

 Encourage employees to actively 
participate in the management of 
environmental issues.

 Use energy and other resources 
efficiently.

 Encourage the adoption of similar 
standards by the Group’s principal 
suppliers, contractors and distributors.

 Ensure procedures are in place to 
appropriately deal with any adverse 
environmental event that may occur.

Group Information Policy
The following is the Group’s policy 
regarding the disclosure of Group 
information:

No Director of the Group may disclose 
information which that Director has 
received in his or her capacity as a 
Director or employee of the Group, being 
information that would not otherwise be 
available to the Director, to
(a) a person whose interests that Director 

represents; or
(b) a person in accordance with whose 

directions or instructions the Director 
may be required, or is accustomed to 
act in relation to the Director’s powers 
and duties,

without the prior consent of a 
Subcommittee of the Board established 
to authorise the disclosure. 

Conflicts of Interest
Where any TrustPower Director has  
a conflict of interest or is otherwise 
interested in any transaction, that Director 
is required to disclose his or her conflict of 
interest, and thereafter neither participate 
in the discussion nor vote in relation to the 
relevant matter. The Company maintains 
a register of disclosed interests.

Insider Trading
In order to protect TrustPower’s reputation 
and safeguard employees who may want 
to buy or sell TrustPower securities, the 
Company’s Securities Trading Policy 
requires an approved procedure to be 
followed by all staff and Directors. 
Certain employees of the Company are 
required to make additional disclosures 
under the Securities Markets Act 1988.

Whistleblowing Policy
TrustPower has established a 
Whistleblowing Policy in order to 
facilitate the disclosure and impartial 
investigation of any serious wrongdoing. 
This policy advises employees of their 

right to disclose serious wrongdoing, 
and sets out TrustPower’s internal 
procedures for receiving and dealing 
with such disclosures. The policy is 
consistent with, and facilitates, the 
Protected Disclosures Act 2000.

Other Corporate Policies
The Group has a number of other 
policies covering but not limited to 
human resource activities, health and 
safety, buildings and security, and 
disaster recovery planning. These 
policies are regularly reviewed and 
approved by senior management and 
where appropriate the Board.

Internal Audit
The Group has established an outsourced 
internal audit function that is responsible 
for monitoring the Group’s system of 
internal financial control and the integrity 
of the financial information reported to 
the Board. Internal audit operates 
independently from the Board and reports 
its findings directly to the Audit Committee. 
Internal audit liaises closely with the 
external auditors, who review the internal 
audit work undertaken to the extent 
necessary to support their audit opinion. 

The Role of Shareholders
The Board aims to ensure that 
shareholders are informed of all major 
developments affecting the Group’s state 
of affairs. Information is communicated to 
shareholders in the annual, interim reports, 
and various announcements to NZX. 
Quarterly operational information is also 
provided following the end of each quarter 
via NZX announcement. The Board 
encourages full participation of 
shareholders at the annual meeting to 
ensure a high level of accountability and 
identification with the Group’s strategies 
and goals.
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The Directors are pleased to present the 
financial statements of TrustPower Limited and 
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2011. 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring 
that the financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the financial position of the Company 
and the Group as at 31 March 2011 and their 
financial performance and cash flows for the 
year ended on that date. 

The Directors consider that the financial 
statements of the Company and the Group have 
been prepared using appropriate accounting 
policies, consistently applied and supported by 

reasonable judgements and estimates and that 
all relevant financial reporting and accounting 
standards have been followed. 

The Directors believe that proper accounting 
records have been kept that enable, with 
reasonable accuracy, the determination of the 
financial positions of the Company and the 
Group and facilitate compliance of the financial 

statements with the Financial Reporting Act 1993. 
The Directors consider they have taken 

adequate steps to safeguard the assets of the 
Company and the Group to prevent and detect 
fraud and other irregularities.

BJ Harker - Chairman

GJC Swier - Director

Company Registration Number HN604040

Dated: 13 May 2011

DIRECTORS'
RESPONSIBILITY
STATEMENT
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 188 Quay Street, Private Bag 92162, Auckland 1142, New Zealand 
T: +64 (9) 355 8000, F: +64 (9) 355 8001, www.pwc.com/nz 

Independent Auditors’ Report  
to the shareholders of TrustPower Limited 
 
  
Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the financial statements of TrustPower Limited on pages 45 to 79, which comprise the statements of 
financial position as at 31 March 2011, the income statements, statements of comprehensive income and statements of 
changes in equity and cash flow statements for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements that 
include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information for both the Company and the 
Group. The Group comprises the Company and the entities it controlled at 31 March 2011 or from time to time during 
the financial year. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practice in New Zealand and that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate and for such 
internal controls as the Directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) and International Standards on Auditing. These 
standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers the internal controls relevant to the Company and Group’s preparation of financial statements that 
give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate, in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company and Group’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
We have no relationship with, or interests in, TrustPower Limited or any of its subsidiaries other than in our capacities 
as auditors, tax advisors and providers of financial advisory services. These matters have not impaired our independence 
as auditors of the Company and Group. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 45 to 79: 

(i) comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; 
(ii) comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and 
(iii) give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2011 and 

their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
We also report in accordance with Sections 16(1)(d) and 16(1)(e) of the Financial Reporting Act 1993. In relation to our 
audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011: 

(i) we have obtained all the information and explanations that we have required; and 
(ii) in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as appears from an 

examination of those records. 
 
Restriction on Distribution or Use 
This report is made solely to the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 205(1) of the Companies 
Act 1993. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s shareholders those matters 
which we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s shareholders, as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
 
Chartered Accountants Auckland  
13 May 2011 
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements

Income Statements

GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

For the year ended 31 March 2011 Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Operating Revenue

Electricity revenue 6  722,965  717,349  692,008  682,766 

Carbon revenue  8,928  9,654  8,928  9,654 

Meter rental revenue  6,051  5,221  6,051  5,221 

Other customer fees and charges  3,391  3,800  3,391  3,800 

Telecommunications sales  22,237  19,672  22,237  19,672 

Other operating revenue  2,471  3,591  2,607  2,248 

 766,043  759,287  735,222  723,361 

Operating Expenses

Energy costs  142,966  136,893  142,966  136,893 

Generation production costs  33,579  35,787  27,774  30,275 

Line costs  221,956  223,027  221,956  223,027 

Market fees and costs  13,550  13,851  13,520  13,820 

Meter rental costs  3,760  3,237  3,760  3,237 

Other customer connection costs  1,983  2,053  1,983  2,053 

Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment  98  549  91  549 

Employee benefits  30,111  28,734  27,784  26,646 

Telecommunications cost of sales  17,572  15,549  17,572  15,549 

Other operating expenses 7  26,055  25,726  46,820  45,643 

 491,630  485,406  504,226  497,692 

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, Amortisation, Fair value  
Movements of Financial Instruments and Asset Impairments (EBITDAF)

 274,413  273,881  230,996  225,669 

Impairment of assets 8  -  6,120  1,430  7,885 

Fair value (gains)/losses on financial instruments 9  (62)  (12,509)  590  (3,537)

Amortisation of intangible assets 23  5,547  5,657  5,547  5,657 

Depreciation 21  49,324  49,358  14,977  14,788 

Operating Profit  219,604  225,255  208,452  200,876 

Interest paid 10  62,746  59,100  47,506  46,078 

Interest received 10  (917)  (385)  (1,400)  (1,190)

Net finance costs  61,829  58,715  46,106  44,888 

Profit Before Income Tax  157,775  166,540  162,346  155,988 

Income tax expense 11  45,406  47,127  55,213  48,356 

Profit After Tax Attributable to the Shareholders of the Company  112,369  119,413  107,133  107,632 

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 4  35.7  37.8  34.0  34.1 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 4  35.6  37.8  34.0  34.1 
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Statements of Comprehensive Income

GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

For the year ended 31 March 2011 Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Profit after tax attributable to the shareholders of the Company  112,369  119,413  107,133  107,632 

Other Comprehensive Income

Fair value gains/(losses) on generation assets 14  -  (159)  -  - 

Currency translation differences on revaluation reserve 14  1,806  3,719  -  - 

Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 16  (33,025)  23,746  (33,025)  23,746 

Other currency translation differences 17  2,767  5,344  -  - 

Movements in employee share option reserve 17  (90)  160  (90)  160 

Tax effect of the following:

Fair value gains on generation assets 14  -  1,865  -  1,557 

Disposal of revalued assets 14  62  -  62  - 

Fair value gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges 16  9,970  (7,182)  9,970  (7,182)

Other currency translation differences 17  2,692  3,413  -  - 

Effect of the change in corporate tax rate on the following:

Revaluation reserve  11,251  -  9,600  - 

Cash flow hedge reserve  (223)  -  (223)  - 

Foreign currency translation reserve  (530)  -  -  - 

Total Other Comprehensive Income  (5,320)  30,906  (13,706)  18,281 

Total Comprehensive Income  107,049  150,319  93,427  125,913 

Statements of Changes in Equity

GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

For the year ended 31 March 2011 Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Total Comprehensive Income  107,049  150,319  93,427  125,913 

Issue of shares pursuant to the employee share option scheme 13  -  1,707  -  1,707 

Own shares purchased 13  (6,001)  -  (6,001)  - 

Dividends paid 12  (119,703)  (144,949)  (119,703)  (144,949)

Total Movements in Equity  (18,655)  7,077  (32,277)  (17,329)

Equity at the beginning of the year  1,437,146  1,430,069  1,205,255  1,222,584 

Equity at the end of the year  1,418,491  1,437,146  1,172,978  1,205,255 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Statements of Financial Position

GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

As at 31 March 2011 Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of the Company

Share capital 13  170,750  176,751  170,750  176,751 

Revaluation reserve 14  880,391  867,493  705,806  696,365 

Retained earnings 15  355,319  362,432  304,191  316,540 

Cash flow hedge reserve 16  (7,872)  15,406  (7,872)  15,406 

Other reserves 17  19,903  15,064  103  193 

Total Equity  1,418,491  1,437,146  1,172,978  1,205,255 

Represented by:

Current Assets

Cash at bank 18  12,568  9,492  1,429  3,868 

Bond deposits on trust  2,000  2,300  2,000  2,300 

Electricity market security deposits  1,234  -  1,234  - 

Accounts receivable and prepayments 19  102,473  117,453  95,601  111,604 

Derivative financial instruments 20  2,949  5,182  2,949  5,182 

Taxation receivable  3,925  -  -  - 

 125,149  134,427  103,213  122,954 

non Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 21  2,435,783  2,366,252  1,626,487  1,546,599 

Derivative financial instruments 20  5,756  20,340  5,465  19,499 

Investments in subsidiaries 22  -  -  305,233  326,409 

Other investments  4,373  2,195  1,808  8 

Intangible assets 23  34,411  35,583  34,411  35,583 

 2,480,323  2,424,370  1,973,404  1,928,098 

Total Assets  2,605,472  2,558,797  2,076,617  2,051,052 

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accruals 24  91,092  103,831  90,219  102,748 

Unsecured bank loans 25  -  193,904  -  - 

Derivative financial instruments 20  5,201  4,287  5,201  3,809 

Taxation payable  4,186  7,078  4,060  6,439 

 100,479  309,100  99,480  112,996 

non Current Liabilities

Unsecured bank loans 25  336,327  142,943  132,700  142,943 

Unsecured subordinated bonds 26  261,742  261,206  261,742  261,206 

Unsecured senior bonds 27  211,518  137,518  211,518  137,518 

Derivative financial instruments 20  19,599  4,361  18,107  2,415 

Deferred tax liability 28  257,316  266,523  180,092  188,719 

 1,086,502  812,551  804,159  732,801 

Total Liabilities  1,186,981  1,121,651  903,639  845,797 

net Assets  1,418,491  1,437,146  1,172,978  1,205,255 

Net Tangible Assets Per Share  $4.40  $4.44  $3.62  $3.71 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Cash Flow Statements

GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

For the year ended 31 March 2011 Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash was provided from:

Receipts from customers  814,813  758,427  784,475  723,003 

 814,813  758,427  784,475  723,003 
Cash was applied to:

Payments to suppliers and employees  549,523  493,004  539,369  483,078 

Taxation paid  41,252  31,314  41,219  31,219 

 590,775  524,318  580,588  514,297 

net Cash from Operating Activities 29  224,038  234,109  203,887  208,706 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Cash was provided from:

Sale of property, plant and equipment  593  243  574  224 

Return of bond deposits on trust  300  400  300  400 

Return of electricity market security deposits  266  -  266  - 

Return of advances from subsidiaries  -  -  1,916  19,550 

Subsidiary purchased  -  1  -  - 

Interest received  907  559  1,400  17 

Sale of investments  -  -  -  - 

 2,066  1,203  4,456  20,191 
Cash was applied to:

Advances to subsidiaries  -  -  10,017  13,704 

Purchase of subsidiary  -  -  -  350 

Interest capitalised in construction of property, plant and equipment  1,466  -  1,466  - 

Lodgement of electricity market security deposits  1,500  -  1,500  - 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  89,488  33,886  82,328  15,692 

Purchase of other investments  2,179  1,674  1,800  8 

Purchase of intangible assets  4,384  7,886  4,384  7,886 

 99,017  43,446  101,495  37,640 

net Cash used in Investing Activities  (96,951)  (42,243)  (97,039)  (17,449)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Cash was provided from:

Bank loan proceeds  118,639  79,700  115,890  79,700 

Senior bond issue proceeds  75,000  140,000  75,000  140,000 

Issue of shares  -  1,707  -  1,707 

 193,639  221,407  190,890  221,407 
Cash was applied to:

Bond brokerage costs  1,516  2,630  1,516  2,630 

Purchase of own shares  6,001  -  6,001  - 

Loan establishment costs  2,250  -  2,250  - 

Repayment of bank loans  126,976  227,149  124,261  222,122 

Interest paid  61,712  57,759  46,446  43,562 

Dividends paid  119,703  144,949  119,703  144,949 

 318,158  432,487  300,177  413,263 

net Cash used in Financing Activities  (124,519)  (211,080)  (109,287)  (191,856)

net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash, Cash Equivalents and Bank Overdrafts  2,568  (19,214)  (2,439)  (599)

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at beginning of the year  9,492  27,416  3,868  4,467 

Exchange gains/(losses) on cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts  508  1,290  -  - 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Bank Overdrafts at End of the Year  12,568  9,492  1,429  3,868 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2011 

Note 1: General information
Reporting Entity

The principal activities of TrustPower Limited (the Company or Parent) and its 
subsidiaries (together the Group) are the development, ownership and 
operation of electricity generation facilities from renewable energy sources and 
the retail sale of electricity and telecommunications services to its customers. 
All significant operations take place within New Zealand and Australia.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in  
New Zealand. The address of its registered office is Truman Lane, Te Maunga, 
Mount Maunganui. The Company is listed on the New Zealand Stock Exchange.

These financial statements relate to the year ended 31 March 2011 and have 
been approved for issue by the Board of Directors (the Board) on 13 May 2011.

Note 2: statement of Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these audited 
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation
These audited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (NZGAAP). They comply 
with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(NZ IFRS), International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and other 
applicable New Zealand Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate for 
profit-oriented entities.

Entities reporting

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are for the economic entity 
comprising TrustPower Limited and its subsidiaries. The consolidated entity is 
designated as a profit-oriented entity for financial reporting purposes.

Statutory base

TrustPower Limited is registered under the Companies Act 1993 and is an 
issuer in terms of the Financial Reporting Act 1993. The financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial 
Reporting Act 1993 and the Companies Act 1993.

Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention, as modified by the revaluation of generation assets, derivative 
financial instruments, unsold emission rights and employee share options which 
are stated at fair value.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with NZ IFRS requires the 
Group to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income 
and expenses. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, 
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements are disclosed in note 37.

Functional and Presentation Currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are 
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements 
are presented in ‘New Zealand Dollars’ (NZD), which is the Company’s 
functional and the Group’s presentation currency. 

2.2 Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more 
than one half of the voting rights. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group and they are no longer 
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of 
subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair 
values of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or 
assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially 

at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority 
interest. The excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s 
share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost 
of the acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary 
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions 
between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
but are considered as an impairment indicator of the assets transferred. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.3 segment Reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal 
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating 
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board.

2.4 trade Receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. 
A provision for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to 
the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The amount of the 
impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. The criteria that the Group 
uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

•	 Significant	financial	difficulty	of	the	issuer	or	obligor;

•	 A	breach	of	contract,	such	as	a	default	or	delinquency	in	interest	or	 
principal payments;

•	 The	Group,	for	economic	or	legal	reasons	relating	to	the	borrower’s	financial	
difficulty, granting to the borrower a concession that the lender would not 
otherwise consider; and

•	 It	becomes	probable	that	the	borrower	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	other	 
financial reorganisation.

2.5 Financial Assets
The Group classifies all of its investments as financial assets at fair value through 
the profit or loss, held to maturity financial assets or loans and receivables. The 
classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition. 

Financial assets at fair value through the profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through the profit or loss are financial assets held 
for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if it is acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are classified 
as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this 
category are classified as non-current assets where the remaining maturity of 
the asset is greater than 12 months; they are classified as current assets when 
the remaining maturity of the asset is less than 12 months.

Held to maturity financial assets

Held to maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturities, other than those that meet the 
definition of loans and receivables, that the Group's management has the 
positive intention and ability to hold until maturity. These assets are recognised 
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, less any provision for impairment.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are 
included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. 
Advances to New Zealand based subsidiaries are interest free while advances 
to overseas based subsidiaries incur interest at a market rate.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the 
trade-date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the 
asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for 

49

TRUSTPOWER 
ANNUAL REPORT 2011



all financial assets not carried at fair value through the profit or loss. Financial 
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair 
value, and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. Financial 
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has 
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

Subsequent measurement

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at 
fair value. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss’ category are presented in the income statement, 
within fair value movements of financial instruments, in the period in which they 
arise. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is 
recognised in the income statement as part of other income when the Group’s 
right to receive payments is established.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the 
market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the Group 
establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of 
recent arms length transactions, reference to other instruments that are 
substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing 
models, making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible 
on entity-specific inputs.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
impaired. Impairment testing of trade receivables is described in note 2.4.

2.6 Property, Plant and equipment
Generation assets are shown at fair value, based on at least three-yearly 
valuations by independent external valuers, less subsequent depreciation.  
This valuation is reviewed annually and if it is considered that there has been  
a material change then a new independent valuation is undertaken. Any 
accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated against  
the gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the 
revalued amount of the asset. All other property is stated at historical cost less 
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any 
gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of 
property, plant and equipment.

The cost of assets constructed by the Group, including capital work in 
progress, includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct labour 
specifically associated, resource management consent renewal costs, and an 
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads. Financing costs on 
uncompleted capital work in progress are capitalised at the specific project 
finance interest rate, where these meet certain time and monetary materiality 
limits. Costs cease to be capitalised as soon as the asset is ready for 
productive use and do not include any inefficiency costs.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as 
a separate asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of any replaced item is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance 
are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they 
are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of generation assets are 
credited to the revaluation reserve in equity. Decreases that offset previous 
increases of the same asset are charged against the revaluation reserve directly 
in equity. All other decreases are charged to the income statement.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on all other property, plant and 
equipment is calculated using the straight-line method at rates calculated to 
allocate each asset's cost over its estimated useful life. Depreciation is charged 
on a straight line basis as follows: 

Freehold buildings 2% Generation assets 0.5-8% 
Metering equipment 5% Plant and equipment 10-33%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount 
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with 
the carrying amount and are recognised within loss/(gain) on sale of property, 
plant and equipment, in the income statement. When revalued assets are sold, 
the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained earnings.

2.7 investment in subsidiaries
Investments in, and advances to, subsidiaries are recorded at cost less any 
impairment writedowns.

2.8 emission Rights
The Group receives tradable emission rights from specific energy production 
levels of certain renewable generation facilities. The future revenue arising from 
the sale of these emission rights is a key matter in deciding whether to proceed 
with construction of the generation facility and is considered to be part of the 
value of the generation assets recorded in the statement of financial position. 

Emission rights produced are recognised in the statement of financial position if 
the right has been verified, it is probable that expected future economic benefits 
will flow to the Group, and the rights can be measured reliably. Emission rights 
are initially measured at cost. After initial recognition, the emission rights are 
carried at fair value with any changes taken to the income statement. Fair value 
is determined by reference to an active market. If the emission rights cannot be 
valued because there is no active market, the emission rights are carried at cost 
less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 

2.9 intangible Assets

Customer base assets

Costs incurred in acquiring customers from other electricity supply companies 
and telecommunications companies are recorded as a customer base 
intangible asset. The customer bases are amortised on a straight line basis over 
the period of expected benefit. This period has been assessed as 20 years for 
electricity customer bases and 5 years for telecommunication customer bases. 
These useful lives are reviewed annually with reference to historical levels of 
churn experienced in the relevant markets. The carrying value of the customer 
bases is reviewed annually by the Directors and adjusted where it is considered 
necessary. The carrying values are reviewed with reference to the expected 
future cash flows from these customers. The expected future cash flows are 
produced via internal forecasting. 

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs 
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are 
amortised over three years on a straight line basis except for major pieces of 
billing system software which are amortised over no more than seven years on 
a straight line basis.

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer programmes are 
recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with 
the development of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the 
Group, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs for 
more than one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Costs include the 
employee costs incurred as a result of developing software and an appropriate 
portion of relevant overheads. Computer software development costs 
recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives (not 
exceeding three years). 

All of the Group's intangible assets have finite lives.

2.10 Revenue Recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or receivable for  
the sale of electricity, telecommunications and related services in the ordinary 
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of goods and services 
tax, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

Customer consumption of electricity is measured and billed by calendar month 
for half hourly metered customers and in line with meter reading schedules for 
non-half hourly metered customers. Accordingly revenues from electricity sales 
include an estimated accrual for units sold but not billed at the end of the 
reporting period for non-half hourly metered customers. 

Customer consumption of telecommunications services is measured and  
billed according to monthly billing cycles. Accordingly revenues from 
telecommunications services provided include an estimated accrual for  
services provided but not billed at the end of the reporting period.

Meter rental revenue is charged and recognised on a per day basis.

Other customer fees and charges are recognised when the service is provided.

Operating lease revenue earned by Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd is recognised 
when the services have been performed under the terms of the arrangement. 
Refer to note 6 for further details.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective 
interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
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2.11 employee entitlements
Employee entitlements to salaries and wages, non monetary benefits, annual 
leave and other benefits are recognised when they accrue to employees. This 
includes the estimated liability for salaries and wages, annual leave and sick leave 
as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period. 

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The fair 
value of the employee services received in exchange for the granting of the options 
is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting 
period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted, excluding 
the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and 
sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions 
about the number of options that are expected to vest. At the end of each 
reporting period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates,  
if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are 
credited to share capital when the options are exercised.

The Group operates cash-settled share based incentive schemes for key 
management personnel of the Parent.

The Group recognises an expense and a liability as the employees render 
services over the vesting period at the fair value of the liability. Until the liability is 
settled, the Group re-measures the fair value of the liability at the end of each 
reporting period and at the date of settlement, with any changes in fair value 
recognised in profit or loss for the period. The fair value of the liability is 
measured taking into account the terms and conditions of the scheme. 

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a 
formula that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Company's 
shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision 
where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created  
a constructive obligation.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group 
before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination 
benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the 
employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without 
possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer 
made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than  
12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their  
present value.

2.12 Foreign currency translation
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are 
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which  
the entity operates (the functional currency). These financial statements are 
presented in New Zealand dollars, which is the Parent’s functional and 
presentation currency.

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are converted to New Zealand 
dollars at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 
and liabilities arising from foreign currency transactions are translated at closing 
rates at the end of the reporting period. Gains or losses from currency 
translation on these items are included in the income statement.

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the 
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency 
different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation 
currency as follows:

•	 assets	and	liabilities	for	each	statement	of	financial	position	presented	are	
translated at the closing rate at the end of the reporting period

•	 income	and	expenses	for	each	income	statement	are	translated	at	average	
exchange rates

•	 all	resulting	exchange	rate	differences	are	recognised	as	a	separate	
component of equity.

On consolidation, foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of 
the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings and other currency 
instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to the foreign 
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or 
sold, such foreign exchange differences are recognised in the income 
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

2.13 Generation Development
The Group incurs costs in the exploration, evaluation, consenting and construction 
of generation assets. Costs incurred are expensed in the income statement 
unless such costs are highly likely to be recouped through successful development 
of, and generation of electricity from, a particular project. Where costs meet this 
criteria and are capitalised they will ultimately be amortised over the estimated 
useful life of a project once it is completed. The Directors review the status of 
capitalised development expenditure on a regular basis and in the event that a 
project is abandoned, or if the Directors consider the expenditure to be impaired, 
a write off or provision is made in the year in which that assessment is made. 

2.14 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs 
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference 
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is 
recognised in the income statement over the term of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period.

2.15 insurance 
The Group has property, plant and equipment, which is predominately 
concentrated at power station locations, that has the potential to sustain major 
losses through damage to plant with resultant consequential costs.

To minimise the financial impact of such exposures, the major portion of the  
risk is insured by taking out appropriate insurance policies with appropriate 
counterparties. Any uninsured loss is recognised in the income statement at  
the time the loss is incurred.

2.16 impairment of Non-Financial Assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example land, are not subject to 
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject  
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Assets other than 
goodwill that suffer an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

2.17 cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with 
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of  
three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

2.18 cash Flow statement
The following are the definitions used in the cash flow statement:

•	 cash	is	considered	to	be	cash	on	hand	and	deposits	held	at	call	with	banks,	
net of bank overdrafts

•	 operating	activities	include	all	activities	that	are	not	investing	or	financing	
activities

•	 investing	activities	are	those	activities	relating	to	the	acquisition,	holding	and	
disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investments

•	 financing	activities	are	those	activities,	which	result	in	changes	in	the	size	and	
composition of the capital structure of the Group. This includes both equity 
and debt not falling within the definition of cash. Dividends paid in relation to 
the capital structure are included in financing activities.

2.19 Goods and services tax (Gst)
The income statement and cash flow statement have been prepared so that all 
components are stated exclusive of GST. All items in the statement of financial 
position are stated exclusive of GST, with the exception of billed receivables 
and payables which include GST invoiced.

2.20 income tax
The income tax expense comprises both current and deferred tax. Income tax 
is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised directly in equity, in which case the income tax is recognised 
directly in equity.
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Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the financial statements. The following temporary 
differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a 
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) 
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting 
period and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax liability (asset)  
is settled (realised).

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can  
be utilised.

2.21 Derivative Financial instruments and Hedging Activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract 
is entered into and are periodically remeasured at their fair value. The method of 
recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is 
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being 
hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as one of the following:

•	 hedges	of	the	fair	value	of	recognised	assets,	liabilities	or	a	firm	commitment	
(fair value hedge)

•	 hedges	of	highly	probable	forecast	transactions	(cash	flow	hedges)

•	 hedges	of	net	investments	in	foreign	operations.

The Group documents, at the inception of the transaction, the relationship 
between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management 
objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Group 
also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing 
basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly 
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.  
The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are 
disclosed in note 20. Movements on the cash flow hedge reserve in equity are 
shown in the statement of comprehensive income. The full fair value of a derivative 
is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the 
derivative is more than 12 months; it is classified as a current asset or liability 
when the remaining maturity of the derivative is less than 12 months. 

Fair value Hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value 
hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with any changes in the 
fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

Cash Flow Hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated 
and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating 
to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the 
periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. However, when the 
forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial 
asset, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from 
equity and included in the measurement of the cost of the asset.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer 
meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in 
equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the 
above policy when the transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction is no 
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in 
equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.

net Investment Hedge

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to 
cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the 
effective portion of the hedge is recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating to 
the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair 
value of these derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
are recognised immediately in the income statement.

2.22 share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable 
to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds. 

Where the Company purchases the Company's equity share capital (treasury 
stock), the consideration paid is deducted from equity attributable to the 
Company's equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where 
such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received is included 
in equity attributable to the Company's equity holders.

2.23 trade Payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.24 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are 
retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under 
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to 
the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.25 Dividend Distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability 
in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which the dividend is 
approved by the Board.

2.26 Other investments
Other investments include investments in non-group companies as well as 
insurance investments. Insurance investments include government stock and 
money market deposits. 

2.27 Adoption status of Relevant New Financial Reporting 
standards and interpretations
The following new standards and amendments to standards were applied 
during the period; 

nZ IFRS 3: Business Combinations (revised) and nZ IAS 27: 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Revised)

This amendment includes a number of updates including the requirement that 
all costs relating to a business combination must be expensed and subsequent 
re-measurement of the business combination must be put through the income 
statement. Both standards were required to be adopted at the same time. As 
the Group has had no transactions involving business combinations there has 
been no impact from the application of these new standards. 

nZ IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation (revised)

This amendment has clarified that share rights, warrants or options may be 
classified as equity instruments subject to certain criteria being satisfied.

Improvements to nZ IFRS 2009 

These improvements include certain amendments to NZ IFRS effective for 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 that have been made as part of 
the International Accounting Standards Board's annual improvements process.

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations of existing standards 
have been published that are mandatory for later periods and which the Group 
has not early adopted. These will be applied by the Group in the mandatory 
periods listed below. The key items applicable to the Group are:

nZ IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (mandatory for periods beginning  
on or after 1 January 2013)

This replaces the multiple classification and measurements models in IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurements with a single model that 
has only two classification categories: amortised cost and fair value. This will 
affect future financial statements through disclosure only.

nZ IAS 24: Related Parties Revised (mandatory for periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2011) 

Further clarifies the definition of a related party which may result in other related 
parties being identified. Management have reviewed the proposed clarification 
and do not expect that this will result in further related parties being identified 
for the Group.

Improvements to nZ IFRS 2010 

These improvements include various amendments effective for periods 
beginning on or after 1 July 2011 and are not expected to have a material 
impact on the financial statements.

There are no other standards, amendments or interpretations to existing 
standards which have been issued, but are not yet effective, which are 
expected to impact the Company or Group.
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Note 3: Underlying earnings After tax GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Profit After Tax Attributable to the Shareholders of the Company  112,369  119,413  107,133  107,632 

Fair value (gains) / losses on financial instruments 9  (62)  (12,509)  590  (3,537)

Impairment of software intangible asset 8  -  6,162  -  6,162 

Adjustments before income tax  (62)  (6,347)  590  2,625 

Change in income tax expense in relation to adjustments  19  3,753  (177)  1,061 

Tax credit for prior year adjustment  (1,849)  -  (1,849)  - 

Change in corporate tax rules 11  5,981  -  6,892  - 

Adjustments after income tax  4,089  (2,594)  5,456  3,686 

Underlying Earnings After Tax  116,458  116,819  112,589  111,318 

Underlying earnings after tax is presented to allow stakeholders to make an assessment and comparison of underlying earnings after removing the non-cash  
fair value movements in financial instruments, the effect of the change in corporate tax rules as well as impairment charges that management consider to be one 
off in nature.

Note 4: earnings Per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares  
on issue during the year. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares outstanding to assume conversion of all 
potential dilutive ordinary shares.

GROUP PAReNt

Note 2011 2010 2011 2010

Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company ($000)  112,369  119,413  107,133  107,632 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)  314,957  315,612  314,957  315,612 

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)  35.7  37.8  34.0  34.1 

Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company ($000)  112,369  119,413  107,133  107,632 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue plus share options outstanding (thousands)  315,237  315,892  315,237  315,892 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)  35.6  37.8  34.0  34.1 

Underlying earnings after tax ($000) 3  116,458  116,819  112,589  111,318 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands)  314,957  315,612  314,957  315,612 

Underlying earnings per share (cents per share)  37.0  37.0  35.7  35.3 

Underlying earnings after tax ($000) 3  116,458  116,819  112,589  111,318 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue plus share options outstanding (thousands)  315,237  315,892  315,237  315,892 

Diluted underlying earnings per share (cents per share)  36.9  37.0  35.7  35.2 

The share options outstanding referred to in the diluted earnings per share calculation relate to share options issued to certain employees.
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Note 5: segment information
As at 31 March 2011, the Group is organised into two main business segments:

•	development,	ownership	and	operation	of	electricity	generation	facilities	from	renewable	energy	sources	including	the	trading	of	energy	with	Retail	and	external	
parties (“Generation”)

•	purchase	of	energy	from	Generation	and	retail	sale	of	electricity	to	customers	(“Retail”)

The remaining activities of the Group are included in Other. This primarily relates to property services and some unallocated head office functions.

The Board has further segregated Generation into New Zealand and Australian operations. Generation New Zealand includes the metering business which does 
not meet the criteria to be disclosed as a separate operating segment. Retail operates only in New Zealand and includes telecommunications operations which do 
not meet the criteria to be disclosed as a separate operating segment.

The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2011 are as follows:

GeNeRAtiON 
 NeW ZeALAND 

GeNeRAtiON 
 AUstRALiA RetAiL OtHeR tOtAL 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Total segment revenue  213,208  30,937  701,096  2,261  947,502 
Inter-segment revenue  (179,474)  -  -  (1,985)  (181,459)

Revenue from external customers  33,734  30,937  701,096  276  766,043 

Adjusted EBITDAF  183,778  22,244  70,672  (1,935)  274,759 

Amortisation of intangible assets  -  -  3,808  1,739  5,547 
Depreciation  33,855  13,676  -  1,793  49,324 
Capital expenditure  101,992  602  -  5,881  108,475 
Asset impairment  -  -  -  -  - 

The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2010 are as follows:

Total segment revenue  192,016  35,970  686,394  2,261  916,641 
Inter-segment revenue  (155,177)  -  -  (2,177)  (157,354)
Revenue from external customers  36,839  35,970  686,394  84  759,287 

Adjusted EBITDAF  174,031  27,624  74,913  (2,051)  274,517 

Amortisation of intangible assets  -  -  3,808  1,849  5,657 
Depreciation  34,168  14,329  -  861  49,358 
Capital expenditure  19,012  82  -  10,175  29,269 
Asset impairment  -  (42)  -  6,162  6,120 

Inter-segment transactions are entered into under normal commercial terms and conditions that would also be available to unrelated third parties. The Board does 
not distinguish between revenue from internal or external customers when measuring the performance of segments. All revenue is reported to the Board on a basis 
consistent with that used in the income statement.

The Board assesses the performance of segments based on a measure of adjusted EBITDAF. This measure excludes the effects of non-operational expenditure or 
gains such as loss/gain on disposal or impairments of property, plant and equipment, fair value changes in foreign currency financial assets/liabilities and costs of 
major business acquisitions.

Interest income and expenditure and taxation costs are not allocated to segments as these activities are managed at a Group level by a central treasury function.

The Board does not segregate assets and liabilities in assessing Group performance.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

A reconciliation of adjusted EBITDAF to profit before income tax is as follows:

GROUP

2011 2010

$000 $000

Adjusted EBITDAF  274,759  274,517 
Depreciation  (49,324)  (49,358)
Amortisation  (5,547)  (5,657)
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial instruments  62  12,509 
Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (248)  (87)
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  (98)  (549)
Impairment of assets  -  (6,120)
Interest received  917  385 
Interest paid  (62,746)  (59,100)

Profit before income tax  157,775  166,540 
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Note 6: electricity Revenue GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Electricity sales  694,459  686,726  692,008  682,766 

Electricity lease revenue  28,506  30,623  -  - 

 722,965  717,349  692,008  682,766 

Electricity lease revenue is revenue recognised in connection with Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd’s (a subsidiary of the Company) Power Purchase Agreement to 
sell 90% of all energy generated by the Snowtown Wind Farm to a significant Australian electricity retailer. This agreement has been deemed as an operating lease 
of the Wind Farm under NZ IFRS and all revenue under the contract accounted for as lease revenue. Because of the contract terms, in particular that the volume of 
energy supplied is variable dependent on the actual generation of the Snowtown Wind Farm, the future minimum payments under the term of the contract, that 
expires on 31 December 2018, are contingent in nature and therefore not able to be quantified.

Note 7: Other Operating expenses GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Audit fees and expenses  211  213  176  179 

Fees paid for other audit related services provided by the auditors*  78  33  78  33 

Fees paid for taxation advice, compliance and planning services provided by the auditors  205  81  205  81 

Bad debts written off 38  1,708  2,374  1,708  2,374 

Directors’ fees 34  613  511  613  511 

Donations  851  753  830  734 

Loss/(gain) on foreign exchange  240  87  284  (1,183)

Generation development expenditure  7,239  9,146  5,806  7,822 

Marketing expenditure  2,117  1,479  2,117  1,479 

Computer maintenance and support costs  3,115  2,622  3,115  2,622 

Other administration costs  9,427  8,316  10,996  9,633 

Rental and operating lease costs  251  111  20,892  21,358 

 26,055  25,726  46,820  45,643 

* Other audit related services provided by the auditors includes reviews of unaudited interim financial statements and assistance with cost of capital determination. 

Note 8: impairment of Assets GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment 21  -  (42)  -  - 

Impairment of software intangible asset 23  -  6,162  -  6,162 

Impairment of advances to subsidiaries 22  -  -  1,430  1,723 

 -  6,120  1,430  7,885 

The impairment of software intangible asset relates to the partial abandonment of a project to replace the Group’s billing software which relates to the  
‘Other’ segment as detailed in note 5. The recoverable amount of the asset has been determined as its value in use.

Note 9: Fair Value Gains/(Losses) on Financial instruments
The changes in the fair value of financial instruments recognised in the income statement and the cash flow hedge reserve for the year to 31 March 2011  
are summarised below:

GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Recognised in the income statement $000 $000 $000 $000

Interest rate derivatives  1,193  14,348  541  5,376 

Electricity price derivatives  (1,131)  (1,839)  (1,131)  (1,839)

Exchange rate derivatives  -  -  -  - 

 62  12,509  (590)  3,537 
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Note 9 continued GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve $000 $000 $000 $000

Interest rate derivatives  (921)  (68)  (921)  (68)

Electricity price derivatives  (32,008)  18,419  (32,008)  18,419 

Exchange rate derivatives  170  5,588  170  5,588 

 (32,759)  23,939  (32,759)  23,939 

Note 10: Finance income and costs GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Amortisation of debt issue costs  1,428  1,076  1,428  1,076 

Interest paid on unsecured bank loans  20,139  21,168  5,104  8,261 

Interest paid on unsecured subordinated bonds  22,281  22,281  22,281  22,281 

Interest paid on unsecured senior bonds  13,423  3,168  13,423  3,168 

Other interest costs and fees  6,941  11,407  6,736  11,292 

Interest capitalised in construction of property, plant and equipment  (1,466)  -  (1,466)  - 

Total Interest Paid  62,746  59,100  47,506  46,078 

Interest received on cash at bank  917  385  514  18 

Interest received on intercompany advances  -  -  886  1,172 

Total Interest Received  917  385  1,400  1,190 

The capitalisation rate ranged from 8.0% to 8.8% in the year to 31 March 2011. No interest was capitalised in the year to 31 March 2010.

Note 11: income tax expense GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Profit before income tax  157,775  166,540  162,346  155,988 

Tax on profit @ 30%  47,333  49,962  48,704  46,796 

Tax effect of non-assessable revenue  (4,309)  (1,833)  648  2,566 

Income tax over provided in prior year  (3,599)  (1,002)  (1,031)  (1,006)

Removal of tax depreciation on buildings  11,079  -  9,691  - 

Change in corporate income tax rate  (5,098)  -  (2,799)  - 

 45,406  47,127  55,213  48,356 

Represented by:

Current tax  32,758  35,094  44,431  43,002 

Deferred tax 28  12,648  12,033  10,782  5,354 

 45,406  47,127  55,213  48,356 

The 30% tax rate used above is the corporate tax rate payable by New Zealand corporate entities on taxable profit under New Zealand tax law.

The 2010 Budget contained two provisions which have had a material effect on the Group’s 2011 tax expense:

A decrease in the corporate income tax rate from 30 per cent to 28 per cent, effective from the income tax year ending 31 March 2012. As a result of this change, 
deferred tax has been restated to 28 per cent, as deferred tax is required to be recorded at the tax rate that will apply when the future tax liability is expected to 
crystallise. See note 14 for impact on revaluation reserve.

The removal of tax depreciation on buildings with estimated useful lives of 50 years or more. TrustPower will no longer be able to claim tax depreciation on 
buildings from its income tax year ending 31 March 2012. This has resulted in an increased deferred tax liability in respect of buildings completed before May 2010.
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Note 12: Dividends on Ordinary shares GROUP & PAReNt GROUP & PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Cents Per Share $000 $000

Dividends (forfeited)/reinstated  -  -  (117)  (113)

Final dividend prior year  19.0  17.0  59,948  53,590 

Interim dividend paid current year  19.0  19.0  59,872  59,948 

Special dividend paid current year  -  10.0  -  31,524 

Supplementary dividend paid  -  -  131  161 

Foreign investor tax credit  -  -  (131)  (161)

 38.0  46.0  119,703  144,949 

Final partially imputed dividend declared subsequent to the end of the reporting period  
payable 10 June 2011 to all shareholders on the register at 27 May 2011.  20.0  19.0  62,936  59,948 

Note 13: share capital GROUP & PAReNt GROUP & PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note 000’s of Shares $000 $000

Authorised and issued ordinary shares at beginning of year  315,516  315,236  176,751  174,754 

Own shares repurchased  (837)  -  (6,001)  - 

Transfer from employee share option reserve 17  -  -  -  290 

Issue of shares pursuant to the employee share option scheme  -  280  -  1,707 

 314,679  315,516  170,750  176,751 

All shares rank equally with one vote attached to each share, have no par value and are fully paid.

On 15 May 2008, the Company announced a resolution allowing it to buy back up to 5,000,000 of its own shares. As at 31 March 2011 1,073,000 shares had 
been purchased at a total cost of $7,633,000. All shares repurchased were purchased through the NZX stock exchange at market price (2010: 236,000 shares at 
a total cost of $1,634,000). As at 31 March 2011 none of these shares had been reissued or cancelled.

Note 14: Revaluation Reserve GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  867,493  862,370  696,365  695,110 

Revaluation of generation assets 21  -  (159)  -  - 

Transfer (to)/from deferred tax liability 28  62  1,865  62  1,557 

Transfer (to)/from retained earnings 15  (221)  (302)  (221)  (302)

Foreign exchange movements  1,806  3,719  -  - 

Tax effect of change in corporate tax rate  11,251  -  9,600  - 

 880,391  867,493  705,806  696,365 

There are no restrictions on the distribution of this reserve to the equity holders of the Company.

Note 15: Retained earnings GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  362,432  387,666  316,540  353,555 

Profit for the year  112,369  119,413  107,133  107,632 

Transfer (to)/from revaluation reserve 14  221  302  221  302 

Dividends on ordinary shares 12  (119,703)  (144,949)  (119,703)  (144,949)

 355,319  362,432  304,191  316,540 
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Note 16: cash Flow Hedge Reserve GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  15,406  (1,158)  15,406  (1,158)

Fair value gains/(losses)  (51,042)  12,869  (51,042)  12,869 

Tax on fair value (gains)/losses  15,375  (3,919)  15,375  (3,919)

Transfers to energy cost expense  17,849  11,036  17,849  11,036 

Tax on transfers to energy cost expense  (5,355)  (3,311)  (5,355)  (3,311)

Transfers to property, plant and equipment  (1,064)  -  (1,064)  - 

Tax on transfers to property, plant and equipment  319  -  319  - 

Transfers to carbon revenue  1,238  (209)  1,238  (209)

Tax on transfers to carbon revenue  (371)  63  (371)  63 

Transfers to interest paid  (6)  50  (6)  50 

Tax on transfers to interest paid  2  (15)  2  (15)

Effect of change in corporate tax rate  (223)  -  (223)  - 

 (7,872)  15,406  (7,872)  15,406 

Note 17: Other Reserves GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Balance at beginning of year  14,871  6,114  -  - 

Transfer to deferred tax  2,692  3,413  -  - 

Currency translation differences  2,767  5,344  -  - 

Effect of change in corporate tax rate  (530)  -  -  - 

 19,800  14,871  -  - 

Employee Share Option Reserve

Balance at beginning of year  193  323  193  323 

Transfer to share capital 13  -  (290)  -  (290)

Fair value movements charged to the income statement  (90)  160  (90)  160 

 103  193  103  193 

Total Other Reserves  19,903  15,064  103  193 

Note 18: cash, cash equivalents and Bank Overdraft GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Cash at bank  12,568  9,492  1,429  3,868 

 12,568  9,492  1,429  3,868 

Note 19: Accounts Receivable and Prepayments GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Billed debtors and unbilled sales  63,821  62,059  63,821  62,057 

Provision for doubtful debts 38  (1,800)  (2,000)  (1,800)  (2,000)

Electricity market receivables  18,880  32,369  18,106  28,732 

Other receivables  18,746  23,273  13,857  21,018 

Prepayments  2,826  1,752  1,617  1,797 

 102,473  117,453  95,601  111,604 
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Note 20: Derivative Financial instruments GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Current

Interest rate derivative assets  -  15  -  15 

Electricity price derivative assets  1,599  4,118  1,599  4,118 

Exchange rate derivative assets  1,350  1,049  1,350  1,049 

 2,949  5,182  2,949  5,182 

Interest rate derivative liabilities  -  3,175  -  2,697 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  5,201  1,112  5,201  1,112 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  -  -  - 

 5,201  4,287  5,201  3,809 

non-current

Interest rate derivative assets  3,635  3,903  3,344  3,062 

Electricity price derivative assets  164  14,348  164  14,348 

Exchange rate derivative assets  1,957  2,089  1,957  2,089 

 5,756  20,340  5,465  19,499 

Interest rate derivative liabilities  6,297  3,407  4,805  1,461 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  13,302  954  13,302  954 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  -  -  - 

 19,599  4,361  18,107  2,415 

See notes 37 and 38 for details on fair value estimation and details of the hedge relationships.

Note 21: Property, Plant and equipment GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Generation Assets

Balance at beginning of year

Fair value  2,326,464  2,305,641  1,487,035  1,488,162 

Cost  5,387  -  5,334  - 

Capital work in progress  13,150  7,701  10,598  6,385 

Accumulated depreciation  (44,625)  -  (9,728)  - 

 2,300,376  2,313,342  1,493,239  1,494,547 

Additions at cost  95,263  10,994  88,516  9,547 

Depreciation  (44,303)  (44,157)  (10,040)  (9,728)

Disposals at net book value  (1,047)  (661)  (986)  (661)

Foreign exchange movements  15,958  21,884  -  - 

Revaluations/transfers  802  (1,026)  152  (466)

Balance at end of year

Fair value  2,342,802  2,326,464  1,486,036  1,487,035 

Cost  15,776  5,387  13,303  5,334 

Capital work in progress  98,609  13,150  91,144  10,598 

Accumulated depreciation  (90,138)  (44,625)  (19,602)  (9,728)

 2,367,049  2,300,376  1,570,881  1,493,239 
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Note 21 continued GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Metering Equipment

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  68,481  64,840  68,481  64,840 

Accumulated depreciation  (36,082)  (33,277)  (36,082)  (33,277)

 32,399  31,563  32,399  31,563 

Additions at cost  4,270  3,600  4,270  3,600 

Depreciation  (2,981)  (2,804)  (2,981)  (2,804)

Disposals at net book value  -  -  -  - 

Transfers  1  40  1  40 

Balance at end of year

Cost  72,743  68,481  72,743  68,481 

Accumulated depreciation  (39,054)  (36,082)  (39,054)  (36,082)

 33,689  32,399  33,689  32,399 

Other Freehold Buildings

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  13,510  11,245  10,719  10,507 

Accumulated depreciation  (3,286)  (2,932)  (3,158)  (2,891)

 10,224  8,313  7,561  7,616 

Additions at cost  124  679  109  150 

Depreciation  (234)  (252)  (205)  (205)

Disposals at net book value  (48)  (4)  (48)  - 

Transfers  (99)  1,488 (1)  - 

Balance at end of year

Cost  13,428  13,510  10,762  10,719 

Accumulated depreciation  (3,461)  (3,286)  (3,346)  (3,158)

 9,967  10,224  7,416  7,561 

Other Freehold Land

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  14,663  14,042  6,270  6,492 

Additions at cost  2,159  2,241  1,400  - 

Disposals at cost  (183)  -  (183)  - 

Foreign exchange movements  2  -  -  - 

Transfers  (9)  (1,620)  (5)  (222)

Balance at end of year

Cost  16,632  14,663  7,482  6,270 

Other Plant and Equipment

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  19,730  15,366  18,168  15,970 

Accumulated depreciation  (11,140)  (9,730)  (11,038)  (9,721)

 8,590  5,636  7,130  6,249 

Additions at cost  2,275  3,869  1,921  2,991 

Depreciation  (1,806)  (2,145)  (1,751)  (2,051)

Disposals at net book value  (133)  (127)  (133)  (112)

Foreign exchange movements  56  4  -  - 

Transfers  (536)  1,353  (148)  53 

Balance at end of year

Cost  21,150  19,730  19,420  18,168 

Accumulated depreciation  (12,704)  (11,140)  (12,401)  (11,038)

 8,446  8,590  7,019  7,130 
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Note 21 continued GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010
$000 $000 $000 $000

Total

Balance at beginning of year

Fair value  2,326,464  2,305,641  1,487,035  1,488,162 

Cost  121,771  105,493  108,972  97,809 

Capital work in progress  13,150  7,701  10,598  6,385 

Accumulated depreciation  (95,133)  (45,939)  (60,006)  (45,889)

 2,366,252  2,372,896  1,546,599  1,546,467 

Additions at cost  104,091  21,383  96,216  16,288 

Depreciation  (49,324)  (49,358)  (14,977)  (14,788)

Disposals at net book value  (1,411)  (792)  (1,350)  (773)

Foreign exchange movements  16,014  21,888  -  - 

Revaluations/transfers  159  235 (1)  (595)

Balance at end of year

Fair value  2,342,802  2,326,464  1,486,036  1,487,035 

Cost  139,729  121,771  123,710  108,972 

Capital work in progress - generation assets  98,609  13,150  91,144  10,598 

Accumulated depreciation  (145,357)  (95,133)  (74,403)  (60,006)

 2,435,783  2,366,252  1,626,487  1,546,599 

If generation assets were stated on an historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows

Generation assets (at cost)  1,393,236  1,370,191  748,504  740,534 

Generation assets under construction (at cost)  98,609  13,150  91,144  10,598 

Generation assets accumulated depreciation  (261,470)  (216,481)  (128,043)  (118,003)

 1,230,375  1,166,860  711,605  633,129 

Generation assets include freehold land and buildings which are not separately identifiable from other generation assets. Generation assets were independently 
revalued, using a discounted cash flow methodology, as at 31 March 2009 to their estimated market value as assessed by Deloitte Corporate Finance.

Included in the capital work in progress as at 31 March 2011 are capitalised borrowing costs of $1,466,000 (2010: nil).

Note 22: investments in subsidiaries GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Shares at cost  -  -  64,987  64,987 

Net advances to subsidiaries  -  -  257,785  276,710 

Impairment of advances to subsidiaries 37  -  -  (17,539)  (15,288)

 -  -  305,233  326,409 

Significant subsidiaries (31 March balance dates) cOUNtRY OF iNcORPORAtiON % OWNeD PRiNciPAL ActiVitY 

Cobb Power Limited New Zealand 100 Asset holding 

TrustPower Oamaru Limited New Zealand 100 Call services operator 

Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd Australia 100 Generation development 

Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd Australia 100 Electricity generation 

Tararua Wind Power Limited New Zealand 100 Asset holding 

TrustPower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 Generation development 

TrustPower Australia (New Zealand) Limited New Zealand 100 Asset holding 

TrustPower Insurance Limited New Zealand 100 Insurance 

TrustPower Australia Financing Partnership Australia 100 Financing 

Esk Hydro Power Limited New Zealand 100 Generation development 
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Note 23: intangible Assets GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Customer Base Assets

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  64,994  64,994  64,994  64,994 

Accumulated amortisation  (36,736)  (32,928)  (36,736)  (32,928)

 28,258  32,066  28,258  32,066 

Additions at cost  -  -  -  - 

Amortisation  (3,808)  (3,808)  (3,808)  (3,808)

Disposals at net book value  -  -  -  - 

Balance at end of year

Cost  64,994  64,994  64,994  64,994 

Accumulated amortisation  (40,544)  (36,736)  (40,544)  (36,736)

 24,450  28,258  24,450  28,258 

Computer Software

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  22,861  21,122  22,861  21,122 

Accumulated amortisation  (15,536)  (13,672)  (15,536)  (13,672)

 7,325  7,450  7,325  7,450 

Additions at cost  4,384  7,886  4,384  7,886 

Amortisation  (1,739)  (1,849)  (1,739)  (1,849)

Impairment  -  (6,162)  -  (6,162)

Disposals at net book value  (8)  -  (8)  - 

Transfers (1)  - (1)  - 

Balance at end of year

Cost  27,236  22,861  27,236  22,861 

Accumulated amortisation  (17,275)  (15,536)  (17,275)  (15,536)

 9,961  7,325  9,961  7,325 

Total

Balance at beginning of year

Cost  87,855  86,116  87,855  86,116 

Accumulated amortisation  (52,272)  (46,600)  (52,272)  (46,600)

 35,583  39,516  35,583  39,516 

Additions at cost  4,384  7,886  4,384  7,886 

Amortisation  (5,547)  (5,657)  (5,547)  (5,657)

Impairment 8  -  (6,162)  -  (6,162)

Disposals at net book value  (8)  -  (8)  - 

Transfers (1)  - (1)  - 

Balance at end of year

Cost  92,230  87,855  92,230  87,855 

Accumulated amortisation  (57,819)  (52,272)  (57,819)  (52,272)

 34,411  35,583  34,411  35,583 

There are no individually material intangible assets included within the above. There are no material internally generated intangible assets or additions  
as a result of business combinations.
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Note 24: Accounts Payable and Accruals GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Capital expenditure accruals  11,728  -  11,728  - 

Customer bond deposits  1,862  2,181  1,862  2,181 

Electricity market payables  25,695  47,137  25,695  47,137 

Line cost accrual  1,035  2,723  1,035  2,723 

Employee entitlements  5,492  4,852  5,426  4,785 

Interest accruals  4,285  4,418  4,192  4,296 

Net GST payable  3,608  2,930  3,397  2,163 

Other accounts payable and accruals  11,875  10,197  11,385  10,082 

Trade accounts payable  25,512  29,393  25,499  29,381 

 91,092  103,831  90,219  102,748 

Note 25: Unsecured Bank Loans GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

New Zealand dollar facilities

Repayment terms:

One to two years  31,900  54,000  31,900  54,000 

Two to five years  -  -  -  - 

Over five years  105,432  91,104  105,432  91,104 

Facility establishment costs  (4,632)  (2,161)  (4,632)  (2,161)

 132,700  142,943  132,700  142,943 

Weighted average interest:

One to two years 3.1% 3.0% 3.1% 3.0%

Two to five years  -  -  -  - 

Over five years 3.5% 3.2% 3.5% 3.2%

3.4% 3.2% 3.4% 3.2%

Australian dollar facilities

Repayment terms:

Less than one year  -  193,904  -  - 

One to two years  -  -  -  - 

Two to five years  203,627  -  -  - 

Over five years  -  -  -  - 

Facility establishment costs  -  -  -  - 

 203,627  193,904  -  - 

Weighted average interest:

Less than one year  - 4.6%  -  - 

One to two years  -  -  -  - 

Two to five years 6.1%  -  -  - 

Over five years  -  -  -  - 

6.1% 4.6%  -  - 

Total bank loans  336,327  336,847  132,700  142,943 

Current portion  -  193,904  -  - 

Non-current portion  336,327  142,943  132,700  142,943 

 336,327  336,847  132,700  142,943 

Interest rates paid during the year ranged from 2.7% to 6.9%.

The Group has the following loan facilities with interest priced at between call and 180 day rates:

(i) $225,000,000 revolving loan expiring in under one year

(ii) $125,000,000 revolving loan expiring in one to two years

(iii) $83,182,000 table loan maturing in ten years

(iv) $22,250,000 table loan maturing in fifteen years

(v) AUD 180,000,000 revolving loan expiring in two to five years
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Note 25 continued
All of the Group’s borrowings are unsecured. The Group borrows under a negative pledge arrangement with its bank loan providers, which with limited exceptions 
does not permit the Group to grant any security interest over its assets. The negative pledge deed requires the Group to maintain certain levels of shareholders’ 
funds and operate within defined performance and debt gearing ratios. The banking arrangements may also create restrictions over the sale or disposal of certain 
assets unless the bank loans are repaid or renegotiated, specifically: 

- Facilities (i), (ii) and (v) require a continuation of the existing business operations. There are no costs to cancel the facilities. 

- Facility (iii) requires continued ownership by the Group of at least 30% in relation to Tararua Stage III wind generation assets with a book value of $181,735,000. 
There are no costs to cancel the facility. 

Throughout the period the Group has complied with all debt covenant requirements as imposed by lenders (see above for requirements).

Subsequent to balance date the Group has accepted offers to refinance the facility expiring in under one year and extend it by $25,000,000 to $250,000,000.  
This facility is currently being documented and will mature in two to five years.

A subsidiary company has entered into a fully defeased cross border lease in relation to generation assets with a book value of $30,756,000. The lease liability is 
not recognised in these financial statements as all obligations have been prepaid to the respective lessors. This creates restrictions on the disposal of the asset 
unless the subsidiary company holding the assets is part of the disposal. The lease expires in January 2018 and is subject to a potential termination payment, up 
to a maximum value of $4,629,000 (2010: $4,882,000), in the event that the subsidiary wishes to terminate the lease. 

Note 26: Unsecured subordinated Bonds GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Repayment terms and interest:

Maturing in September 2012, 8.5% p.a. fixed coupon rate  108,592  108,592  108,592  108,592 

Maturing in March 2014, 8.5% p.a. fixed coupon rate  54,713  54,713  54,713  54,713 

Maturing in December 2015, 8.4% p.a. fixed coupon rate  100,000  100,000  100,000  100,000 

Bond issue costs  (1,563)  (2,099)  (1,563)  (2,099)

 261,742  261,206  261,742  261,206 

Current portion  -  -  -  - 

Non-current portion  261,742  261,206  261,742  261,206 

 261,742  261,206  261,742  261,206 

At maturity the bonds can be converted at the option of the Company to ordinary shares based on the market price of ordinary shares at the time.  
The bonds are fully subordinated behind all other creditors. 

At 31 March 2011 the subordinated bonds had a fair value of $274,822,000 (31 March 2010: $274,286,000).

Note 27: Unsecured senior Bonds GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Repayment terms and interest:

Maturing in December 2014, 7.6% p.a. fixed coupon rate  75,000  75,000  75,000  75,000 

Maturing in December 2016, 8.0% p.a. fixed coupon rate  65,000  65,000  65,000  65,000 

Maturing in December 2017, 7.1% p.a. fixed coupon rate  75,000  -  75,000  - 

Bond issue costs  (3,482)  (2,482)  (3,482)  (2,482)

 211,518  137,518  211,518  137,518 

The Group has entered a Master Trust Deed dated 30 October 2009 (the Trust Deed) with respect to its senior bonds, which with limited exceptions does not 
permit the Group to grant any security interest over its assets. The Trust Deed requires the Group to operate within defined performance and debt gearing ratios. 
The arrangements under the Trust Deed may also create restrictions over the sale or disposal of certain assets unless the senior bonds are repaid or renegotiated.

Throughout the period the Group has complied with all debt covenance requirements as imposed by the bond trustee (see above for requirements).

The unsecured senior bonds rank equally with bank loans (note 25).

At 31 March 2011 the senior bonds had a fair value of $223,270,000 (31 March 2010: $143,443,000).
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Note 28: Deferred income tax GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  266,523  251,137  188,719  177,741 

Current year changes in temporary differences affecting tax expense 11  2,503  10,946  2,192  4,560 

Current year changes in temporary differences affecting reserves  (12,724)  1,903  (10,032)  5,624 

Reclassification of prior year temporary differences 11  4,164  1,087  1,698  794 

Exchange rate movements on foreign denominated deferred tax  1,367  1,450  -  - 

Effect of announced change in corporate tax rate on:

Income tax expense  (5,098)  -  (2,799)  - 

Revaluation reserve  (11,251)  -  (9,600)  - 

Cash flow hedge reserve  223  -  223  - 

Foreign currency translation reserve  530  -  -  - 

Effect of removal of tax depreciation on buildings on income tax expense  11,079  -  9,691  - 

 257,316  266,523  180,092  188,719 

Comprising:

Deferred tax liabilities  257,316  266,523  180,092  188,719 

 257,316  266,523  180,092  188,719 

There have been changes to the income tax legislation that have had a material impact on the financial statements, refer to note 11 for details.

The tables below show the break down of the temporary differences that make up the deferred tax liabilities and their movement for the year.

GROUP
Opening 
Balance

Charged 
to Income
Statement

Charged
Directly to 

Equity
Closing
BalanceFor the year ended 31 March 2011 ($000)

Revaluations  196,323  -  (11,313)  185,010 

Other property, plant and equipment movements  61,565  14,126  -  75,691 

Employee benefits  (1,283)  (46)  -  (1,329)

Provision for impairment  (600)  96  -  (504)

Carbon revenue recognition  2,853  439  -  3,292 

Customer base assets  8,477  (1,631)  -  6,846 

Financial instruments  4,508  1,025  (9,747)  (4,214)

Unrealised losses on Australian dollar loan  (5,251)  -  (2,162)  (7,413)

Other  (69)  6  -  (63)

 266,523  14,015  (23,222)  257,316 

Opening
Balance

Charged 
to Income
Statement

Charged
Directly to

Equity
Closing
BalanceFor the year ended 31 March 2010 ($000)

Revaluations  196,459  -  (136)  196,323 

Other property, plant and equipment movements  54,496  7,069  -  61,565 

Employee benefits  (1,278)  (5)  -  (1,283)

Provision for impairment  (480)  (120)  -  (600)

Carbon revenue recognition  636  2,217  -  2,853 

Customer base assets  9,620  (1,143)  -  8,477 

Financial instruments  (6,409)  3,736  7,181  4,508 

Unrealised losses on Australian dollar loan  (1,838)  -  (3,413)  (5,251)

Other  (69)  -  -  (69)

 251,137  11,754  3,632  266,523 
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Note 28 continued

PAReNt
Opening
Balance

Charged 
to Income
Statement

Charged
Directly to

Equity
Closing
BalanceFor the year ended 31 March 2011 ($000)

Revaluations  144,151  -  (9,662)  134,489 

Other property, plant and equipment movements  30,207  11,008  -  41,215 

Employee benefits  (1,283)  (46)  -  (1,329)

Provision for impairment  (600)  96  -  (504)

Carbon revenue recognition  2,853  439  -  3,292 

Customer base assets  8,477  (1,631)  -  6,846 

Financial instruments  4,983  910  (9,747)  (3,854)

Other  (69)  6  -  (63)

 188,719  10,782  (19,409)  180,092 

Opening
Balance

Charged 
to Income
Statement

Charged
Directly to

Equity
Closing
BalanceFor the year ended 31 March 2010 ($000)

Revaluations  145,708  -  (1,557)  144,151 

Other property, plant and equipment movements  26,847  3,360  -  30,207 

Employee benefits  (1,278)  (5)  -  (1,283)

Provision for impairment  (480)  (120)  -  (600)

Carbon revenue recognition  636  2,217  -  2,853 

Customer base assets  9,620  (1,143)  -  8,477 

Financial instruments  (3,243)  1,044  7,182  4,983 

Other  (69)  -  -  (69)

 177,741  5,353  5,625  188,719 

Note 29: Reconciliation of Net cash from Operating Activities GROUP PAReNt

with Profit After tax Attributable to the shareholders 2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Profit after tax attributable to the shareholders of the Company  112,369  119,413  107,133  107,632 

Items classified as investing/financing

Interest paid  61,712  57,759  46,446  43,562 

Interest received  (907)  (559)  (1,400)  (17)

 60,805  57,200  45,046  43,545 

Non-cash items:

Amortisation of debt issue costs  1,428  1,076  1,428  1,076 

Non-cash transfer from cash flow hedge reserve to interest expense  (265)  (194)  (265)  (194)

Amortisation of intangible assets  5,547  5,657  5,547  5,657 

Depreciation  49,324  49,358  14,977  14,788 

Loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment  98  549  91  549 

Impairment of assets  -  6,120  1,430  7,885 

Share option provision transfer  (90)  160  (90)  160 

Movement in derivative financial instruments taken to the income statement  (62)  (12,509)  590  (3,537)

Intercompany charges  -  -  27,846  28,221 

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability excluding transfers to reserves  13,031  12,098  10,781  5,353 

 69,011  62,315  62,335  59,958 

Decrease/(increase) in working capital:

Accounts receivable and prepayments  (14,277)  (39,454)  (14,978)  (38,704)

Taxation payable/receivable  (8,877)  3,715  (2,379)  5,017 

Accounts payable and accruals excluding capital expenditure accruals  (23,547)  30,920  (23,226)  31,258 

 (18,147)  (4,819)  (10,627)  (2,429)

Net cash from operating activities  224,038  234,109  203,887  208,706 
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Note 30: imputation credit Account GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at beginning of year  463  462  463  462 

Tax paid  41,000  30,934  41,000  30,934 

Allocated to dividends  (35,135)  (30,941)  (35,135)  (30,941)

Other movements  61  8  61  8 

Balance at end of year  6,389  463  6,389  463 

Note 31: emission Rights GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Verified Voluntary Emission Reductions (Tonnes CO2-e)

Balance at beginning of year  291,000  321,000  291,000  321,000 

Rights verified during the year  -  -  -  - 

Rights sold during the year  -  (30,000)  -  (30,000)

Rights used internally  -  -  -  - 

Rights unsold at end of year  291,000  291,000  291,000  291,000 

The Verified Voluntary Emission Reductions above relate to completed generation production for the period 1 January 2004 to 31 December 2007.  
As at 31 March 2011 unsold Verified Voluntary Emission Reductions were valued at nil (2010: nil).

Kyoto Carbon Credits

The Group has received 1,476,000 (2010:1,476,000) tonnes of carbon emission rights from the New Zealand Government issued pursuant to the Kyoto protocol 
in relation to completed generation facilities. This represents the maximum rights based upon specified levels of generation output from the new facilities for the 
period 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2012 and is reliant on the ongoing support of the Kyoto protocol and emission rights within the international community. 
The Group believes that it will be able to utilise 1,310,000 tonnes of these carbon emission rights. This potential revenue source is taken into consideration in the 
evaluation of generation development projects and in the valuation of the generation assets. 

A contract has been signed with Electrabel, a European energy company, for the sale of 228,000 tonnes of carbon emission rights over five years from 2008-2012. 
This sale is dependent on the Group's Tararua Stage II Wind Farm producing a minimum level of output. A contract has been signed with The Kansai Electric 
Power Company, a Japanese energy company, for the sale of 300,000 tonnes of carbon emission rights over five years from 2008-2012. Further contracts have 
been signed covering emission rights generated over the same period. These sales are dependent on the Group's Tararua Stage III Wind Farm producing a 
minimum level of output.

GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Kyoto Carbon Credits (Tonnes CO2-e)

Balance at beginning of year  98,000  65,000  98,000  65,000 

Rights earned during the year  227,000  231,000  227,000  231,000 

Rights sold during the year  (168,000)  (198,000)  (168,000)  (198,000)

Rights unsold at end of year  157,000  98,000  157,000  98,000 

Included in other receivables (note 19) is $11,226,000 relating to Kyoto Carbon Credits generated and pre-sold (2010: $11,051,000). In addition $3,844,000  
is included relating to Kyoto Carbon Credits generated but unsold at the end of the reporting period (2010: $2,135,000).

The Group also earns Renewable Energy Credits (RECs) from renewable electricity generation in South Australia. Included in other receivables (note 19) is 
$1,862,000 relating to RECs generated and pre-sold (2010: $1,408,000). In addition $1,884,000 is included relating to RECs generated but unsold at the end of 
the reporting period (2010: $1,269,000).

Note 32: commitments GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Capital Commitments  750  2,824  750  2,824 

Electricity Purchase Commitments

The Parent has a long term contract with Mighty River Power Limited to purchase the output from the Rotokawa geothermal power station until 31 March 2013. 
This commitment cannot be quantified.

The Parent has a contract with Pioneer Generation Limited to purchase all of the output from its various generation sites. This commitment cannot be quantified.

The Parent has a contract with Ngawha Generation Limited to purchase all of the output from its Ngawha geothermal station. This commitment cannot be quantified.
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Note 33: contingent Liabilities, Operating Leases, and subsequent events
Inland Revenue is currently disputing the tax treatment adopted by the Group in relation to feasibility expenditure in the 2006, 2007 and 2008 financial years.  
The Group believes the tax treatment adopted is correct and is defending its position. Should Inland Revenue be completely successful in its claim, the resulting 
liability would give rise to an additional tax payment of $6,779,000 and interest expense of $3,145,000. Further the Group would need to revise its policy for 
claiming tax deductions for feasibility expenditure in the 2009 and future years. This would give rise to a further estimated tax payment of $3,998,000 and interest 
expense of $477,000 in respect of the 2009, 2010 and 2011 years. 

The Group has provided a guarantee to Rangitata Diversion Race Management Limited (RDR) to allow RDR to borrow funds to purchase land. The maximum 
amount the Group could be liable to pay is $756,000 (2010: $756,000). This maximum liability would only be payable if RDR was unable to service its debt and 
was unable to sell the land.

The Group is not aware of any other material contingent liabilities at balance date (2010: nil). 

Other than disclosed in note 6 the Group is not party to any material operating leases at balance date (2010: nil). 

The Group is not aware of any significant events occurring subsequent to balance date that have not been disclosed.

Note 34: Related Party transactions
Key management personnel

The key management personnel compensation (including Directors’ fees) is as follows:

GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits  3,627  4,535  3,627  4,535 

Share based payments  28  22  28  22 

 3,655  4,557  3,655  4,557 

$464,000 of this amount was unpaid at 31 March 2011 (2010: $598,000).

All key management personnel participate in a cash settled, share based incentive scheme. This scheme was introduced in 2007 and replaces the employee share 
option scheme (refer to note 35).

Subsidiaries

Advances have been made to/from subsidiaries (refer to note 22) and are payable on demand. These advances are not expected to be repaid in the coming year. 
Advances to New Zealand based subsidiaries are interest free while interest is charged to overseas based subsidiaries at a market rate. The net advances as 
disclosed in note 22 include the balances due to/from subsidiaries in respect of the following transactions.

The Parent has a lease contract with its subsidiaries Cobb Power Limited and Tararua Wind Power Limited for the use of the subsidiary companies' generation 
assets. These commitments cannot be quantified.

The Parent has an insurance contract with its subsidiary TrustPower Insurance Limited which is renewed annually.

The impact of transactions with subsidiaries on the profit of the Parent and Group is shown below.

GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Operating lease costs  -  -  (20,641)  (21,247)

Insurance costs  -  -  (2,072)  (2,141)

Interest revenue  -  -  886  1,172 

Impact on profit before income tax  -  -  (21,827)  (22,216)

The Group is controlled by Infratil Limited (incorporated in New Zealand) which owns 50.6% of the Company's voting shares. The Tauranga Energy Consumer 
Trust owns 33.0% and the residual balance of 16.4% is widely held.

A related entity of H.R.L. Morrison & Co Limited manages Infratil Limited and M Bogoievski, a Director of TrustPower Limited, is the Chief Executive of  
H.R.L. Morrison & Co Limited. Mr HRL Morrison is an alternate Director of TrustPower Limited and is a Director of Infratil Limited. Infratil Limited is the parent  
of TrustPower Limited and $40,000 (2010: $7,000) was paid to H.R.L. Morrison & Co Limited and related entities during the year for consultancy services.  
As at 31 March 2011 none of this amount was outstanding (2010: nil). 

Consultancy fees of $24,000 (2010: $10,000) were paid to Lumo Energy Pty Ltd which is a subsidiary of the Group's ultimate parent. As at 31 March 2011  
none of this amount was outstanding (2010: nil). 

Mr MJ Cooney, a Director of TrustPower Limited, is a partner in the law firm Cooney Lees Morgan. $18,000 was paid to Cooney Lees Morgan for legal services  
in the year to 31 March 2011 (2010: $14,000). As at 31 March 2011 none of this amount was unpaid (2010: nil). 

Except as noted above, no transactions took place with related parties during the year. All transactions with related parties take place on an arms length basis.  
No related party debts were forgiven or written off during the year. Except as noted above there are no amounts outstanding at 31 March 2011 (2010: nil).

Note 35: employee share Based compensation
The Company has issued share options to certain employees. Each option issued under the Scheme converts to one ordinary share on exercise when employees 
are required to pay a non-refundable amount for the issue of the ordinary share (the exercise price). The options may be exercised any time after three years from 
issue date up until expiry, are non-transferable and conditional on the individual employee's continued employment through this period. The initial exercise price 
was set by taking the average closing market price of the shares during the ten business days up to and including the issue of the options. The exercise price is 
adjusted by an equity rate of return, dividends paid and capital structure changes from issue date up until the point at which the employee exercises the option.
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Note 35 continued NUMBeR eXeRcise PRice $

2011 2010 2011 2010

Options Outstanding:
Tranche A issued November 2003, expiring February 2009  -  -  -  - 
Tranche B issued May 2004, expiring August 2010  -  -  -  - 
Tranche C issued November 2004, expiring February 2010  -  -  -  - 
Tranche D issued May 2006, expiring June 2012  280,000  280,000  8.33  8.01 

 280,000  280,000 

Options Exercised to Date:
Tranche A  520,000  520,000  3.04  3.04 
Tranche B  60,000  60,000  4.85  4.85 
Tranche C  420,000  420,000  6.10  6.10 
Tranche D  -  -  -  - 

 1,000,000  1,000,000 

Options Lapsed to Date:
Tranche A  60,000  60,000 
Tranche B  -  - 
Tranche C  100,000  100,000 
Tranche D  180,000  180,000 

 340,000  340,000 

Members of the Parent's executive management team and certain other employees (together defined as key management personnel) are eligible to receive 
payment under two cash settled share based payments schemes. The schemes are defined as follows:

Scheme one 
An incentive scheme for key management personnel of the Parent was implemented on 15 November 2008. This is a cash-settled share-based payment scheme 
covering the three-year period to 15 November 2011.

Scheme two 
An incentive scheme for key management personnel of the Parent was implemented on 15 May 2009. This is a cash-settled share-based payment scheme 
covering the three-year period to 15 May 2011. Additionally each year on the 15th of May, a new tranche of the scheme may be issued at the discretion of the 
Board that covers a period of three years from the issue date.

Calculation of payment

Scheme one 
Key management personnel are eligible to receive an annual bonus payment during the period of the scheme, the sum of which is determined by the total return 
on a notional number of allocated shares. The return is calculated as the sum of dividends paid by the Parent plus the increase in share price over the period. 
Payment is only made if a minimum return, set by the Board, is met. Additionally the scheme has a set maximum return above which no increase in bonus is 
received by the participants. The total return is calculated for a one year period commencing on the 15th of November with reference to the share price at the date 
of the scheme closing.

Scheme two 
Key management personnel are eligible to receive a bonus payment at the end of the three year period of the scheme, the sum of which is determined by the total 
return on a notional number of allocated shares. The return is calculated as the sum of dividends paid by the Parent plus the increase in share price over the 
period. Payment is only made if a minimum return, set by the Board, is met. Additionally the scheme has a set maximum return above which no increase in the 
bonus is received by the participants. The total return is calculated for a three year period commencing on the 15th of May with reference to the average share 
price over the ten days prior to the scheme closing. 

The fair value of the liability at 31 March 2011 has been determined by reference to the Parent's current share price and expected dividends and share price 
movements with comparison to the share price at the start of the relevant period and adjusted to reflect the present value of these future expected cash flows. 

For the year ended 31 March 2011 the total expense recognised in the income statement was $40,000 (2010: $14,000) and the liability recognised in the 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011 is $54,000 (2010: $14,000).

Note 36: Business combinations
On 26 November 2009 the Group purchased 100% of the shares of Esk Hydro Power Limited for $350,000. There were no material operating results for this 
acquisition affecting the income statements for this year. The assets and liabilities of the acquisition at the purchase date were as follows:

GROUP
FAiR VALUe

AcQUiRee’s
cARRYiNG VALUe

2010 2010

$000 $000

Assets and Liabilities Acquired:
Cash at bank  1  1 
Property, plant and equipment  350  83 
Accounts payable and accruals (1) (1)
Shareholder advances  -  (82)
Net assets acquired  350  1 

There was no goodwill arising as a result of this business combination. There were no acquisitions in the year ended 31 March 2011.
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Note 37: critical Accounting estimates and Judgements
Estimates and judgements are frequently evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, electricity price hedges) is determined by using valuation techniques. The 
Group uses its judgement to select methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. The 
Group has used discounted cash flow analysis for various electricity price hedges that are not traded in an active market. The forward curve is derived from a combination 
of market quoted prices and management's best estimates. The discount rate is assumed as the counterparty's cost of funds for the period of the instrument.

Electricity gross margin

Three key estimates are made when determining electricity gross margin. The accrual for all three factors is based on an estimate of unbilled units.

•	 Revenue	recognition

 An accrual is estimated for units sold but not billed at the end of the reporting period for non-half hourly metered customers. This estimate is based on units 
bought from the wholesale electricity market as well as historical factors. Significant judgement is required in making this determination.

•	 Line	cost	recognition

 Some electricity lines companies bill the Group based on the units and days that the Group has billed its customers while the remaining electricity lines 
companies bill the Group based on estimated total units and days. For the companies that base their bill on the Group's customer billing, an accrual,  
similar to the revenue recognition accrual, is estimated for line charges incurred but not billed at the end of the reporting period.

•	 Energy	cost	recognition

 An accrual is estimated for units that the Group believes it has consumed but has not yet been billed for by Energy Clearing House Limited. Significant 
judgement is required in making this determination.

Sensitivity analysis

If the estimated unbilled units had been 10% higher/lower, operating profit for the year would have increased/(decreased) by $411,000/$(411,000)  
(2010: increased/(decreased) by $74,000/$(85,000)).

Generation property, plant and equipment

The Group's generation property, plant and equipment is stated at fair value as established by an independent valuation undertaken at least every three years.  
This valuation is reviewed annually and if it is considered that there has been a material change then a new independent valuation is undertaken. The basis of the 
valuation is a discounted cash flow analysis of the future earnings of the assets. The major inputs that are used in the valuation model that require management 
judgement include the forward price path of electricity, sales volume forecasts, projected operational and capital expenditure profiles, discount rates and life 
assumptions for each generation station. The following table outlines the key assumptions used by Deloitte Corporate Finance in preparing the most recent 
valuation as at 31 March 2009. In all cases there is an element of judgement required. The table shows the range of reasonably possible alternative assumption 
values considered. The valuation is based on a combination of values that are generally in the midpoint of the range.

Assumption Low High valuation Impact

new Zealand Assets

Forward electricity price path Increasing in real terms from  
$73/MWh to $82/MWh by  
2012 then constant.

Increasing in real terms from  
$78/MWh to $87/MWh by  
2012 then constant.

-/+ $64,000,000

Generation volume 2,032GWh 2,483GWh -/+ $217,000,000

Operating costs $23,000,000 p.a. $29,000,000 p.a. +/- $31,000,000

Weighted average cost of capital 8.00% 8.50% +$74,000,000 / -$67,000,000

Australian Assets AUD

Forward electricity price path (Stated in AUD) Until 2018 $72  
in real terms. After 2018 declining  
to $60 by 2028 in real terms. 
Thereafter held constant.

(Stated in AUD) Until 2018 $78  
in real terms. After 2018 declining  
to $66 by 2028 in real terms. 
Thereafter held constant.

-/+ $5,000,000

Generation volume 350GWh 428GWh -$30,000,000 / +$29,000,000

Weighted average cost of capital 7.60% 8.10% +/- $6,000,000

The valuation impact is calculated as the movement in the fair value as a result of the change in the assumption and keeping all other valuation inputs constant.

Depreciation expense

A significant amount of management judgement is used when determining the useful lives of the Group's generation assets for depreciation purposes. This is 
especially so for the Group's longer lived assets.

Sensitivity analysis

If the estimated useful lives of generation assets were 10% higher/lower, operating profit for the year would have increased/(decreased) by $4,484,000/$(5,480,000) 
(2010: $4,487,000/$(5,484,000)).

Amortisation expense

Management judgement is used when determining the useful lives of the Group's intangible assets for amortisation purposes.

Sensitivity analysis

If the estimated useful lives of intangible assets were 10% higher/lower, operating profit for the year would have increased/decreased by $504,000/$(616,000) 
(2010: $514,000/$(629,000)).

Income tax expense

The Group is subject to income taxes in New Zealand and Australia. Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are 
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on 
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such 
differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.
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Provision against advances to subsidiaries

For subsidiaries involved in generation development, the Parent fully provides for advances made until such time as a viable project is identified and construction 
commences. This provision is the result of significant uncertainty that economic projects will be completed and that the advances will be recoverable.

Changes to accounting estimates

There have been no changes to accounting estimates in the year.

Note 38: Financial Risk Management
Financial Risk Management Objectives

TrustPower's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: electricity price risk, interest rate risk, exchange rate risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The Group's overall 
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Board.

(a) Electricity Price Risk

The Group typically sells more electricity at fixed prices than it generates. As a result the Group is required to purchase a percentage of its electricity sold off the 
electricity spot market. This leaves the Group exposed to fluctuations in the spot price of electricity where it sells electricity at a fixed price. The Group operates 
under an energy trading policy which limits the exposure the Group may have in any future period. Future exposure is estimated based on expected fixed price 
sales and generation output. The Group has entered into a number of electricity hedge contracts to reduce the commodity price risk from price fluctuations on the 
electricity spot market. These hedge contracts establish the price at which future specified quantities of electricity are purchased. Any resulting differential to be 
paid or received is recognised as a component of energy costs through the term of the contract. The Group has elected to apply cash flow hedge accounting to 
those instruments it deems material and which qualify as cash flow hedges while immaterial contracts are not hedge accounted. 

The aggregate notional volume of the outstanding electricity derivatives at 31 March 2011 was 900GWh (31 March 2010: 1,146GWh).

The hedged anticipated electricity purchase transactions are expected to occur continuously throughout the next five years from the end of the reporting period 
consistent with the Group's forecast electricity generation and retail electricity sales. Gains and losses recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve on electricity 
derivatives as of 31 March 2011 will be continuously released to the income statement in each period in which the underlying purchase transactions are recognised 
in the income statement.

Sensitivity analysis

The following tables summarise the impact of increases/decreases of the relevant forward electricity prices on the Group's post-tax profit for the year and on other 
components of equity. The sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that the relevant forward electricity prices had increased/decreased with all other 
variables held constant as a result of the fair value change in electricity price derivatives.

GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Increase/(decrease) to profit of a 10% increase in electricity forward price  (609)  (1,532)  (609)  (1,532)
Increase/(decrease) to profit of a 10% decrease in electricity forward price  609  1,532  609  1,532 
Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 10% increase in electricity forward price  5,369  9,768  5,369  9,768 
Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 10% decrease in electricity forward price  (5,369)  (9,768)  (5,369)  (9,768)

(b) Interest Rate Risk

The Group's bank borrowings are all on floating interest rates exposing it to the risk that rising interest rates will increase the Group's interest expense and, hence, 
reduce its profitability. The Group operates under a treasury policy which prescribes the proportion of fixed interest rate cover the Group must hold in relation to its 
future borrowings. This proportion is calculated based on the actual fixed rate cover held and the forecast debt levels of the Group. The Group has various interest 
rate financial instruments to manage exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. Any resulting differential to be paid or received on the instruments is recognised as a 
component of interest paid. The Group has elected to hedge account only a limited number of these instruments.

The aggregate notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate derivative instruments at 31 March 2011 was $440,415,000 (31 March 2010: 
$563,197,000).

Interest payment transactions are expected to occur at various dates between one month and nine years from the end of the reporting period consistent with the 
Group's forecast total borrowings.

Effective interest rates for the Parent and the Group are disclosed in note 25.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2011, if interest rates at that date had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year and other 
components of equity would have been adjusted by the amounts in the table below, as a result of the fair value change in interest rate derivative instruments.

GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Increase/(decrease) to profit of a 100 basis point decrease in interest rates  (8,994)  (7,297)  (3,774)  (3,447)
Increase/(decrease) to profit of a 100 basis point increase in interest rates  8,713  7,119  3,647  3,301 
Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 100 basis point decrease in interest rates  (9,601)  (8,085)  (4,381)  (4,235)
Increase/(decrease) to equity of a 100 basis point increase in interest rates  9,361  7,900  4,295  4,082 
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(c) Exchange Rate Risk

During the course of business the Group may enter into contracts for the construction of generation assets and the sale of carbon credits to be settled in a foreign 
currency in the future. This exposes the Group to movements in foreign exchange rates. The Group operates under a treasury policy which requires all foreign 
currency transactions over certain limits to be 100% hedged. Compliance with this policy is measured by forecasting future foreign currency transactions and 
ensuring that the exchange rate has been fixed. The Group enters into forward exchange contracts to reduce the risk from price fluctuations of foreign currency 
costs associated with the construction of property, plant and equipment or income associated with the sale of carbon credits. Any resulting differential to be paid 
or received is recognised as a component of the cost of the project for the construction of generation assets and as a part of revenue for the sale of carbon 
credits. The Group has elected to apply cash flow hedge accounting to these instruments. 

The aggregate notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 March 2011 was $20,689,000 (31 March 2010: $25,062,000).

The hedged anticipated transactions denominated in foreign currency are expected to occur at various dates between one month and two years from the end of 
the reporting period. Gains and losses recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve in equity on forward foreign exchange contracts as at 31 March 2011 will be 
recycled to revenue from the sale of carbon credits when the credits are sold.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2011, if the New Zealand dollar had weakened/strengthened by 10 per cent against the currencies with which the Group has foreign currency risk 
with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would not have been materially different.

Other components of equity would have been $(1,387,000)/$1,458,000 (lower)/higher (31 March 2010: $(2,248,000)/$2,041,000 (lower)/higher), arising from 
foreign exchange gains/losses on revaluation of foreign exchange contracts in a cash flow hedge relationship.

(d) Credit Risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk (2010: none). It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with an appropriate 
credit history. Where a potential customer does not have a suitable credit history a bond is required before the customer is accepted. Derivative counterparties and 
cash transactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions with a minimum Standard & Poor’s long-term credit rating of A+ and other large electricity 
market participants (all have a Standard & Poor’s long-term credit rating of at least BBB). Where a potential counterparty does not meet these credit criteria the 
maximum level of credit exposure is set individually by the Board. The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any counterparty. 

The carrying amounts of financial assets recognised in the statement of financial position best represents the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk at the 
reporting date without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained. As shown in note 19, the reported accounts receivable balance includes a provision 
for doubtful debts of $1,800,000 (2010: $2,000,000).

The Group has around 221,000 customers (2010: 225,000), only four (2010: four) of which make up more than one per cent of the Group's total accounts 
receivable balance. The largest of these customers accounts for 4 per cent (2010: 7 per cent) of the Group's total accounts receivable.

As of 31 March 2011, trade receivables relating to the Group and the Parent of $3,589,000 (2010: $4,447,000) were past due but not impaired. The ageing 
analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

$000 $000 $000 $000

Up to 3 months  3,589  3,984  3,589  3,984 

3 to 6 months  -  463  -  463 

 3,589  4,447  3,589  4,447 

As of 31 March 2011, trade receivables relating to the Group and the Parent of $1,800,000 (2010: $2,000,000) were past due and impaired.  
The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

GROUP PAReNt

2010 2009 2010 2009

$000 $000 $000 $000

Up to 3 months  96  -  96  - 

3 to 6 months  873  977  873  977 

6 to 12 months  453  603  453  603 

Over 12 months  378  420  378  420 

 1,800  2,000  1,800  2,000 

For details of the receivables considered impaired refer to note 2.4.

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Opening balance  2,000  1,600  2,000  1,600 

Provision for receivables impairment 7  1,708  2,374  1,708  2,374 

Bad debts written off  (1,908)  (1,974)  (1,908)  (1,974)

Closing balance 19  1,800  2,000  1,800  2,000 
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(e) Liquidity Risk

The Group's ability to readily attract cost effective funding is largely driven by its credit standing.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities and the spreading of debt maturities. The Group operates under a treasury policy which dictates the level of available committed facility 
to be maintained to provide cover for reasonably conceivable adverse conditions. This is measured by forecasting debt levels under various adverse scenarios and 
comparing this to committed facility levels. The treasury policy also requires a spread of debt maturities which is measured by the proportion of debt maturing in 
various time bands.

The tables below analyse the Group’s and the Parent’s financial liabilities excluding gross settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based 
on the remaining period to the earliest possible contractual maturity date at the period end date. The amounts in the tables are contractual undiscounted cash flows.

GROUP Less than
1 month

$000

1-6 
months

$000

6-12 
months

$000

Over 
1 year

$000At 31 March 2011

Net settled electricity price derivatives  2,151  7,522  5,802  4,103 

Net settled interest rate derivatives  30  979  1,008  6,628 

Accounts payable and accruals  86,807  -  -  - 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  11,232  11,110  308,788 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  8,179  8,090  270,228 

Unsecured bank loans  35  3,994  -  340,959 

Financial guarantee contracts  756  -  -  - 

 106,550  31,906  26,010  930,706 

Less than
1 month

$000

1-6
months

$000

6-12 
months

$000

Over 
1 year
$000At 31 March 2010

Net settled electricity price derivatives  234  787  2,342  830 

Net settled interest rate derivatives  300  3,366  2,414  993 

Accounts payable and accruals  99,413  -  -  - 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  11,232  11,049  331,130 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  5,495  5,405  191,356 

Unsecured bank loans  123  196,752  -  142,943 

Financial guarantee contracts  756  -  -  - 

 100,826  217,632  21,210  667,252 

PAReNt Less than
1 month

$000

1-6 
months

$000

6-12 
months

$000

Over 
1 year

$000At 31 March 2011

Net settled electricity price derivatives  2,151  7,522  5,802  4,103 

Net settled interest rate derivatives  30  471  501  5,461 

Accounts payable and accruals  86,027  -  -  - 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  11,232  11,110  308,788 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  8,179  8,090  270,228 

Unsecured bank loans  35  1,707  -  137,332 

Financial guarantee contracts  756  -  -  - 

 105,770  29,111  25,503  725,912 

Less than
1 month

$000

1-6 
months

$000

6-12 
months

$000

Over
1 year
$000At 31 March 2010

Net settled electricity price derivatives  234  787  2,342  830 

Net settled interest rate derivatives  300  2,096  1,632  449 

Accounts payable and accruals  98,452  -  -  - 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  11,232  11,049  331,130 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  5,495  5,405  191,356 

Unsecured bank loans  123  1,465  -  142,943 

Financial guarantee contracts  756  -  -  - 

 99,865  21,075  20,428  666,708 
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The tables below analyse the Group’s and the Parent’s derivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis into relevant maturity groupings based 
on the remaining period to the contractual maturity date at the period end date. The amounts disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

GROUP Less than
1 month

$000

1-6 
months

$000

6-12 
months

$000

Over 
1 year

$000At 31 March 2011

Foreign currency forward contracts

Inflows  3,720  2,553  3,340  11,076 

(Outflows)  (3,063)  (2,599)  (2,642)  (8,768)

Less than
1 month

$000

1-6 
months

$000

6-12 
months

$000

Over 
1 year
$000At 31 March 2010

Foreign currency forward contracts

Inflows  3,654  -  3,270  18,137 

(Outflows)  (3,121)  -  (2,692)  (14,750)

PAReNt Less than
1 month

$000

1-6 
months

$000

6-12 
months

$000

Over 
1 year

$000At 31 March 2011

Foreign currency forward contracts

Inflows  3,720  2,553  3,340  11,076 

(Outflows)  (3,063)  (2,599)  (2,642)  (8,768)

Less than
1 month

$000

1-6 
months

$000

6-12 
months

$000

Over 
1 year
$000At 31 March 2010

Foreign currency forward contracts

Inflows  3,654  -  3,270  18,137 

(Outflows)  (3,121)  -  (2,692)  (14,750)

Fair values

Except for subordinated bonds and senior bonds (see notes 26 and 27), the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial 
statements approximates their fair values.

Estimation of Fair values

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

•	 The	fair	value	of	financial	assets	and	liabilities	with	standard	terms	and	conditions	and	traded	on	active	liquid	markets	are	determined	with	reference	to	quoted	
market prices.

•	 The	fair	value	of	other	financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	calculated	using	discounted	cash	flow	analysis	based	on	market-quoted	rates.

•	 The	fair	value	of	derivative	financial	instruments	are	calculated	using	quoted	prices.	Where	such	prices	are	not	available,	use	is	made	of	discounted	cash	flow	
analysis using the applicable yield curve or available forward price data for the duration of the instruments.

Where the fair value of a derivative is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the instrument, the two key types of variables used by 
the valuation techniques are:

•	 forward	price	curve	(as	described	below);	and

•	 discount	rates.

valuation Input Source

Interest rate forward price curve Published market swap rates

Foreign exchange forward prices Published spot foreign exchange rates and interest rate differentials

Electricity forward price curve Market quoted prices where available and management’s best estimate based on 
its view of the long run marginal cost of new generation where no market quoted 
prices are available.

Discount rate for valuing interest rate derivatives Published market interest rates as applicable to the remaining life of  
the instrument.

Discount rate for valuing forward foreign exchange contracts Published market interest rates as applicable to the remaining life of  
the instrument.

Discount rate for valuing electricity price derivatives Assumed counterparty cost of funds ranging from 4.0% to 4.9%

74



Note 38 continued
The selection of variables requires significant judgement and therefore there is a range of reasonably possible assumptions in respect of these variables that could 
be used in estimating the fair value of these derivatives. Maximum use is made of observable market data when selecting variables and developing assumptions for 
the valuation techniques. See earlier in this note for sensitivity analysis.

NZ IFRS 7 requires that financial instruments that are measured in the statement of financial position at fair value, this requires disclosure of fair value 
measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

•	 Quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities	(level	1)

•	 Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	level	1	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability,	either	directly	(that	is,	as	prices)	or	indirectly	(that	is,	derived	
from prices) (level 2)

•	 Inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data	(that	is,	unobservable	inputs)	(level	3).

The following tables present the Group's and Parent's financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value.

GROUP
Level 1

$000
Level 2

$000
Level 3

$000
Total
$00031 March 2011

Assets per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative assets  -  3,635  -  3,635 

Electricity price derivative assets  -  -  1,763  1,763 

Exchange rate derivative assets  -  3,307  -  3,307 

 -  6,942  1,763  8,705 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative liabilities  -  6,297  -  6,297 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  -  -  18,503  18,503 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  -  -  - 

 -  6,297  18,503  24,800 

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total
$00031 March 2010

Assets per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative assets  -  3,918  -  3,918 

Electricity price derivative assets  -  -  18,466  18,466 

Exchange rate derivative assets  -  3,138  -  3,138 

 -  7,056  18,466  25,522 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative liabilities  -  6,582  -  6,582 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  -  -  2,066  2,066 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  -  -  - 

 -  6,582  2,066  8,648 

PAReNt
Level 1

$000
Level 2

$000
Level 3

$000
Total
$00031 March 2011

Assets per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative assets  -  3,344  -  3,344 

Electricity price derivative assets  -  -  1,763  1,763 

Exchange rate derivative assets  -  3,307  -  3,307 

 -  6,651  1,763  8,414 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative liabilities  -  4,805  -  4,805 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  -  -  18,503  18,503 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  -  -  - 

 -  4,805  18,503  23,308 
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Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total
$00031 March 2010

Assets per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative assets  -  3,077  -  3,077 

Electricity price derivative assets  -  -  18,466  18,466 

Exchange rate derivative assets - 3,138 - 3,138

 -  6,215  18,466  24,681 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Interest rate derivative liabilities  -  4,158  -  4,158 

Electricity price derivative liabilities  -  -  2,066  2,066 

Exchange rate derivative liabilities  -  -  -  - 

 -  4,158  2,066  6,224 

The following tables present the changes during the year of the level 3 instruments.

GROUP Electricity 
price 

derivatives
$000

Total
$00031 March 2011

Assets per the statement of financial position

Opening balance  18,466  18,466 

Gains and (losses) recognised in profit or loss  (255)  (255)

Gains and (losses) recognised in other comprehensive income  (16,448)  (16,448)

Closing balance  1,763  1,763 

Total gains or (losses) for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period  1,483  1,483 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Opening balance  2,066  2,066 

(Gains) and losses recognised in profit or loss  877  877 

(Gains) and losses recognised in other comprehensive income  15,560  15,560 

Closing balance  18,503  18,503 

Total (gains) or losses for the period included in profit or loss for liabilities held at the end of the reporting period  1,938  1,938 

Settlements during the year  26,426  26,426 

Electricity 
price

derivatives
$000

Total
$00031 March 2010

Assets per the statement of financial position

Opening balance  3,124  3,124 

Gains and (losses) recognised in profit or loss  (1,031)  (1,031)

Gains and (losses) recognised in other comprehensive income  16,373  16,373 

Closing balance  18,466  18,466 

Total gains or (losses) for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period  2,255  2,255 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Opening balance  3,304  3,304 

(Gains) and losses recognised in profit or loss  807  807 

(Gains) and losses recognised in other comprehensive income  (2,045)  (2,045)

Closing balance  2,066  2,066 

Total (gains) or losses for the period included in profit or loss for liabilities held at the end of the reporting period 1,327 1,327

Settlements during the year  24,411  24,411 
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PAReNt Electricity 
price

derivatives
$000

Total
$00031 March 2011

Assets per the statement of financial position

Opening balance  18,466  18,466 

Gains and (losses) recognised in profit or loss  (255)  (255)

Gains and (losses) recognised in other comprehensive income  (16,448)  (16,448)

Closing balance  1,763  1,763 

Total gains or (losses) for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period  1,483  1,483 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Opening balance  2,066  2,066 

(Gains) and losses recognised in profit or loss 877 877

(Gains) and losses recognised in other comprehensive income 15,560 15,560

Closing balance  18,503  18,503 

Total (gains) or losses for the period included in profit or loss for liabilities held at the end of the reporting period  1,938  1,938 

Settlements during the year  26,426  26,426 

Electricity 
price

derivatives
$000

Total
$00031 March 2010

Assets per the statement of financial position

Opening balance  3,124  3,124 

Gains and (losses) recognised in profit or loss  (1,031)  (1,031)

Gains and (losses) recognised in other comprehensive income  16,373  16,373 

Closing balance  18,466  18,466 

Total gains or (losses) for the period included in profit or loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period  2,255  2,255 

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Opening balance  3,304  3,304 

(Gains) and losses recognised in profit or loss  807  807 

(Gains) and losses recognised in other comprehensive income  (2,045)  (2,045)

Closing balance  2,066  2,066 

Total (gains) or losses for the period included in profit or loss for liabilities held at the end of the reporting period  1,327  1,327 

Settlements during the year  24,411  24,411 

Electricity price derivatives are classified as Level 3 because the assumed location factors which are used to adjust the forward price path are unobservable.

A sensitivity analysis showing the effect on the value of the electricity price derivatives of reasonably possible alternative price path assumptions is shown in  
section (a) of this note.

Capital Risk Management Objectives

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new 
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.

•	 Net	debt	is	calculated	as	total	borrowings	less	short	term	deposits.	Total	borrowings	are	calculated	using	a	value	of	unsecured	bank	loans	plus	unsecured	
subordinated and senior bonds.

•	 Total	capital	funding	is	calculated	as	total	equity	as	shown	in	the	statement	of	financial	position,	adjusted	for	the	fair	value	of	financial	instruments,	plus	net	debt.
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Note 38 continued

The gearing ratio is calculated below:

GROUP PAReNt

2011 2010 2011 2010

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

net debt

Unsecured bank debt 25  336,327  336,847  132,700  142,943 

Unsecured subordinated bonds 26  261,742  261,206  261,742  261,206 

Unsecured senior bonds 27  211,518  137,518  211,518  137,518 

Cash at bank / bank overdraft 18  (12,568)  (9,492)  (1,429)  (3,868)

 797,019  726,079  604,531  537,799 

Equity

Total equity  1,418,491  1,437,146  1,172,978  1,205,255 

Remove net effect of fair value of financial instruments after tax 16  7,872  (15,406)  7,872  (15,406)

 1,426,363  1,421,740  1,180,850  1,189,849 

Total capital funding  2,223,382  2,147,819  1,785,381  1,727,648 

Gearing ratio 36% 34% 34% 31%

Note 39: Financial instruments by category

GROUP

Loans and
receivables

$000

Assets at 
fair value

through 
profit or loss

$000

Derivatives
used for
hedging

$000

 Assets 
held to 

maturity 
$00031 March 2011

Assets per the statement of financial position

Derivative financial instruments  -  5,398  3,307  - 

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments  99,647  -  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents  12,568  -  -  - 

Bond deposits on trust  2,000  -  -  - 

Other investments  -  -  -  4,373 

 114,215  5,398  3,307  4,373 

31 March 2010

Assets per the statement of financial position

Derivative financial instruments  -  5,324  20,198  - 

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments  115,701  -  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents  9,492  -  -  - 

Bond deposits on trust  2,300  -  -  - 

Other investments  -  -  -  2,195 

 127,493  5,324  20,198  2,195 

Liabilities 
at fair value

through 
profit or loss

$000

Derivatives
used for
hedging

$000

Other 
financial

liabilities at
amortised

cost
$00031 March 2011

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Unsecured bank loans including bank overdrafts  -  -  336,327 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  -  261,742 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  -  211,518 

Derivative financial instruments  8,931  15,869  - 

Trade and other payables  -  -  91,092 

 8,931  15,869  900,679 
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Note 39 continued

Liabilities at 
fair value
through 

profit or loss
$000

Derivatives
used for
hedging

$000

Other 
financial

liabilities at
amortised

cost
$00031 March 2010

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Unsecured bank loans including bank overdrafts  -  -  336,847 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  -  261,206 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  -  137,518 

Derivative financial instruments  8,648  -  - 

Trade and other payables  -  -  103,831 

 8,648  -  839,402 

PAReNt

Loans and
receivables

$000

Assets at 
fair value

through 
profit or loss

$000

Derivatives
used for
hedging

$000

 Assets 
held to 

maturity 
$00031 March 2011

Assets per the statement of financial position

Derivative financial instruments  -  5,107  3,307  - 

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments  93,984  -  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents  1,429  -  -  - 

Bond deposits on trust  2,000  -  -  - 

Term receivables  -  -  -  - 

Other investments  -  -  -  1,808 

 97,413  5,107  3,307  1,808 

31 March 2010

Assets per the statement of financial position

Derivative financial instruments  -  4,483  20,198  - 

Trade and other receivables excluding prepayments  109,807  -  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents  3,868  -  -  - 

Bond deposits on trust  2,300  -  -  - 

Term receivables  -  -  -  - 

Other investments  -  -  -  8 

 115,975  4,483  20,198  8 

Liabilities 
at fair value

through 
profit or loss

$000

Derivatives
used for
hedging

$000

Other 
financial

liabilities at
amortised

cost
$00031 March 2011

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Unsecured bank loans including bank overdrafts  -  -  132,700 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  -  261,742 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  -  211,518 

Derivative financial instruments  7,439  15,869  - 

Trade and other payables  -  -  90,219 

 7,439  15,869  696,179 

31 March 2010

Liabilities per the statement of financial position

Unsecured bank loans including bank overdrafts  -  -  142,943 

Unsecured subordinated bonds  -  -  261,206 

Unsecured senior bonds  -  -  137,518 

Derivative financial instruments  6,224  -  - 

Trade and other payables  -  -  102,748 

 6,224  -  644,415 
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Statutory Information
Interests Register

The Company is required to maintain an Interests Register in which particulars of certain transactions and matters involving the Directors must be recorded.

The matters set out below were recorded in the Interests Register of the Company during the financial year.

General notice of Interest by Directors

The Directors of the Company have declared interests in the following identified entities as at 31 March 2011.

Director Interest Entity

Bruce James Harker Director TrustPower Metering Limited
 Director Morrison Capital Limited
 Director Lumo Energy Australia Pty Ltd
 Director Infratil Energy Australia Pty Ltd

Richard Hammond Aiken Executive Chairman Beca
 Director Beca Group Subsidiaries
 Director John Scotts Limited
 Director John Scotts Investment Limited

Marko Bogoievski Chairman Aotea Energy Holdings Limited
 Director Aotea Energy Holdings Limited Subsidiaries
 Director Infratil Limited and certain Infratil Limited Subsidiaries
 Director HRL Morrison & Co Private Markets Limited
 Director Zig Zag Farm Limited 
 Chief Executive Infratil Limited
 Alternate Director  Fisher Funds Management Limited 
 Alternate Director Auckland International Airport Limited

Michael James Cooney Trustee Tauranga Energy Consumer Trust
 Director TECT Holdings Limited
 Partner Cooney Lees & Morgan
 Director TrustPower Australia (New Zealand) Limited
 Director TrustPower Insurance Limited
 Director Tararua Wind Power Limited
 Director Cobb Power Limited

Ian Samuel Knowles Chairman Localist Limited
 Chairman Unlimited Realities Limited
 Chairman Government ICT Council
 Director Wellington Venues Limited
 Director Angel HQ Inc 
 Director Xero Limited
 Trustee Te Omanga Hospice
 Trustee United World College NZ

Geoffrey Jon Campbell Swier Director Farrier Swier Consulting Pty Ltd
 Director Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd
 Director Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd
 Director TrustPower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd
 Director TrustPower Renewable Investments Pty Ltd
 Director Te Maunga Market Services Pty Ltd

Information used by Directors

During the financial year there were no notices from Directors of the Company requesting to disclose or use Company information received in their capacity as 
Directors which would not otherwise have been available to them.
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Directors Holding Office and their Remuneration

The Directors holding office as at 31 March 2011 and during the year to 31 March 2011 are listed below. The total amount of the remuneration and other benefits 
received by each Director during the financial year, and responsibility held, is listed next to their names.

Director Remuneration Responsibility Held

Bruce James Harker $145,000 Chairman
  Non-executive Director
  Member of Audit Committee
  Member of Remuneration Committee
  Member of Share Buyback Committee

Ronald Powell Carter2 $27,083 Independent Director

Michael James Cooney $75,000 Non-executive Director
  Member of Share Buyback Committee

Geoffrey Jon Campbell Swier  $140,749 Independent Director
  Chairman of Audit Committee
  Member of Remuneration Committee

Richard Hammond Aitken3 $64,974 Independent Director

Ian Samuel Knowles $85,000 Independent Director
  Member of Audit Committee
  Member of Share Buyback Committee

Marko Bogoievski $43,750 Non-executive Director

Hugh Richmond Lloyd Morrison1 $31,250 Alternate Director

1 Alternate Director for Marko Bogoievski
2 Resigned 30 July 2010
3 Appointed 19 May 2010

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Executives

During the financial year the Company paid insurance premiums in respect of Directors’ and certain executive employees’ liability insurance, as permitted by the 
Company’s Constitution and the Companies Act 1993. The policies do not specify the premium for individuals. This insurance extends to Directors and certain 
executive employees acting in the capacity of a director or on behalf of a subsidiary or related company.

The Directors’ and executive employees’ liability insurance provides cover against costs and expenses involved in defending legal actions and any resulting 
payments arising from a liability to persons (other than the Company or a related body corporate) incurred in their capacity as Director or executive employee 
unless the conduct involves a wilful breach of duty or an improper use of inside information or position to gain advantage.

The Company has entered into deeds of indemnity in respect of each Director, the Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary, General Manager 
Strategy and Growth, General Manager Generation, General Manager Commercial Operations and General Manager Trading whereby each such Director and 
executive employee is indemnified against the types of liability and costs described above, as permitted by the Company’s Constitution and the Companies Act 1993.

Subsidiary Company Directors

Set out below are details of the Directors of TrustPower’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2011. 

Director as at 31 March 2011 TrustPower Group Company

Bruce James Harker TrustPower Metering Limited

Michael James Cooney Tararua Wind Power Limited
 Cobb Power Limited
 TrustPower Insurance Limited
 TrustPower Australia (New Zealand) Limited

Geoffrey Jon Campbell Swier TrustPower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd
 TrustPower Renewable Investments Pty Ltd
 Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd
 Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd
 Te Maunga Market Services Pty Ltd

Vincent James Hawksworth1 Tararua Wind Power Limited2

 Cobb Power Limited2

 TrustPower Metering Limited2

 TrustPower Australia (New Zealand) Limited2

 TrustPower Insurance Limited2

 Bay Energy Limited2

 Paehinahina Mourea Geothermal Limited2

 Taheke Geothermal Limited2

 Waikaremoana Power Limited2

 Esk Hydro Power Limited 
 TrustPower Oamaru Limited2

 Te Maunga Market Services Pty Ltd
 TrustPower Australia Holdings Pty Ltd2

 TrustPower Renewable Investments Pty Ltd2

 Snowtown Wind Farm Pty Ltd2

 Sellicks Hill Wind Farm Pty Ltd2

1 Appointed 24 August 2010
2 Christopher John O’Hara resigned as a director of these subsidiary companies effective 24 August 2010

No Directors’ fees or other benefits were paid in relation to these Directorships during the financial year. The remuneration and other benefits received by 
employees acting as Directors of subsidiaries during the financial year is disclosed in the relevant bandings for employee remuneration. 
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General notice of Interests by Directors of Subsidiary Companies

Director Interest Entity

Bruce James Harker*

Michael James Cooney*

Geoffrey Jon Campbell Swier*

Vincent James Hawksworth Chief Executive TrustPower Limited

*Refer General Notice of Interests by Directors

Information used by Directors of Subsidiaries

During the financial year there were no notices from Directors of subsidiary companies requesting to disclose or use subsidiary company information received in 
their capacity as Directors which would not otherwise have been available to them.

Employee Remuneration

During the financial year the number of employees or former employees (including employees holding office as Directors of subsidiaries) who received remuneration 
and other benefits in their capacity as employees of the Company, the value of which was or exceeded $100,000 per annum was as follows:

Remuneration Ranges number of Employees Remuneration Ranges number of Employees

$100,000 – 109,999 13 $230,000 – 239,999 1

$110,000 – 119,999 13 $240,000 – 249,999 -

$120,000 – 129,999 6 $250,000 – 259,999 -

$130,000 – 139,999 7 $260,000 – 269,999 2

$140,000 – 149,999 4 $330,000 – 339,999 1

$150,000 – 159,999 1 $340,000 – 349,999 1

$160,000 – 169,999 1 $420,000 – 429,999 1

$170,000 – 179,999 2 $430,000 – 439,999 1

$180,000 – 189,999 1 $460,000 – 469,999 1

$190,000 – 199,999 1 $540,000 – 549,999 1

$200,000 – 209,999 2 $550,000 – 559,999 -

$210,000 – 219,999 1 $560,000 – 569,999 1

$220,000 – 229,999 1 $570,000 – 579,999 1

Directors’ Transactions and Relevant Interests in Securities of the Company

The relevant interests of Directors in securities of the Company as at 31 March 2011 are listed below together with transactions by Directors in securities of the 
Company during the financial year.

Director
number Acquired/ 

(Disposed)
$ Amount Paid/ 

(Received) Date
Class of  
Security

number Held at 31 
March 2011

number Held at 31 
March 2010

BJ and JS Harker Family Trust (beneficial) - - - Bonds 203,000 203,000
4,501 32,500 25 May 2010 Shares
4,862 36,258 18 November 2010 Shares 26,112 16,749

RP Carter Family Trusts (non beneficial) - - - Bonds 250,000 250,000
2,597 18,750 25 May 2010 Shares

Shares 12,260 9,663
RH Aitken (beneficial) 1,676 12,500 18 November 2010 Shares 1,676 -
MJ Cooney (beneficial) 2,250 16,250 25 May 2010 Shares

2,514 18,750 18 November 2010 Shares 14,138 9,374
MJ Cooney (non beneficial) - - - Bonds 150,000 150,000
MJ Cooney (non beneficial) - - - Shares 103,878,838 103,878,838
IS Knowles (non beneficial) - - - Bonds 100,000 100,000
IS Knowles (beneficial) 2,250 16,250 25 May 2010 Shares

2,850 21,250 18 November 2010 Shares 13,474 8,374
HRL Morrison (non beneficial) - - - Shares 159,215,388 159,215,388
Hettinger Nominees Limited 
(beneficial) 2,250 16,250 25 May 2010 Shares

2,095 15,625 18 November 2010 Shares 12,719 8,374
Swier Family Trust (beneficial) 3,905 28,199 25 May 2010 Shares

4,221 31,303 18 November 2010 Shares 22,356 14,230
M Bogoievski (non beneficial) - - - Shares 159,215,388 159,215,388
M Bogoievski (beneficial) 418 3,125 18 November 2010 Shares 418 -

The non beneficial shares recorded for MJ Cooney are held in his capacity as a Director of TECT Holdings Limited.
The non beneficial bonds recorded for MJ Cooney are held in his capacity as Trustee for an estate and a private trust.
The shares held beneficially by MJ Cooney include shares held in own name and via a family trust.
The non beneficial shares recorded for HRL Morrison and M Bogoievski are held in their capacities as directors of Infratil Limited.
HRL Morrison is a shareholder of Hettinger Nominees Limited.
The interests disclosed for RP Carter relate to non beneficial interests held through three family trusts.
Also, the non beneficial holding of bonds for RP Carter as at 31 March 2010 and for the prior year was incorrectly disclosed in last year’s annual report at 150,000. 
The correct number should have been 250,000 held as at 31 March 2010 and for the prior year.
The interests disclosed as bonds for IS Knowles are in relation to a power of attorney held by IS Knowles.
The Company was not advised of any other security transactions by any Director during the year.
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Security Holder Information
Substantial Security Holders

The Company’s register of substantial security holders, prepared in accordance with Section 26 of the Securities Markets Act 1988 recorded the following 
information at 2 May 2011. 

As at 2 May 2011, TrustPower Limited has 315,751,872 ordinary shares on issue. A total of 1,103,417 ordinary shares were held as treasury stock as at 2 May 2011.

Security Holder Class of Security number

Infratil Limited Shares 159,215,388

TECT Holdings Limited Shares 103,878,838

Spread of Holders as at 2 May 2011

Shares Holders % Shares %

1 to 999         1,453 11.03%            700,879 0.22%

1,000 to 1,999         2,005 15.22%        2,413,467 0.76%

2,000 to 4,999         8,567 65.04% 20,005,919 6.34%

5,000 to 9,999            739 5.61%        4,701,381 1.49%

10,000 to 49,999            355 2.70%        5,760,201 1.82%

50,000 to 99,999               17 0.13%        1,243,264 0.39%

100,000 to 499,999               18 0.14%        3,358,692 1.06%

500,000 to 999,999                 7 0.05%        5,069,456 1.61%

1,000,000 plus                 10 0.08%    272,498,613 86.31%

13,171 100.00% 315,751,872 100.00%

Subordinated Bonds Holders % Subordinated Bonds %

1 to 999 - 0.00%                     -   0.00%

1,000 to 1,999            - 0.00% - 0.00%

2,000 to 4,999 4 0.07%                   11,000 0.00%

5,000 to 9,999 679 11.79% 3,845,000 1.46%

10,000 to 49,999 3,853 66.90% 80,008,000 30.40%

50,000 to 99,999 836 14.51% 47,948,000 18.21%

100,000 to 499,999 347 6.02% 50,325,000 19.11%

500,000 to 999,999 20 0.35% 12,332,000 4.68%

1,000,000 plus 21 0.36% 68,836,000 26.14%

        5,760 100.00%          263,305,000 100.00%

Senior Bonds Holders % Senior Bonds %

1 to 999 - 0.00%                     -   0.00%

1,000 to 1,999            - 0.00% - 0.00%

2,000 to 4,999                 1 0.03%                     2,000 0.00%

5,000 to 9,999 476 12.38% 2,572,000 1.20%

10,000 to 49,999 2,636 68.53% 50,441,000 23.46%

50,000 to 99,999            454 11.80% 24,745,000 11.51%

100,000 to 499,999            245 6.37%            34,402,000 16.00%

500,000 to 999,999 13 0.34% 7,325,000 3.41%

1,000,000 plus 21 0.55%            95,513,000 44.42%

3,846 100.00% 215,000,000 100.00%

Shares Holders % Shares %

New Zealand          12,900 97.93%    314,229,352 99.53%

Australia                192 1.47%        1,308,686 0.41%

United Kingdom                  23 0.17% 41,767 0.01%

United States of America                  18 0.14% 34,918 0.01%

Other                  38 0.29%              137,149 0.04%

13,171 100.00% 315,571,872 100.00%

Subordinated Bonds Holders % Subordinated Bonds %

New Zealand 5,691 98.79% 260,190,000 98.83%

Australia 21 0.37% 595,000 0.21%

United States of America 9 0.16% 399,000 0.15%

United Kingdom 13 0.23% 203,000 0.08%

Other 26 0.45% 1,918,000 0.73%

5,760 100.00% 263,305,000 100.00%
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voting Rights
Every shareholder present in person, by proxy or by representative, on a vote by voices or a show of hands has one vote, and on a poll has one vote for each fully 
paid share held. Shares held as treasury stock do not have voting rights.

Stock Exchange Listing
The Company’s shares and subordinated bonds are listed on the NZSX and NZDX, respectively.

Current Credit Rating Status
TrustPower does not currently have an external credit rating.

Current nZX Waivers
NZX has granted a waiver dated 23 March 2006 from NZSX Listing Rule 8.1.7 (change of option exercise price or number of underlying securities) to enable the 
Company to issue options under the Company’s Executive Share Option Plan dated 28 February 2006 (as amended on 12 May 2006) in accordance with the 
exercise price formula contained in the Rules of the Plan. That exercise price formula permits the exercise price to be recalculated on a daily basis which may 
not be permitted by Listing Rule 8.1.7. The waiver has been granted on the condition that options outstanding issued under the Plan do not exceed 1% of the 
total shares of the Company. This waiver was varied on 6 July 2006 to permit TrustPower to vary the exercise price of Options issued on 29 May 2006 by 
amending the formula to permit the dividend with a record date of 26 May 2006 to be included in the calculation of the exercise price, notwithstanding that the 
record date of such dividends was prior to the issue date of the Options. NZX has also granted a waiver in May 2011 from NZSX Listing Rule 9.3.1 to permit 
the Directors of the Company and their respective Associated Persons to vote on resolutions of shareholders approving the issue of series of convertible 
subordinated bonds in which the Directors and Associated Persons of Directors are eligible to participate.

nZX Disciplinary Action
There has been no action taken by NZX in relation to the Company under Listing Rule 5.4.2.

Largest Security Holders (as at 2 May 2011)

Rank Holder name Shares %

1 Infratil Limited 159,215,388 50.42%
2 TECT Holdings Limited 103,878,838 32.90%

3 Custodial Services Limited A/C 3 2,163,960 0.69%

4 AMP Investments Strategic Equity Growth Fund* 1,602,323 0.51%

5 National Nominees New Zealand Limited* 1,403,465 0.44%

6 New Zealand Superannuation Fund Nominees Limited* 1,361,156 0.43%

7 Premier Nominees Ltd –OnePath Wholesale Australasian Share Fund* 1,115,667 0.35%

8 Accident Compensation Corporation* 1,000,171 0.32%

9 Custodial Services Limited A/C 2 950,669 0.30%

10 Citibank Nominees (New Zealand) Limited* 917,789 0.29%

11 Custodial Services Limited A/C 18 806,033 0.26%

12 NZGT Nominees Limited – AIF Equity Fund* 669,752 0.21%

13 Custodial Services Limited A/C 1 664,841 0.21%

14 Brett Anthony Hart 400,000 0.13%

15 HSBC Nominees (New Zealand) Limited A/C State Street 331,426 0.10%

16 New Zealand Depository Nominee Limited A/C 1 324,787 0.10%

17 ASB Nominees Limited 373317 ML A/C 272,250 0.09%

18 Custodial Services Limited A/C 6 228,625 0.07%

19 Custodial Services Limited A/C 16 214,582 0.07%

20 New Zealand Equity Nominee Pool* 187,618 0.06%

278,769,712 87.95%

* These names are registered in the name of New Zealand Central Securities Depository Limited.   

Rank Holder name Subordinated Bonds %

1 Custodial Services Limited A/C 3 16,290,000 6.19%
2 FNZ Custodians Limited  7,748,000 2.94%

3 Custodial Services Limited A/C 2 7,257,000 2.76%

4 Custodial Services Limited A/C 18 5,193,000 1.97%

5 Investment Custodial Services Limited 4,892,000 1.86%

6 TEA Custodians Limited* 2,960,000 1.12%

7 Eastern Central Community Trust Inc  2,750,000 1.04%

8 Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited 1-33 2,746,000 1.04%

9 Custodial Services Limited A/C 4 2,495,000 0.95%

10 NZ Guardian Trust Investment Nominees Limited* 2,270,000 0.86%

11 Custodial Services Limited A/C 1 2,029,000 0.77%

12 Sterling Holdings Limited  1,827,000 0.69%

13 Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited 1-17.5 1,670,000 0.63%

14 NZPT Custodians (Grosvenor) Limited* 1,442,000 0.55%

15 Presbyterian Savings & Development Society Of NZ Inc  1,250,000 0.47%

16 Custodial Services Limited A/C 16 1,017,000 0.39%

17 Carter Holt Harvey Retirement Plan  1,000,000 0.39%

18 F S Investments Limited  1,000,000 0.39%

19 New Zealand Methodist Trust Association  1,000,000 0.39%

20 Palmerston North City Council  1,000,000 0.39%

67,836,000 25.75%

* These names are registered in the name of New Zealand Central Securities Depository Limited.    
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DIRECTORY

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

  BoARd oF dIReCtoRs

Bruce J Harker – Chairman
Richard H Aitken
Marko Bogoievski 
Michael J Cooney
I Sam Knowles
HR Lloyd Morrison 
(alternate Director for M Bogoievski)
Geoffrey JC Swier

  ReGIsteRed oFFICe

TrustPower Building
Truman Lane
RD5
Tauranga 3175

  WeBsIte

www.trustpower.co.nz

  eMAIL AddRess

trustpower@trustpower.co.nz

  PostAL AddRess

Private Bag 12023
Tauranga Mail Centre
Tauranga 3143
Telephone: 07 574 4800
Facsimile: 07 574 4825

  AUdItoRs

PricewaterhouseCoopers
188 Quay Street
Auckland 1142

  sHARe ReGIstRAR

Computershare Investor Services Limited
159 Hurstmere Road
Takapuna
Private Bag 92119
Auckland 1142
Telephone: 09 488 8700
Facsimile: 09 488 8787

Shareholders with enquiries about 
transactions, change of address or dividend 
payments should contact the Share Registrar.

  stoCK exCHAnGe LIstInG

New Zealand Exchange Limited
Level 2 NZX Centre
11 Cable Street
Wellington 6011

Annual Meeting 28 July 2011

First quarter operating information 28 July 2011

Payment September bond interest 15 September 2011

Half year announcement  31 October 2011

Record date interim dividend  2 December 2011

Payment December bond interest 15 December 2011

Payment interim dividend 16 December 2011

Third quarter operating information 27 January 2012

Payment of March bond interest  15 March 2012

Full year announcement 11 May 2012

Record date of final dividend 25 May 2012

Payment of final dividend 8 June 2012

Payment of June bond interest 15 June 2012

Annual report due 30 June 2012
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